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Cobham’s products and services have been at the heart of sophisticated military  
and civil systems for 75 years, keeping people safe, improving communications, and 
enhancing the capability of land, marine, air and space platforms. The Group has four 
divisions employing some 12,000 people on five continents, with customers and 
partners in more than 100 countries. 

1.   Organic revenue growth is defined as revenue growth stated  

at constant translation exchange, excluding the incremental  

effect of acquisitions and disposals.

2.  Cobham’s Technology Divisions comprise Cobham Avionics  

and Surveillance, Cobham Defence Systems and Cobham  

Mission Systems.

3.   To assist with the understanding of earnings trends, the Group  

has included within its published statements trading profit and 

underlying earnings results. Trading profit and underlying earnings 

have been defined to exclude the impacts of certain acquisition 

related charges, portfolio restructuring impacts, the mark-to-market 

of currency instruments not realised in the period and impairments 

of goodwill. Acquisition related charges excluded from trading 

profit and underlying earnings include the amortisation of 

intangible assets recognised on acquisition, such as customer 

relationships, technology, software and the like, the writing off  

of the pre-acquisition profit element of inventory written up  

on acquisition and costs charged post acquisition, related to 

acquired share options. Portfolio restructuring impacts comprise 

exceptional profits arising on business divestments completed  

in prior years which have funded exceptional costs associated  

with the Group’s site integrations. Both the divestments and  

A recorded webcast of the results presentation, including slides,  

is available on www.cobhaminvestors.com 

the integration activity originate from the Group’s strategy 

announcement in September 2005. The 2005 portfolio 

restructuring is now substantially complete and restructuring  

costs arising after 2009 are to be reported as part of the underlying 

result. All underlying measures include the revenue and operational 

results of both continuing and discontinued businesses up to the 

point of sale of the operation. From 2010 transaction costs and 

changes to the initial estimate of contingent payments related to 

future acquisitions will also be excluded from trading profit and 

underlying earnings.

4.   Operating cash flow is defined as cash generated from operations 

per the consolidated cash flow statement, adjusted for cash flows 

from the purchase or disposal of fixed assets. Operating cash 

conversion is defined as operating cash flow as a percentage  

of trading profit, excluding profit from joint ventures.

5.   Throughout this document, PV (Private Venture or company 

funded Research and Development expenditure) for 2008 and the 

PV medium term target have been restated on a proforma basis  

for the impact of Cobham Analytic Solutions, formerly SPARTA and 

Argotek, where the vast majority of Research and Development is 

funded by customers. These numbers are stated on the same basis 

as the 2009 results.

Front cover image 
Deployed to Iraq as a US military reserve helicopter pilot, 
Cobham employee Larry Kamps was protected from heat 
stress by wearing one of 15,000 military issue Micro Cooling 
Unit (MCU) systems supplied by Cobham Life Support, the 
Cobham business unit in which he is employed in civilian 
life. The MCU circulates cooling liquid through a vest worn 
under the uniform and has been shown to triple the 
effective endurance of helicopter pilots on operations.
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its Mixed Sources accreditation, acknowledging it has been produced  
from recycled fibre, well managed forests and other controlled sources.  
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management standard.
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interested parties or remove the cover and dispose of it in your recycled  
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Strong performance from defence 
and security businesses with organic 
growth1 of 7%; although decline in 

commercial activities resulted in 1% organic 

growth overall for Technology Divisions.2

Integration of 2008 acquisitions 
successfully completed; strong results 

from Lansdale, SPARTA and M/A-COM and  

non-core M/A-COM Technology Solutions 

business divested.

Solid £2.4bn order book does not include 

significant US$1.2bn VIS-X award.

Underlying EPS growth of 22%; 13% 

at constant currency translation, with good 

cost control.3

£214m of free cash flow with strong 

operating cash conversion at 89% and  

gearing of 1.0 times net debt/EBITDA.4

10% increase in final dividend to 3.97p; 

full year dividend of 5.45p (+10%).
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R&D investment5
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0.0pts
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The Annual Report contains certain forward looking statements with regard to the operations, performance 
and financial condition of the Group. By their nature, these statements involve uncertainty since future 
events and circumstances can cause results to differ from those anticipated. Nothing contained in this 
Annual Report should be construed as a profit forecast.
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Our year

Good growth in Cobham’s defence  
and security businesses in 2009. 

28 January 
US $26m weapons order  
for pneumatic multi store 
carriage system for the  
Small Diameter Bomb

26 February
AUD $90 resource industry 
orders for air services in 
Western Australia

21 April 
Queen’s Award for  
surveillance export sales

30 April 
US $72m electronic warfare 
transmitter order to protect 
strike aircraft, ships, and 
ground troops

21 May
US $36m purchase of  
national security business 
specialising in information 
assurance 

29 June
Ten year US $2.4bn VIS-X 
vehicle intercom contract 
awarded to Joint Cobham  
and Northrop Gruman team 

06 May
Chief Executive, Allan Cook, 
announces retirement in 
December 2009

16 June
High gain satellite antenna 
selected by Airbus for use  
on single aisle and long 
range passenger jets

January February April May June

Technology Divisions’ 2009 revenue growth Technology Divisions’ organic revenue growth 2005-2009

Image courtesy of the Queen’s  
Awards Office
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07 July
US Army personal cooling 
system deal worth up to 
US$110 million

06 August
Andy Stevens appointed  
new chief executive officer 
from 01 January 2010 

15 September
Successful ‘wet contact’ aerial 
refuelling trials of the F-35B, 
short-take-off-and-vertical 
landing (STOVL) variant

29 October
Cobham’s 75th anniversary 

07 October
US$40m contract for on 
going supply of vehicle 
intercom systems 

30 November
Successful ‘wet contact’ 
aerial refuelling trials of 
A330 Multi Role Tanker 
Transport (MRTT)

July August September October November

Group revenue analysis Market positions

* C4ISR = Radar, EW, ISR, Missiles, CNI, Information Assurance, Cyber

Image courtesy of the US 
Department of Defense

By destination By market driver

Two-thirds of Aviation Services revenue is for 

defence/security contracts.
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Cobham at a glance

Cobham Defence
Systems Division

Cobham Avionics and 
Surveillance Division

Supporting people and platforms to see and be seen Providing a 360 degree mission perspective to decision makers

Capabilities
•  Avionics – integrated systems and communication solutions

•  Surveillance solutions – audio, visual, tracking, locating, cellular, 

sensor, covert surveillance and search and rescue solutions  

for government and civil agencies

• SATCOM – land, marine and airborne communication systems

Capabilities
•  Sensor systems – radar, communication and electronic warfare

• Antenna systems – microwave antennas, composites and masts

•  Defence communications – tactical communication, command  

and control systems

•  Analytic solutions – high end scientific, engineering and technical 

assistance for defence and national security

Cobham provides surveillance solutions to law enforcement, military, national security 
and border patrol agencies in more than 80 countries.

Cobham provides digital vehicle intercom systems to more than 18 armies worldwide.
Image courtesy of the US Department of Defense

See page 14 for more information See page 16 for more information

Revenue**

£487.3m
2008: £432.8m

26%
2008: 29%

Revenue**

£873.0m
2008: £529.3m

46%
2008: 36%

Trading profit

£84.6m
2008: £71.7m

25%
of trading profit 2008: 28%

Trading profit

£164.4m
2008: £105.2m

49%
of trading profit 2008: 41%

Principal locations
USA, UK, Canada, Denmark, 

France, South Africa

Principal locations
USA, UK, Mexico, Finland,

Sweden

Employees*

2,947 
2008: 3,280

Employees*

5,325 
2008: 5,285

26% 46%

25% 49%
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Mission systems for extreme environments Outsourced aviation services

Capabilities
•  Air-to-air refuelling systems

•  Weapons carriage and release systems

•  Safety and survival systems

•   Weapons systems

•  Space systems

Capabilities
• Warfare training

•  Special mission operations

•  Flight inspection services

•  Support services

•  Airline – outsourced commercial aviation

•  Freight services

•  Aerospace engineering

Cobham Mission
Systems Division

Cobham Aviation
Services Division

Successful ‘wet contact’ aerial refuelling trials took place with the F-35B, short-take-off-
and-vertical landing (STOVL) variant. Image courtesy of Lockheed Martin.

One of four Beechcraft King Air B350 for the Military Flying Training Services (MFTS) 
Royal Navy rear crew training contract

See page 18 for more information See page 20 for more information

Revenue**

£317.0m
2008: £302.0m

17%
2008: 20%

Revenue**

£230.9m
2008: £221.9m

12%
2008: 15%

Trading profit

£56.8m
2008: £52.2m

17%
of trading profit 2008: 21%

Trading profit

£31.3m
2008: £24.8m

9%
of trading profit 2008: 10%

Principal locations
USA, UK

Principal locations
UK, Australia, Germany

Employees*

1,533
2008: 1,715

Employees*

1,733
2008: 1,760

*  At year end 

** Includes inter divisional trading.

17% 12%

17% 9%
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Cobham has delivered double digit underlying 

earnings growth, reflecting proactive cost 

control and a strong full year contribution from 

2008 acquisitions, with excellent free cash flow. 

The Group has a solid order book with a 

book-to-bill ratio in the year of 0.93 times, 

reflecting in part the difficult conditions in 

commercial markets. Headline revenue growth 

was 28%, although organic revenue growth  

has been slower than anticipated at 1% for  

the three Technology Divisions, due to the 

extended trough in the general aviation, 

business and regional jets markets.

Underlying EPS grew 22% to 18.80p (2008: 

15.42p) primarily due to the improvement in the 

Group’s underlying trading margin, favourable 

currency translation exchange rates and the full 

year contribution from acquisitions completed 

during 2008. EPS at constant currency 

translation rates was 13%, ahead of our target  

of high single digit EPS medium term growth. 

The period of economic uncertainty I referred 

to in my statement last year continued 

throughout 2009. The extent of Government 

support to the major economies has inevitably 

had an impact on the rate of uptake on a 

number of military programmes as well as the 

parallel impact of a softer civil aerospace market. 

This has placed pressures on our management 

team as volumes have been varied and stresses 

have been greater than in past years. They have 

moved swiftly to strengthen operational 

leadership and ensure the cost base is suited to 

this more fluid environment.

Over the past two years the senior 

management team has also been strengthened 

considerably. The quality of this team under 

Andy Stevens is of a very high calibre and is 

focused on delivering excellence in all of  

our business operations.

Corporate development 
We are continuing to develop and bring to 

market products that are in high demand and 

at the leading edge of technology, primarily in 

aerospace, defence and national security 

markets. This is fundamental to our strategy of 

achieving organic growth over a sustained 

period in our chosen markets. 

We will look to develop and maintain leading 

positions in each of these markets by investing 

increasingly in people and technology, and 

through strategic acquisitions. This drive for 

excellence adds to a sense of fulfilment for our 

employees and is all the more important in 

today’s environment when a clear sense of 

direction and focus will differentiate between 

an average performing company and one that 

outperforms the market. 

People
At the end of last year Allan Cook retired after 

nine years as Chief Executive of Cobham. In 2005 

he led the wide ranging strategic review which 

reshaped the business and resulted in its current 

focus and strength. Allan had an infectious 

passion and energy and he championed 

investments in people, technology and facilities. 

In August 2009 we announced that Andy 

Stevens, who was the Chief Operating Officer, 

would succeed Allan as Chief Executive of the 

Group at the beginning of 2010. Andy has 

already made a number of changes that will 

enhance collaboration across the Group and 

increase the speed of decision making and 

change execution. We wish him every success 

in his new role.

Alex Hannam passed away suddenly on  

22 January 2010 aged 63. He was a main  

Board director from 2002 to 2007, responsible 

for what is now Cobham Aviation Services  

and was a key contributor to the successful 

strategic review undertaken in 2005. He was 

appointed as an Officer of the most excellent 

Chairman’s statement

Highlights
Underlying EPS growth of 22%; 13% at 

constant currency translation.

£214m of free cash flow with strong 

operating cash conversion at 89% and 

gearing of 1.0 times net debt/EBITDA.

10% increase in final dividend to 3.97p.

Retirement of Allan Cook and appointment 

of Andy Stevens as CEO.

David Turner Chairman

Order of the British Empire (OBE) in the New 

Year Honours list published on 31 December 

2005 for services to the defence industry. Alex 

always strived to be the best at whatever he 

did and to get the best out of the people who 

worked for or with him. He will be very sadly 

missed by all his family, friends and colleagues.

After conducting a thorough search, we  

were delighted to appoint John Devaney as  

an Independent Non-executive Director and 

Chairman designate from 1 February 2010. 

John, who brings extensive business and 

leadership experience to Cobham, will succeed 

me at the conclusion of the Annual General 

Meeting to be held on 6 May.

The evolution of ethics processes within  

the Group has been a key ingredient in the 

further development of corporate and social 

responsibility. This is discussed further in the 

Chief Executive Officer’s review and in the 

report on Corporate Responsibility and 

Sustainability on page 30. 

Outlook
Cobham has delivered double digit earnings 

growth in 2009, with good growth from the 

Group’s defence and security businesses, 

despite weakness in the Mission Systems 

Division. Commercial markets were difficult. 

In 2010 organic revenue growth from the 

Technology Divisions is expected to pick up, 

with the Defence Systems Division and the 

surveillance business remaining strong and 

Mission Systems progressively executing its 

delayed shipments. Commercial markets remain 

hard to predict but are unlikely to recover 

rapidly. The Board expects further progress in 

2010, although earnings are expected to be 

more than usually weighted to the second half.

The Group has positions on long term 

programmes that afford excellent revenue 

visibility and leading edge technologies that 

provide critical capabilities in areas of key 

defence priority. These competitive 

advantages and positions in the national 

security market and in faster growing 

geographies give the Board confidence of 

continuing progress over the medium term.

David J Turner
Chairman, 3 March 2010
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We delivered double digit earnings 
growth in 2009, with good growth 
from our defence and security 
businesses, despite weakness in  
the Mission Systems Division. 
Commercial markets, representing 
around one fifth of technology 
revenue, were difficult.

Strategy and prospects 
The Group’s strategy since 2005 has been  

to supply high growth, specialist aerospace  

and defence markets with leading edge 

technologies. This strategy will continue to be 

pursued as it has been successful in delivering 

strong revenue and earnings growth, excellent 

cash generation and significant revenue 

synergies from technology based acquisitions.

The long term success of Cobham’s strategy  

has been recognised in a recent study by Bain  

& Co, the management consultancy, on more 

than 2,000 listed businesses globally. The study 

was reported in The Times and measured 

revenue and profit growth and return on capital 

over the period 1998 to 2008. It identified 

Cobham as one of only 14 British companies 

that it described as sustained value creators.

 

Looking forward, the Group has technology 

advantages, a solid order book and multi-year 

platform positions that afford excellent 

revenue visibility. With some three quarters  

of Cobham’s revenue derived from Defence 

and Security markets, the Group’s activities  

are concentrated in areas that are key defence 

priorities, including the need to transmit and 

receive increasing amounts of voice, data and 

video communications and the need to keep 

people safe in extreme environments. Cobham 

is also well positioned in the national security 

market and in faster growing geographies  

such as India and the Middle East. 

As a result of these long term positions, 

technology advantages and high barriers to 

entry, a review of the Group’s prospects has 

concluded that, despite pressure on the US 

defence budget, these advantages and growth 

in its specific markets support its target of  

high single digit revenue and earnings growth 

over the medium term. This conclusion is 

supported by the February 2010 US 

Quadrennial Defence Review (QDR), which  

sets out the US government’s medium term 

defence priorities, and by the US Department 

of Defense budgets, as the investment 

priorities set out in these documents are  

well aligned with Cobham’s capabilities.

During 2010 the Group will seek to build on its 

significant achievements to date, which will 

position it for the next stage of growth and 

evolution. This will include consideration of:

•  How further technology synergies and  

cost efficiencies can be extracted by 

adopting more integrated and standardised 

operating procedures via Centres of 

Excellence, to draw on best practice from 

across the Group;

•  How future integration and standardisation 

savings should be invested to better 

optimise the Group’s competitive advantage;

•  How to further refine Cobham’s portfolio 

towards the areas of greatest competitive 

advantage; and

•  The appropriate focus of acquisitions in 

Cobham’s chosen markets.

Overview of the year 
2009 was a strong year for Cobham’s defence 

and security end markets but, as a result of  

the market downturn, the year has been 

difficult for Cobham’s commercial businesses. 

The large Lansdale, SPARTA and M/A-COM 

acquisitions, completed in 2008 for some 

US$1.1bn in aggregate, have been successfully 

integrated and have delivered strong results 

and the non-core M/A-COM Technology 

Solutions (MTS) business has been divested. 

Costs have been rapidly removed in the 

commercial businesses impacted by the 

market downturn with other efficiency benefits 

achieved, to deliver further double digit growth 

in Group earnings.

The Group has a solid order book with a 

book-to-bill ratio in the year of 0.93 times, 

reflecting in part the difficult conditions in 

commercial markets. The large US Army 

Vehicular Intercommunication System 

Expanded (VIS-X) award, which was made 

during the year and which is worth up to 

US$1.2bn to Cobham, is an unfunded Indefinite 

Delivery Indefinite Quantity (IDIQ) award and, 

apart from some small orders received, is not 

reflected in the order intake or in the order 

book. Cobham remains well placed in its 

markets and will be agile and responsive to 

procurement fluctuations.

Chief Executive’s review

Highlights
Strong performance from defence and  

security business with organic growth  

of 7%; although decline in commercial 

activities resulted in 1% organic growth 

overall for Technology Divisions.

Integration of 2008 acquisitions  

successfully completed; strong results  

from Lansdale, SPARTA and M/A-COM  

and non-core M/A-COM Technology 

Solutions business divested.

Solid £2.4bn order book does not include 

significant US$1.2bn VIS-X award. 

Andy Stevens Chief Executive Officer

Flight Refuelling Ltd (now part of Cobham Mission 
Equipment) operated four Harrow tankers. One, 
shown here, ‘tops up’ an Imperial Airways ‘C’ Class 
flying-boat over Southampton’s dock area prior to 
the non-stop transatlantic air mail service in 1939. 

1939
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Headline revenue growth was 28%, although 

organic revenue growth has been slower than 

anticipated at 1% for the three Technology 

Divisions, due to the extended trough in the 

general aviation, business and regional jets 

markets. In the Mission Systems Division a 

number of air refuelling deliveries have been 

delayed due to qualification of the next 

generation air refuelling pods with supply  

chain issues on weapons carriage and release 

products. There have been order slippages at 

the St. Petersburg, USA (Conax) facility due  

to the ongoing US Government investigation, 

although the business continues to operate as 

usual in all other respects. Conax is cooperating 

fully with the authorities and is encouraged  

by the progress to date.

Organic revenue from commercial activities, 

representing 21% of technology revenue, 

declined 16%. Defence and security revenue, 

representing 79% of technology revenue, grew 

organically by 7%. As anticipated, the Defence 

Systems Division and the surveillance business, 

part of the Avionics and Surveillance Division, 

achieved double digit organic growth, as these 

continue to be priority areas for defence and 

security customers. In the four years since  

the announcement of Cobham’s strategy in 

2005, the Group’s Technology Divisions have 

delivered average compound organic revenue 

growth of over 7%. 

In 2009 the Group successfully completed its 

transition to a single Cobham brand, with all 

businesses adopting the Cobham name and 

corporate format. In this report, former 

businesses names are only used when referring 

to acquisitions to aid understanding. Cobham 

was ranked tenth out of 235 companies on  

the 2009 list of ‘Britain’s Most Admired 

Companies’, an improvement of 37 places. 

Management
I was appointed Chief Executive Officer with 

effect from 1 January 2010 on the retirement  

of Allan Cook. The Group’s internal management 

committees, which provide oversight of the 

Group’s day-to-day activities, have been 

reconstituted and the organisation delayered 

through a number of refinements to certain 

senior management responsibilities. A decision 

has been made not to appoint a Chief  

Operating Officer. These changes will enhance 

collaboration across the Group and increase the 

speed of decision making and change execution. 

Investment in leading  
edge technologies
Cobham develops and brings to market 

products that are in high demand and at  

the leading edge of technology. This is 

fundamental to the Group’s strategy of 

achieving organic growth over a sustained 

period in its chosen markets. A number of 

products that have been developed using PV 

(Private Venture or company funded Research 

and Development – R&D) investment in the 

past have delivered significant revenue growth 

in the year. These include tracking systems; 

audio surveillance products and 

communication links including for use in 

unmanned vehicles. There has also been 

significant revenue from land based SATCOM 

products in demand for use in remote and 

developing parts of the world and in 

emergency and disaster relief situations;  

and microclimate cooling suits for helicopter 

and ground vehicle crews , which enable them 

to remain operational for longer. 

In 2009, the Group increased its investment  

in PV by 25% to £88m (2008: £71m), which as  

a proportion of the Technology Divisions’ 

revenue was 5.3% (2008: 5.3%, adjusted for the 

impact of Cobham Analytic Solutions), with  

the medium term target being to increase PV 

to 6%. There was also significant customer 

funded R&D invested in the year.

Corporate Responsibility  
and Sustainability
The focus in 2009 has been on integrating 

Corporate Responsibility and Sustainability 

(CR&S) into everyday business with a 

sustainable foundation. This has included 

developing the Group’s human resource 

infrastructure, standardising management 

approaches and improving data gathering. 

Highlights include the appointments of Ethics 

Officers in business units; development of  

a standardised approach to Safety, Health  

and Environment (SHE); and the launch of  

the Sir Alan Cobham Award programme  

for rewarding outstanding employee 

contributions, including a category  

for CR&S.

Acquisition integration 
The Group has successfully completed the 

complex integration of the M/A-COM business, 

which was acquired in September 2008.  

The integration, which was completed on 

Chief Executive’s review
continued

schedule, included the separation of M/A-COM’s 

information technology (IT) systems and back 

office functions from its former owner and the 

establishment of standalone IT and back office 

infrastructure. In addition, M/A-COM’s wave 

guide and cable systems activities have been 

transferred to the existing Cobham facility at 

Exeter, New Hampshire, entailing a significant 

expansion of operations on the site. The 

integration of the February 2008 Lansdale 

acquisition was also successfully completed, 

with the establishment of all new back office 

functions and IT systems. Design and 

manufacture of spiral antennas and certain 

microelectronics modules within the Group 

have been consolidated at the Lansdale facility.

Facility integration 
The Group has continued to extract 

efficiencies from its businesses during the year 

through the rationalisation and integration of  

a number of operating sites.

There was further integration of business  

units in the Avionics and Surveillance Division, 

with a manufacturing Centre of Excellence 

created in Prescott, Arizona from three existing 

businesses based in Washington State and 

Arizona, USA and Kelowna, Canada. Transition 

of a further business based in Oregon, USA  

is expected to complete during 2010.

Within Cobham Mission Systems, the transfer 

and integration of the product lines from 

California to an existing facility in New York 

State, USA has been completed. The transfer 

and integration of the remaining product lines 

to an existing facility in Iowa, USA is expected 

to be completed in 2010. The Wimborne, UK 

site rationalisation is progressing with full 

planning permission granted for a new factory, 

which will have a reduced footprint and lower 

overhead costs. Construction work is under 

way with the site anticipated to be fully 

operational in early 2011. 

Andy Stevens
Chief Executive Officer, 3 March 2010



Two-thirds of Aviation Services revenue is for  

defence/security contracts.
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Broad portfolio of products and services 
improves competitive position 
Cobham has a portfolio of products and 

services that are used on a wide range of air, 

land, marine and space platforms. This broad 

portfolio reduces the financial and operational 

risks to the Group of any single platform  

or programme and improves Cobham’s 

competitive position in a global market. 

More than 70% of the Group’s revenue  

arises from military, government and national 

security customers worldwide. Although no 

market is immune to the macro economic 

conditions experienced in the last 12 months, 

Cobham’s customer base has been largely 

resilient to the more dramatic effects of  

the economic cycle. This position provides  

the Group with a long term growth model  

with defensive characteristics. 

US procurement priorities favours 
upgrading of legacy platforms 
The acquisition sector of the US defence 

budget is an important aspect of the Cobham 

business model and support for conventional 

modernisation programmes is deeply 

embedded in the Defense Department’s 

budget. Cobham is well placed to benefit  

from the subsequent upgrading of legacy 

platforms with a range of modernised 

electronics and subsystems and the need  

to focus on efficient communications in 

asymmetric warfare situations. 

This conclusion is supported by the February 

2010 US Quadrennial Defense Review (QDR) 

report, which sets out the US government’s 

medium term defence priorities, and the 2011 

US Department of Defense budget, which 

implements the QDR’s recommendations.  

The investment priorities in these documents 

overlap significantly with Cobham’s defence 

and security capabilities. 

European defence budgets remain 
under pressure 
The UK Defence and Security budgets are 

expected to come under further pressure  

with the expectations of a more challenging 

business environment ahead. The UK 

Chancellor indicated in his December 2009 

pre-budget announcement that Defence and 

Security would not be exempt from further 

cut-backs. The effect of this statement 

coupled with a significant defence budget 

deficit will result in reduced levels of 

expenditure on platforms and programmes 

and more importantly reduced levels of 

investment in research and development and 

technology. This position in the UK is mirrored 

in most, if not all, larger European nations. 

Less than 20% of Cobham’s revenue is 

generated from these markets, with the Group 

benefiting from established positions on  

a number of long term programmes.

Double digit RoW military/security 
market growth continues 
Cobham is developing its activities in regions 

and countries which are forecast to experience 

higher growth rates, such as India, South Korea, 

Saudi Arabia and other Middle East states.  

The compound growth in these areas from 

2009 to 2014 is projected to be in excess of 

10%. In India, Cobham is significantly enhancing 

its presence through the establishment of a 

wholly owned subsidiary, Cobham (India) 

Private Limited. With offices in Delhi and 

Bangalore, Cobham (India) PVT Ltd opened 

during the first quarter of 2010 and will provide 

all Indian customers with a single point of 

contact resulting in closer working relationships 

with key customers and partners such as 

Hindustan Aeronautics Limited. 

Commercial markets remain hard  
to predict 
Conditions in commercial markets continued 

to be difficult for Cobham, with an extended 

trough experienced in the general aviation, 

business and regional jets markets. However, 

these account for only one fifth of Technology 

Division revenue and costs have been rapidly 

removed in the businesses impacted by  

the market downturn. 

The large commercial jet market has proved  

to be more resilient, although orders for Airbus 

and Boeing were significantly reduced in 2009 

compared to 2008. The record backlog of 

orders following a period of unprecedented 

growth in the past five years has cushioned  

the overall impact of the recession and the 

Group remains well positioned on important 

long term commercial platforms. Overall, 

commercial markets remain hard to predict 

and are unlikely to recover rapidly.

Our markets

Group revenue analysis

By market driver

By destination

Source: National Defense Budget Estimates for FY2011, FY2010  

and FY2009 (“Green Book”)

Note: All years exclude supplementals. Figures represent  

discretionary outlays expressed in current prices.

Source: JP Morgan
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During 2010 a review will be undertaken of how the Group can position 
itself for the next stage of growth and evolution. The strategy is sound and 
is fully supported by the Board, but there will be some shifts in emphasis.

Our strategy

1

Be a leading 
subsystems supplier 
with a comprehensive 
range of distinctive 
technologies

Growth
 
Focus on the customer and 
performance management

Build on a significant and growing  
US presence

Develop capabilities in emerging 
growth markets

Grow export business in  
home markets

Be an acquirer of choice

Technology
 
Invest in advanced, market  
driven technologies

Exploit core technologies in  
adjacent markets

Increase PV investment to 6% of 
Technology Divisions’ revenue

Create a vibrant technical 
community with strong  
external links

Develop products and services  
that consider the environment in 
their design

Talent 
  
Develop key leadership and 
technology capabilities

Actively manage careers with 
opportunities across markets 
and internationally

Be an employer of choice  
– attracting, recruiting, retaining  
and motivating the best talent

Transformation
 
Create scalable Strategic  
Business Units able to  
incorporate acquisitions

Drive economies of scale  
across divisions

Share expertise and consistently 
apply core Cobham processes

Build and leverage the  
Cobham brand

2

Be in the top three  
in each of our  
chosen markets

3

Grow faster organically 
than the markets in 
which we operate

4

Materially enhance 
growth through 
strategic acquisitions

5

Develop a global 
market presence  
with a unified brand 
and identity

6

Have an efficient 
organisation with  
a high performance 
culture and  
motivated people

To be the most trusted global  
partner for leading edge aerospace  
and defence technologies

Trust Talent Technology

Vision

Values

Strategic objectives

Enablers

The most important thing we build is trust
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Technology Divisions’ organic  
revenue growth
Good performance from defence and security 

businesses with organic growth of 7%; 

commercial activities declined 16% in very 

difficult market conditions, giving 1% growth 

overall for the Technology Divisions. In the four 

years since the announcement of Cobham’s 

strategy in 2005, the Group’s Technology 

Divisions have delivered average compound 

average revenue growth of over 7%.

Underlying EPS growth 
Underlying EPS grew 22% to 18.80p (2008: 

15.42p) primarily due to the improvement  

in the Group’s underlying trading margin, 

favourable currency translation exchange rates 

and the full year contribution from acquisitions 

completed during 2008. EPS at constant 

currency translation rates was 12.5%, ahead  

of the target high single digit EPS medium  

term growth at constant translation exchange. 

Excluding the impact of the non-cash net 

finance charge from pension schemes,  

EPS growth a constant currency translation 

rates was 15.1%.

Operating cash conversion
Operating cash flow in the period, after  

capital expenditure and PV which is expensed 

in the income statement but before the 

payment of tax and interest, was £293.2m 

(2008: £260.5m). This represents 88.6%  

(2008: 106.1%) of trading profit before the 

Group’s share of post-tax results of joint 

ventures, ahead of the 80% medium term 

target for operating cash conversion.

PV investment
In 2009, the Group increased its investment  

in PV (Private Venture or company funded 

Research & Development - R&D) by 25% to 

£88m (2008: £71m), which as a proportion of 

the Technology Divisions’ revenue was 5.3% 

(2008: 5.3%, adjusted for the impact of 

Cobham Analytic Solutions), with the medium 

term target being to increase PV to 6%. There 

was also significant customer funded R&D 

invested in the year. 

Staff safety 
The Group SHE Committee has developed  

a standardised management approach that  

is being implemented across all Cobham’s 

locations over the next two years. The 

management approach focuses on developing 

a fair and equitable accident reporting culture. 

It is considered that, at least in part, the 

increase in the number of reportable injuries 

reflects the introduction of this new reporting 

culture. It is expected that there will be an 

initial increase in the number of accidents 

reported as the new management approach 

takes hold. The KPI will continue to be  

reviewed to ascertain the effectiveness  

of the management approach.

Voluntary staff turnover
An improvement in voluntary labour turnover 

levels from 8.5% to 5.8% has been seen, due  

to a number of factors. As Group reporting 

systems improve, there is a corresponding 

improvement in the quality and accuracy of 

data captured. In addition, the economic 

downturn in 2009 is also likely to have had  

an effect on the willingness of individual 

employees to move from one employer to 

another. Finally, and most importantly, the 

work done in terms of improving the working 

environment will have also played a part in  

the improvement.

Key performance indicators

The following key performance indicators (KPIs) are used to monitor 
progress in implementing the Group’s strategic objectives. 

Results Strategic objectives

Performance indicator Definition
2009 

actual
2008

actual Target  1 2 3 4 5 6
For further 

information

Technology Divisions’ 
organic growth

Organic revenue growth represents the growth of the 
Technology Divisions for the period they are within the 
Group’s control, translated at constant exchange rate

0.6% 10.3% High 
single 

digit

See 
page 25

Underlying EPS growth Underlying profit after tax divided by the average  
number of shares in issue (at constant translation 
exchange rates)

12.5% 13.1% High 
single 

digit

See  
page 25

Operating cash
conversion

Operating cash flow after capex and PV as a  
percentage of trading profit, excluding profit from  
joint ventures

88.6% 106.1% >80% See  
page 26

PV investment Company funded investment in R&D as a percentage  
of the three Technology Divisions’ revenue

5.3% 5.3% 6%* in 
medium 

term

See  
page 08

Staff safety Number of accidents resulting in more than 3 days 
absence per 100,000 employees

670 260 Zero
 

See  
page 30

Voluntary 
staff turnover

Voluntary leavers excluding planned retirements,  
redundancies, company disposals and contractors

5.8% 8.5% <10% See  
page 11

All measures on this page are underlying. * PV target was recalibrated to 6% from 7% in 2008 and the 2008 actual has been re-stated to reflect the acquisition of SPARTA in June 2008, where R&D is largely  

customer funded. 

Key performance indicators 
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Our capabilities

Cobham’s equipment enables the rapid, secure and resilient movement of voice, video and data between ‘sensors’ 
and decision makers. There are many different types of sensor, huge volumes of information to move and many 
users to keep safe in what is increasingly becoming a network enabled environment.

As these illustrations show, Cobham technology is at the heart of many advanced systems on space, air, land  
and marine platforms, providing life saving situational awareness, safety, survival and life support systems. The 
examples show defence and security applications, but the technology is equally applicable to non military markets. 

Cobham and the network enabled environment

Security
Cobham enables data to be 
transferred securely in Radio 
Frequency (RF) environments and  
in cyberspace, providing critical 
information assurance  
in challenging environments.

Reliability and  
speed essential 
The Group’s equipment also enables 
data to be moved reliably and 
quickly, providing life saving tactical 
situational awareness.

Increased data 
transfer 
The type and volume of data being 
exchanged on the modern digital 
battlefield is increasing enormously, 
with Cobham equipment supporting 
voice communications, email, video, 
GPS navigation, radar, electronic 
warning systems data transfer.

Connectivity 
increased 
Today, every soldier, vehicle, ship, 
aircraft and satellite is becoming  
a node in a network enabled 
environment, as the demand for 
connectivity increases.



Air From helicopters to large aircraft, Cobham products are in service around the world enhancing safety and significantly reducing pilot workload for civil and military crews.

Land Cobham is a world leader in communications, situational awareness and safety equipment for military vehicles and personnel, equipping more than 18 forces around the world.

Marine Cobham microwave, communications and life support products are at the heart of surface ships and submarines in the world’s major navies.
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Surveillance Cobham provides its world leading products and integrated surveillance solutions to law enforcement, military, national security and border patrol agencies 
in more than 80 countries.

Cobham can offer the following soldier systems technology: 1 Tactical Situational Awareness Systems 
2 Command and Control Software 3 Chemical, Biological, Radiological, Nuclear Detection (CBRN) Interface 
4 Soldier Data Terminals

Cobham can offer the following on the HMMWV or light vehicle: 1 Communications Antenna 2 Air 
Traffic Control System (when fitted) 3 Electronic Warfare Antenna 4 Broadband Radio for Data and Voice 
5 High Gain Tactical Satellite Communications Antenna 6 Crew Restraint Systems 7 Gunner Restraint Systems 
8 Crew Microclimate Cooling Unit 9 Vehicle Intercom System 10 Tactical Satellite Communications 
Antenna 11 Ku-Band SATCOM On The Move Antenna 12 Telescopic Tactical Antenna Mast

Cobham offers the following surveillance capabilities in urban environments: 1 Body Worn Transmitter 2 Fixed Camera 
Transmitter with PTZ Control 3 Down Link 4 Central Receive Point on Top of Tall Building or Tower 5 Internet-WAN 6 Portable 
MicroVue Receiver 7 MultiVue With Vehicle Transmitter 8 Command and Control Video is Streamed on a Local Area Network

Cobham provides the following on marine vessels: 1 Safety and Fluid Control Valves 2 Deck Crew Safety and Life Support Systems 3 Radar Components and Subsystems 
4 Microwave Components and Subsystems 5 Rotary Joints and Sliprings 6 Life Raft Inflation Systems 7 Composite Radomes 8 Communication Antennas and Subsystems 9 Military Diving Equipment

Cobham has the following equipment on the AW101: 1 Navigation Antennas 2 Sonobuoy Homing System
3 Navigation Antenna 4 Friend or Foe Antenna 5 Communications Antenna 6 Mast Array 7 Communications 
Antenna 8 Navigation Antennas 9 Navigation Antennas 10 Marker Beacon 11 Antenna Feed Unit
12 Communications Antenna 13 Communications Antenna 14 Landing Navigation Antenna 15 Direction 
Finder 16 Navigation Antenna 17 Friend or Foe Antenna 18 Sonics Receive 19 Communications Antenna
20 Friend or Foe Antenna 21 Sonics Command 22 Navigation Antenna 23 Communications Antenna

Cobham has the following equipment on the Eurofighter Typhoon: 1 Nose Radome 2 Controlled 
Reception Pattern Array Radar Antenna and Radome 3 Fin Cap Radome 4 Communications Antenna 
5 Microwave Rotary Joints, Flexible Waveguide and Filter 6 Indication Friend or Foe Antenna 7 Microwave 
Landing System Antenna 8 Missile Eject Launcher 9 Microwave Landing System Filter Units 10 Auxiliary 
Fuel Tank Ejection Unit 11 Heavy and Light Duty Ejector Release Units 12 Brake Parachute Release Unit



|  B
usin

ess overview
 

14

www.cobham.com

Cobham Avionics  
and Surveillance Division

Total revenue increased by 13%  
to £487m with revenue growth 
driven by favourable currency 
translation exchange rates and a 
modest contribution from the full 
year impact of the smaller 2008 
acquisitions. Although the Division’s 
organic revenue declined by  
3%, organic revenue growth in 
surveillance, whose main markets 
are intelligence, national security 
and law enforcement, was double 
digit. However, this was offset  
by the difficult conditions in 
commercial markets, from which 
the majority of the Division’s 
revenue is derived.

The margin increased to 17.4% (2008: 16.6%). 

There was pressure on the operating margin  

in many of the businesses focused on 

commercial markets but this was mitigated  

by the rapid removal of costs in response to 

the commercial downturn and the Division’s 

facility integration programme, with close 

monitoring of outstanding customer balances. 

Areas of growth included:

•  Demand for surveillance equipment across 

the intelligence, military and national 

security and law enforcement markets, 

including tracking systems, video capabilities 

for unmanned aerial (UAV) and ground 

(UGV) vehicles, delivery of public safety 

systems to the UK police, communication 

links and audio surveillance products;

•  Sales of tactical radios and aircraft  

digital intercom systems driven by 

interoperability requirements across  

public safety organisations;

•  Growth in sales of land based SATCOM and 

on the move products, coupled with initial 

deliveries of aircraft based Broadband  

Global Area Network (BGAN) satellite 

communication products following 

selection by Airbus Industries to supply 

SATCOM antennas on single aisle and long 

range aircraft.

In addition, there were a number of important 

business developments in the year which it is 

anticipated will benefit future results:

•  In the law enforcement sector, further 

contracts were received from US federal 

government agencies and multiple state and 

local law enforcement agencies, as well as 

from the London Metropolitan Police and 

several major agencies in the UK, Europe  

and Asia;

•  A contract for the retrofit of the Audio 

Management System on the C130 fleet 

operated by the French Air Force and a 

Middle East customer;

•  Supply to the Iraqi Army of an advanced 

Cobham cockpit for a 30-ship fleet of 

modified Bell 407 helicopters;

•  Selection by Airbus Industries to supply 

SATCOM antennas for long range 

communications on the flight deck and  

to support the latest Inmarsat services for 

cabin applications. This is expected to be 

worth up to US$70m over the life of the 

platform. Airbus also selected Cobham’s 

communication and navigation antennas  

for the A350, further consolidating the 

Group’s position on that aircraft.

For the last three years Cobham has been 
supporting University of Central Florida’s 
interactive distance learning with its satellite 
equipment. In 2009 broadcasts were made 
from six different locations in India. 
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Principal locations
USA, UK, Canada, Denmark, 

France, South Africa

Employees*

2,947 
2008: 3,280

* At year end.

** Includes inter divisional trading.

Revenue**

£487.3m
2008: £432.8m

26%
2008: 29%

Trading profit

£84.6m
2008: £71.7m

25%
of trading profit 2008: 28%

In 2005 the late Steve Fossett completed  
a record breaking round the world flight using 
many items of Cobham equipment, including 
navigation and communications radios  
and Cobham’s innovative synthetic vision  
Electronic Flight Instrument System.

2005

Cobham provides surveillance solutions to law 
enforcement, military, national security and border  
patrol agencies in more than 80 countries.

Cobham’s capabilities enhance the performance 
of many of the world’s leading unmanned 
platforms, including bomb disposal vehicles. 

26%

25%

For more information view the results 
webcast www.cobhaminvestors.com
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Total revenue increased 65% to 
£873m, driven by the full year 
contribution from the 2008 
acquisitions, favourable currency 
translation exchange rates and 
organic growth of 10%. As 
anticipated, revenue from vehicle 
intercoms improved on the first  
half performance. The 2008 
acquisitions of Lansdale, SPARTA 
and M/A-COM all achieved  
strong growth. 

The Division’s margin decreased to 18.8% 

(2008: 19.9%). The organic trading margin 

increased by 2.7% points, partly offsetting  

the expected margin decline from the full  

year impact of the 2008 acquisitions. The 

organic margin improvement was driven by 

operational efficiencies and the Division’s 

strong operating performance. 

Cobham Defence Systems Division

Principal locations
USA, UK, Mexico, Finland, 

Sweden

Employees*

5,325 
2008: 5,285

Revenue**

£873.0m
2008: £529.3m

46%
2008: 36%

Trading profit

£164.4m
2008: £105.2m

49%
of trading profit 2008: 41%

* At year end. 

** Includes inter divisional trading.

Cobham provides the Low Band Transmitters  
for the AN/ALQ-99 jamming pod which is flown  
on the US Navy and Marine Corps EA-6B  
aircraft. It is designed to protect strike aircraft, 
ships, and ground troops by disrupting enemy 
radar and communications. 

Image courtesy of the US Department of Defense

46%

49%

For Britain’s armed forces, Cobham provides  
the all important and distinctive radome for  
the AH-64 Apache Longbow attack helicopter, 
which is mounted above the rotor blades.

Image courtesy of Boeing
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Areas of growth included:

•  Multiple full rate production contracts 

received for the Low Band Transmitter with  

a total value of US$65m. These awards bring 

the total number ordered by the US Navy  

to 157, out of a total anticipated order 

quantity of 292, of which 57 systems have 

been delivered;

•  Orders and deliveries to the Middle East 

increased for the ROVIS (AN/VIC-3) digital 

vehicular intercom systems and the Eagle 

Close Combat radio, which was developed 

with PV funding;

•  The provision of advanced land and airborne 

antennas across multiple US vehicle 

platforms, upgrades to unmanned ground 

vehicles for disarming improvised explosive 

devices, airborne antennas, land based 

antennas for the Indian army, fire control 

system radomes for the Apache Longbow 

helicopter and a number of European 

helicopter upgrades;

•  Revenue from the next generation antenna 

programme for Turkey, to provide an 

antenna backbone for network centric 

communication, and the US Marine Corps 

Tactical Elevated Antenna Mast (TEAM).

In addition, there were a number of important 

business developments in the period which it is 

anticipated will benefit future results:

•  In June, a Cobham-Northrop Grumman 

team was selected for the Vehicular 

Intercommunication System Expanded 

(VIS-X) contract for the U.S. Army, a contract 

which could be worth up to US$1.2bn  

to Cobham over 10 years. Cobham will 

continue to support AN/VIC-3 systems on 

the existing installed base on more than 

85,000 vehicles;

•  Initial trial unit orders from Lockheed Martin 

for the mINCAN interference cancellation 

system to be fitted to the US Joint Light 

Tactical Vehicle (JLTV) and production unit 

orders from Lockheed Martin for Light 

Armoured Vehicle Command & Control 

(LAVC2) platform;

•  An initial production contract for a radio 

frequency processor for advanced US  

missile programmes including AARGM  

and AMRAAM and a US$40m order for  

the Standard Missile, following successful 

completion of the second lot  

production deliveries;

•  Initial funding for the above deck electronics 

unit for the US Navy SEWIP Block 2. Cobham 

also received a multiyear contract from the 

US Navy on the InTop program, which is to 

standardise and combine the independent 

systems crowding ship decks;

•  Receipt of a contract worth up to US$25m 

from Sikorsky Aircraft Corporation to 

manufacture advanced composite 

components and assemblies for the main 

rotor blades of the US Marine Corps’ CH-53K 

Heavy Lift Replacement Helicopter.

The US ABC television network’s first remote 
location broadcast took place during the world 
famous Patty Hearst trial in 1976, using 
equipment designed by Cobham.

1976

Cobham provides digital vehicle intercom  
systems to more than 18 armies worldwide.

Image courtesy of the US Department of Defense

For more information view the results 
webcast www.cobhaminvestors.com
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Total revenue was up 5% to £317m 
driven by favourable currency 
translation exchange rates. Organic 
revenue declined by 9% as a 
number of air refuelling deliveries 
have been delayed due to 
qualification of the next generation 
pods and due to supply chain issues 
on weapons carriage and release 
products. Order slippages at the 
Conax facility have also contributed 
due to the ongoing US Government 
investigation, although the business 
continues to operate as usual  
in all other respects. Conax  
is cooperating fully with the 
authorities and is encouraged  
by the progress to date.

The margin increased to 17.9% (2008: 17.3%) 

due to currency translation and cost savings 

from the ongoing facility integration 

programme, offsetting weaker trading in  

the air refuelling business. 

Areas of growth included:

•  Shipment of 3,000 Air Warrior Microclimate 

Cooling Units to the US Army, bringing  

the total ship sets delivered since 2005 to 

over 15,000;

•  Completion of a Personal Locator Beacon 

(PLB) contract for a military customer, with 

14,500 units shipped in 2009. PV funded 

work has started on the development of  

the next generation PLB, which has market 

potential of some US$100m;

•  Over 200 Small Diameter Bomb weapons 

carriage and release units were delivered to 

Boeing, the 100th refuelling probe to the 

V-22 Osprey tiltrotor programme and 100 

refuelling tanks in support of the F-22 and 

C-130J aircraft. 

 In addition, there were a number of important 

business developments in the period which it  

is anticipated will benefit future results:

•  Award of a five year Indefinite Delivery 

Definite Quantity (IDDQ) contract from the 

US Army to provide Microclimate Cooling 

Systems to the Air Warrior programme 

office, with expected revenue of up to 

US$110m during the next five years. The  

first initial repair and overhaul contract for 

300 units was received, with some 15,000 

systems in the field;

•  Qualification and delivery of flight test 

hardware for the Boeing 787 was completed 

for the On Board Inert Gas Generating 

System (OBIGGS), with orders received for  

15 USAF C-17 OBIGGS II modules ; 

•  Initial orders were received from Airbus 

Military for Cobham 905E hose and drogue 

refuelling pods for the UAE and Saudi Arabia.

Cobham Mission Systems Division

Cobham’s micro climate cooling system helps prevent 
heat stress by maintaining safe core body 
temperatures, extending the mission duration of 
service personnel who are deployed to extreme 
climates, or who are thermally burdened with body 
armour or other protective clothing. 

Image courtesy of the US Department of Defense
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* At year end. 

** Includes inter divisional trading.

Revenue**

£317.0m
2008: £302.0m

17%
2008: 20%

Trading profit

£56.8m
2008: £52.2m

17%
of trading profit 2008: 21%

Principal locations
USA, UK

Employees*

1,533 
2008: 1,715

American SR-71 and U-2 reconnaissance
aircraft spy plane programmes placed unique 
requirements on the life support systems of their 
crews. With cruise altitudes of 80,000 feet, SR-71 
aircrew flew in full pressure suits, with oxygen 
and nitrogen equipment supplied and supported 
by Cobham.

Image courtesy of Lockheed Martin 

Cobham air-to-air refuelling pods successfully 
demonstrated the ability to transfer fuel from 
the Airbus Military A330 Multi Role Tanker 
Transport to Spanish Air Force F-18s during 
recent flight trials.

Image courtesy of Airbus

Cobham is providing the On Board Inert Gas 
Generating System (OBIGGS) for the Boeing 787 
which had its maiden flight in December 2009. 

Image courtesy of Boeing

17%

17%

For more information view the results 
webcast www.cobhaminvestors.com

1964
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Cobham Aviation Services Division

* At year end. 

** Includes inter divisional trading.

Revenue**

£230.9m
2008: £221.9m

12%
2008: 15%

Trading profit

£31.3m
2008: £24.8m

9%
of trading profit 2008: 10%

Principal locations
UK, Australia, Germany

Employees*

1,733 
2008: 1,760

Total revenue increased 4% to 
£231m, due to favourable currency 
translation partly offset by the 
shedding of some less profitable 
resource industry contracts  
in Australia.

The Division’s margin increased to 13.6%  

(2008: 11.2%) in part due to shedding low 

margin contracts and a good performance  

on the Sentinel maritime surveillance contract 

in Australia together with large aircraft 

maintenance activities in the UK. In Australia, 

there was also a cost benefit from the 

acquisition of previously leased aircraft.

Cobham operates a fleet of ten Dash 8 aircraft 
modified for maritime patrol and surveillance in 
Australia, with each aircraft able to search an 
area of 110,000 km² per flight.

12%

9%
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Areas of growth included:

•  In the UK increased activity on large military 

aircraft maintenance and additional hours 

were flown in training the UK Royal Air Force 

and Royal Navy in electronic warfare;

•  In Australia an increased rate of effort  

on the Sentinel programme.

In addition, there were a number of important 

business developments in the period which it  

is anticipated will benefit future results:

•  Receipt of two contracts from the Australian 

Border Protection Command, one increasing 

the rate of effort under the core Sentinel 

contract to December 2019 and the other 

the addition of two aircraft from July 2009, 

for two years. These contracts have a total 

value of AUD$43m; 

•  Contract extensions were secured from 

West Australian resource sector clients,  

with a combined contract value of some 

AUD$260m, including the announcement  

in December 2009 of Australia’s largest 

resource industry aviation support contract 

from Chevron, which extends to 2016;

•  An extension to the Australian air Express 

(AaE) freight contract which will take the 

operation of three aircraft through to 

December 2015, worth some AUD$100m  

of revenue; 

•  In the UK, award of an £18m order for the 

Military Flying Training Services (MFTS) Royal 

Navy rear crew training contract to convert 

four Beechcraft King Air B350 aircraft with 

five years of maintenance and support at 

RNAS Culdrose.

Concorde first visited Bournemouth in 1996  
as part of the airport’s celebrations to mark  
the lengthening of its runway. It was a frequent
visitor in later years on charter. As with many
high profile visitors, Cobham provided support  
to the aircraft – a logical relationship for a 
company which supplied more than 1,000 
components for each Concorde.

An extension to the Australian air Express freight 
contract has taken the operation of three aircraft 
through to December 2015.

One of four Beechcraft King Air B350s for the 
Military Flying Training Services (MFTS) Royal 
Navy rear crew training contract. 

For more information view the results 
webcast www.cobhaminvestors.com

1996
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Basis of reporting
In line with the regulatory requirements  

for UK listed companies, the Group financial 

statements in this report have been prepared 

in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the 

EU, together with the associated International 

Financial Reporting Interpretation Council 

(IFRIC) interpretations and those parts of  

the Companies Act 2006 applicable to entities 

reporting under IFRS. As currently permitted, 

the Group has elected to prepare its UK 

statutory filings for the parent company and  

its subsidiaries under the applicable local  

GAAP format. 

In addition to the information required under 

IFRS and to assist with the understanding of 

earnings trends, the Group has included within 

its published statements trading profit and 

underlying earnings results. Trading profit  

and underlying earnings have been defined  

to exclude the impacts of certain acquisition 

related charges, portfolio restructuring 

impacts, the mark-to-market of currency 

instruments not realised in the period and 

impairments of goodwill. 

Acquisition related charges excluded from 

trading profit and underlying earnings include 

the amortisation of intangible assets 

Financial review

Highlights
Strong performance from defence and 

security businesses with organic growth  

of 7% although decline in commercial 

activities resulted in 1% organic growth 

overall for Technology Divisions.

Integration of 2008 acquisitions  

successfully completed; strong results  

from Lansdale, SPARTA and M/A-COM  

and non-core M/A-COM Technology 

Solutions business divested.

Solid £2.4bn order book does not include 

significant US$1.2bn VIS-X award won. 

Underlying EPS growth of 21.9%; 12.5%  

at constant currency translation, with  

good cost control.

£213.6m of free cash flow with strong 

operating cash conversion at 88.6% and 

gearing of 1.0 times net debt/EBITDA.

10% increase in final dividend to 3.97p;  

full year dividend of 5.45p (+10%).

Warren Tucker Chief Financial Officer

recognised on acquisition, such as customer 

relationships, technology, software and the  

like, the writing off of the pre-acquisition profit 

element of inventory written up on acquisition 

and costs charged post acquisition, related to 

acquired share options. Portfolio restructuring 

impacts comprise exceptional profits arising  

on business divestments completed in prior 

years which have funded exceptional costs 

associated with the Group’s site integrations. 

Both the divestments and the integration 

activity originate from the Group’s strategy 

announcement in September 2005. The 2005 

portfolio restructuring is now substantially 

complete and restructuring costs arising after 

2009 are to be reported as part of the 

underlying result. All underlying measures 

include the revenue and operational results of 

both continuing and discontinued businesses 

up to the point of sale of the operation. From 

2010, transaction costs and changes to the 

initial estimate of contingent payments related 

to future acquisitions will also be excluded 

from trading profit and underlying earnings.

Financial Record 
•  Cobham delivered Total Shareholder Return 

(TSR) of 26%, only slightly behind the 27% 

average return for the FTSE100, in a year that 

favoured cyclical, recovery stocks. Over the 
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ten years to the end of 2009, Cobham  

has delivered a TSR of 304%, compared to  

a return of 9% for the FTSE;

•  Headline revenue growth was 28.2%, 

primarily due to the full year impact of the 

2008 acquisitions and favourable currency 

translation rates with a strong year for 

defence and security end markets but a 

difficult year for the commercial businesses, 

as a result of the market downturn;

•  Underlying profit before tax was up 21.1%  

at £295.3m (2008: £243.8m);

•  Underlying EPS grew 21.9% to 18.80p  

(2008: 15.42p);

•  Operating cash flow was £293.2m  

(2008: £260.5m), being a conversion rate  

of 88.6% (2008: 106.1%) to trading profit 

before the Group’s share of post-tax results 

of joint ventures;

•  Free cash flow generated by the business 

before dividends to shareholders, 

acquisitions and disposals and funding 

movements was £213.6m (2008: £202.9m);

•  The Group’s long term dividend growth 

continues with the Board approving a final 

dividend of 3.97p (2008: 3.61p), giving a 

10.0% increase in the full year.

Economic profit
Economic Profit is defined as trading profit less  

an asset charge which reflects the Group’s 

pre-tax weighted average cost of capital and 

which is applied to the capital invested in the 

business. This investment includes acquired 

goodwill, other tangible and intangible fixed 

assets and working capital.

 

Economic Profit is considered to be an 

important measure for the Group as a whole 

and for each of its Divisions, as it demonstrates 

that profit growth exceeds the full cost  

of investing in assets. Cobham achieved 

Economic Profit of £185.9m in the year  

(2008: £148.8m).

Accounting policies
The Board has reviewed the accounting 

policies in accordance with lAS 8 and 

determined that they are appropriate for  

the Group. 

Acquisitions and divestments
The Group has successfully completed the 

complex integration of the M/A-COM business, 

which was acquired in September 2008.  

The integration, which was completed  

on schedule, included the separation of 

M/A-COM’s information technology (IT) 

systems and back office functions from its 

former owner and the establishment of 

standalone IT and back office infrastructure.  

In addition, M/A-COM’s wave guide and cable 

systems activities have been transferred to  

the existing Cobham facility at Exeter, New 

Hampshire, entailing a significant expansion  

of operations on the site. The integration  

of the February 2008 Lansdale acquisition  

was also successfully completed, with the 

establishment of all new back office functions 

and IT systems. Design and manufacture of 

spiral antennas and certain microelectronics 

modules within the Group have been 

consolidated at the Lansdale facility.

In March 2009, Cobham sold M/A-COM 

Technology Solutions (MTS), part of the 

M/A-COM acquisition, for up to US$90m.  

The business, which was not core to the 

Group’s strategy, had been treated as held  

for resale from the date of acquisition and 

consequently its trading is not included in  

the income statement or in earnings. There 

was no gain or loss on sale as it was held  

for resale at fair value.

In May 2009, Cobham Defence Systems 

completed the acquisition of Argotek for 

US$36.25m, a company specialising in high  

end information assurance skills for the US 

intelligence community. In December 2009, 

Cobham Mission Systems purchased the assets 

of SafeLife Systems for US$0.6m, bringing  

a unique subscription service for owner  

testing of 406MHz emergency beacons.

Facility Integration
The Group has continued to extract 

efficiencies from its businesses during the year 

through the rationalisation and integration  

of a number of operating sites. There was 

further integration of business units in the 

Avionics and Surveillance Division, with a 

manufacturing Centre of Excellence created  

in Prescott, Arizona from three existing 

businesses based in Washington State and 

Arizona, USA and Kelowna, Canada. Transition 

of a further business based in Oregon, USA is 

expected to be completed during 2010.

Within Cobham Mission Systems, the transfer 

and integration of the product lines from 

California to an existing facility in New York 

State, USA has been completed. The transfer 

and integration of the remaining product lines 

to an existing facility in Iowa, USA is expected 

to be completed in 2010. The Wimborne, UK 

site rationalisation is progressing with full 

planning permission granted for a new factory, 

which will have a reduced footprint and lower 

overhead costs. Construction work is under 

way with the site anticipated to be fully 

operational in early 2011.

Results
The Group’s book-to-bill ratio in the year  

of 0.93 times reflecting in part the difficult 

conditions in commercial markets. The large  

US Army Vehicular Intercommunication 

System Expanded (VIS-X) award, which was 

made during the year and which is worth up to 

US$1.2bn to Cobham, is an unfunded Indefinite 

Delivery Indefinite Quantity (IDIQ) award and, 

apart from some small orders received, is not 

reflected in the order intake or the order book. 

At the year end, the Group’s order book was 

£2.4bn (2008: £2.7bn), with the Technology 

Divisions contributing £1.3bn (2008: £1.6bn) 

and Aviation Services on £1.1bn (2008: £1.1bn). 

The Group aims to establish and grow positions 

on the most important long term defence, 

security and commercial programmes. Some 

current examples of these programmes are the 

F-35 aircraft, the F/A-18 and E/A-18G aircraft, 

the V-22 Osprey tiltrotor aircraft, the A330 

Multi Role Transport Tanker aircraft, the 

Advanced Anti-Radiation Guided Missile 

(AARGM), the Advanced Medium Range 

Air-to-Air Missile (AMRAAM), the Boeing 787, 

the Airbus A350 and ground vehicle 

programmes such as the High Mobility 

Multipurpose Wheeled Vehicle (HMMWV). 

Significant future customer orders from  

these and other programmes are expected  

to be placed incrementally over many years, 

adding to those already in the order book  

and giving the Group excellent long term 

revenue visibility.
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Financial review continued

£m 2009 2008

Result before joint ventures 280.5 122.5

Share of post-tax results of joint ventures 6.1 6.0

Operating profit 286.6 128.5

Adjusted to exclude:

Portfolio restructuring 7.7 7.4

Unrealised (gains)/losses on revaluation of currency instruments (42.9) 59.5

Amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisition 78.7 46.8

Acquisition related adjustments 6.9 9.4

Trading profit 337.0 251.6

Underlying profit before tax is calculated as follows:

£m

Profit on continuing operations before taxation 244.9 120.7

Adjusted to exclude:

Portfolio restructuring 7.7 7.4

Unrealised (gains)/losses on revaluation of currency instruments (42.9) 59.5

Amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisition 78.7 46.8

Acquisition related adjustments 6.9 9.4

Underlying profit before taxation 295.3 243.8

Profit after tax used in the calculation of underlying EPS is calculated as follows:

£m

Profit after taxation attributable to equity shareholders 185.8 95.4

Adjusted to exclude (after tax):

Portfolio restructuring 5.0 2.0

Unrealised (gains)/losses on revaluation of currency instruments (30.9) 42.6

Amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisition 50.4 28.9

Acquisition related adjustments 4.5 6.6

Underlying profit after taxation 214.8 175.5

Underlying earnings per ordinary share (pence) 18.80 15.42

Results
Trading profit is calculated as follows:

The table below categorises revenues into the various end-market segments for the Group’s Technology Divisions:

2009 2008

£m % £m %

US Defence/Security 10,38.7 62.8 642.4 51.6

Other Defence/Security 262.9 15.9 243.8 19.6

Civil Aerospace and General Aviation 172.1 10.4 196.2 15.8

Other Communications 180.0 10.9 163.2 13.0

 

Cobham Aviation Services’ revenue represents 12.3% of total Group revenue.
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Headline revenue growth was 28%, although  

in the Technology Divisions organic revenue 

growth has been slower than anticipated at  

1% due to the extended trough in the general 

aviation, business and regional jets markets.  

In the Mission Systems Division a number of  

air refuelling deliveries have been delayed due 

to qualification of the next generation air 

refuelling pods with supply chain issues on 

weapons carriage and release products. There 

have been order slippages at the St. Petersburg, 

USA (Conax) facility due to the ongoing US 

Government investigation, although the 

business continues to operate as usual in all 

other respects. Conax is cooperating fully  

with the authorities and is encouraged by  

the progress to date.

Organic revenue from commercial activities, 

representing 21% of technology revenue, 

declined 16%. Defence and security revenue, 

representing 79% of technology revenue, grew 

organically by 7%. As anticipated, the Defence 

Systems Division and the surveillance business, 

part of the Avionics and Surveillance Division, 

achieved double digit organic growth, as these 

continue to be priority areas for defence  

and security customers.

 

Cobham develops and brings to market 

products that are in high demand and at the 

leading edge of technology. This is fundamental 

to the Group’s strategy of achieving organic 

growth over a sustained period in its chosen 

markets. The nature of the Group’s technology 

and its interaction with aerospace certification 

and customer specifications result in 

developments only reaching the point of 

demonstrating technical feasibility towards  

the end of their development cycle. 

In 2009, the Group increased its investment  

in PV (Private Venture or company funded 

Research and Development – R&D) by 25% to 

£88.3m (2008: £70.5m), which as a proportion 

of the Technology Divisions’ revenue was  

5.3% (2008: 5.3%, adjusted for the impact of 

Cobham Analytic Solutions), with the medium 

term target being to increase PV to 6%. There 

was also significant customer funded R&D 

invested in the year.

Group trading profit increased by 34% to 

£337.0m (2008: £251.6m), principally driven  

by an improvement in the organic trading 

margin, the full year impact of 2008 

acquisitions and favourable currency 

translation exchange rates.

The Group’s trading margin increased to 17.9% 

(2008: 17.2%), with the adverse full year impact 

of the 2008 acquisition margin mix being more 

than offset by improvements to the organic 

trading margin. 

The organic margin improvement of 1.9% 

points was driven by the continuing programme 

of operational efficiencies, primarily the facility 

integration programme and procurement 

savings with proactive cost control in those 

businesses impacted by the downturn and 

close monitoring of outstanding customer 

balances. In addition, the Group has wound 

down or exited some low margin revenue 

activity principally in Aviation Services.

Net finance expense was £41.7m (2008: £7.8m). 

Net interest expense on cash and debt 

holdings was higher at £36.9m (2008: £9.4m)  

as a result of the acquisitions completed during 

2008, partly offset by strong cash generation 

from operations.

As anticipated, there was a net finance charge 

from pension schemes of £4.8m (2008: income 

£1.6m). In 2010, this non-cash item will be  

a £1.7m charge. 

Underlying profit before tax was up 21.1% at 

£295.3m (2008: £243.8m).

Taxation
On an underlying basis the effective tax rate  

for the year reduced to 27.8% (2008: 28.7%). 

The underlying tax rate is calculated by dividing 

the Group’s underlying tax charge of £80.4m 

(2008: £68.2m) by its underlying profit before 

tax, before joint ventures. In part, the 

underlying tax charge benefited from the 

impact of consortium relief relating to 

Cobham’s investment in AirTanker Ltd and  

R&D tax credits.

Earnings per Share (EPS)
Underlying EPS grew 21.9% to 18.80p (2008: 

15.42p) primarily due to the improvement  

in the Group’s underlying trading margin, 

favourable currency translation exchange rates 

and the full year contribution from acquisitions 

completed during 2008. EPS at constant 

currency translation rates was 12.5%, ahead of 

the target high single digit EPS medium term 

growth. Excluding the impact of the non-cash 

net finance charge from pension schemes,  

EPS growth a constant currency translation 

rates was 15.1%.

Basic EPS increased to 16.26p (2008: 8.38p) 

primarily driven by the Group’s higher 

underlying profit and the post-tax and non-cash 

profit on the unrealised mark-to-market of 

currency instruments of £30.9m (2008: loss 

£42.6m). This was partly offset by the increased 

post-tax and non-cash amortisation of 

intangible assets arising on acquisition of 

£50.4m (2008: £28.9m), resulting from the full 

year impact of the 2008 acquisitions.

Dividends
The Board has proposed a final dividend of 

3.97p (2008: 3.61p). Together with an interim 

dividend of 1.48p (2008: 1.345p), which was 

paid on 11 December 2009, this will result in a 

total dividend of 5.45p per share, an increase  

of 10% on the comparable period. The final 

dividend will be paid on 5 July 2010 to all 

shareholders on the register at 28 May 2010, 

subject to shareholder approval. 

Cash flow and net debt
Operating cash flow in the period, after net 

capital expenditure and PV which is expensed 

in the income statement but before the 

payment of tax and interest, was £293.2m 

(2008: £260.5m). This represents 88.6%  

(2008: 106.1%) of trading profit before the 

Group’s share of post-tax results of joint 

ventures, ahead of the 80% medium term 

target for operating cash conversion.

After the payment of tax, restructuring  

costs and net interest and the receipt of 

dividends from joint ventures, the Group 

generated free cash flow of £213.6m  

(2008: £202.9m). From free cash flow, the 

Group invested a net £32.2m (2008: £616.6m)  

in acquisitions, principally comprising the 

acquisition of Argotek and deferred and 

contingent payments on acquisitions 

completed in prior years, partly offset  

by proceeds relating to the sale of MTS.

The Group had net debt of £412.6m  

(2008: £641.3m) at the year end. It is  

the Group’s policy to hold a significant  

proportion of its borrowings in foreign 
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currency, principally US dollars, as a  

natural hedge against assets and earnings 

denominated in those currencies. Movements 

in exchange rates in the year accounted  

for £99.5m of the reduction in net debt.

Further details relating to the cash flows and 

movements in net debt of the Group are given 

in the consolidated cash flow statement on 

page 63 and in note 12 to the Group financial 

statements. A summary of the change in net 

debt is set out opposite.

Financing
The Group ended the year with lower net  

debt of £412.6m (2008: £641.3m). The Group’s 

year end gearing position was approximately 

1.0 times Net Debt/EBITDA with net interest 

well covered at nine times (2008: 30 times).

Included within net debt are significant  

sterling cash deposits, in addition to US dollar 

denominated borrowings which are held for 

the reasons described above. The Group’s 

principal borrowings are as follows:

•   A £300m multi-currency credit agreement 

that expires in July 2012. Interest is payable 

at the applicable LIBOR rate of the drawn 

currencies plus margin, of which £266.0m 

(2008: £285.7m) had been drawn down 

under this agreement at the year end;

•  US$170m of senior notes maturing in 

October 2012 with a 5.58% coupon;

•  US$350m of senior notes maturing in 

tranches in 2014, 2016 and 2019 with  

an average coupon of 6.67%.

In addition, in January 2010 the Group 

completed a US$105m private placement  

debt issue in the US, maturing in 2018 with 

interest payable at the applicable LIBOR  

rate plus margin.

Further details on the Group’s borrowings  

are given in note 24 to the Group  

financial statements.

Retirement obligations
The Group operates a number of defined 

benefit pension schemes, the most  

significant being the Cobham Pension Plan.  

At 31 December 2009, the Group’s net balance 

sheet liability before deferred tax relating to  

its defined benefit schemes had increased 

since the previous year end to £115.2m  

(31 December 2008: £51.2m, 30 June 2009: 

£163.7m). This movement was in part due to  

a decrease in the discount rate on liabilities 

which is driven by AA-rated investment grade 

corporate bond yields, partly offset by an 

increase in the value of scheme assets. 

During the period the Group made normal 

contributions to its defined benefit schemes  

of £7.2m in excess of the current service costs 

of £4.1m, as assessed under lAS 19. In addition, 

a further special contribution of £5.5m was 

made as part of the withdrawal agreement 

with the Cobham Pension Plan trustees made 

in October 2005 relating to the disposal of 

FR-HiTEMP Limited. This cash outflow is shown 

as part of investing activities in the cash  

flow statement.

The most recent triennial valuation of the 

Cobham Pension Plan was undertaken as at  

1 April 2009. As a result, annual company cash 

contributions to the Plan will increase by £4.7m 

in 2010. Additional member contributions will 

also be made.

The Group’s defined benefit pension schemes 

have been closed to new entrants since 2003, 

although alternative defined contribution 

schemes have been offered in all cases. 

Cobham remains committed to the support  

of the pension schemes within the Group and 

continues to work with the trustees of those 

schemes to ensure that net liability issues are 

managed appropriately.

Further details on the Group’s retirement 

benefit schemes, including principal 

assumptions used for the actuarial valuation  

of defined benefit schemes, the amounts 

recognised in operating profit and changes in 

the value of defined benefit schemes during 

the year, is given in note 10 to the Group 

financial statements.

Financial review continued

Cash flow
£m 2009 2008

Trading profit (excluding joint ventures) 330.9 245.6

Depreciation and other movements 47.8 34.5

(Increase)/Decrease in working capital and provisions (8.2) 35.4

Net capital expenditure (77.3) (55.0)

Operating cash flow 293.2 260.5

Operating cash/trading profit (excluding joint ventures) 88.6% 106.1%

Net interest paid (45.8) (6.1)

Taxation paid (31.2) (58.2)

Dividend received from joint ventures 5.2 8.9

Restructuring costs (7.8) (2.2)

Free cash flow 213.6 202.9

Dividends paid (58.3) (52.7)

Acquisition payments less disposal proceeds (32.2) (616.6)

Movements in funding and exchange movements 105.6 (252.8)

Decrease/(Increase) in net debt 228.7 (719.2)
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Foreign exchange
The Group’s aim has been to reduce, or 

eliminate wherever practical, transaction 

foreign exchange risk, of which the pound 

sterling/US dollar exchange rate is the most 

important. Primarily this is because many  

global aerospace and defence contracts are 

denominated in US dollars. Additionally, 

translation exposure arises on the earnings  

of operating companies largely based in the 

USA, partly offset by dollar denominated 

interest costs.

All significant foreign exchange hedging 

transactions are approved by the parent 

company. In addition to the Group’s currency 

denominated borrowings, a number of 

financial instruments are used to manage 

transactional foreign exchange exposure, such 

as forward rate contracts and options. The 

Group has a policy of hedging at least 80% of 

estimated transactional exposure for the next 

12 months, a proportion of exposure between 

12 and 36 months and firm exposures on 

longer term contracts. Details of the most 

significant of these instruments are described 

in notes 26 and 28 of the Notes to the Group 

financial statements. The majority of the 

anticipated exposure to the US dollar in the 

Group’s UK subsidiaries is hedged at an  

average rate of US$1.59 for 2010.

Going concern
The Group’s business activities, together with 

factors likely to affect its future development, 

performance and position, are set out on pages 

14 to 21 and 28 of the Business Review. In 

addition, notes 24 to 28 of the Notes to the 

Group financial statements include the Group’s 

objectives, policies and processes for managing 

its capital, financial risk management, details  

of financial instruments and hedging activities 

and its exposure to credit, liquidity and  

other risks.

The Group has considerable financial  

resources together with long term contracts 

with a number of customers across different 

geographic areas. As a consequence, the 

directors believe that the Group is well placed 

to manage its business risks successfully, 

despite the current economic outlook.

Accordingly, after making enquiries, the 

directors have formed a judgement at the  

time of approving the financial statements  

that there is a reasonable expectation that  

the Company and the Group as a whole  

have adequate resources to continue in 

operational existence for the foreseeable 

future. For this reason they continue to adopt 

the going concern basis in preparing the Group 

and parent company financial statements.
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Risk management 
Effective management of risk and opportunity 

is essential to the delivery of the Group’s 

financial and non financial objectives. The 

Group’s approach to risk management is to 

identify key risks early and remove or minimise 

the likelihood and effect of them before  

they occur. 

The management of risk is linked into the 

Group’s strategy, the environment in which  

it operates, the Group’s appetite for risk and  

the delivery of the Group’s business objectives. 

The underlying principles are that through  

the Group’s Life Cycle Management process  

the risks are continuously monitored, 

associated action plans reviewed, appropriate 

contingencies are provisioned and this 

information is reported through established 

management control procedures. The process 

for monitoring and controlling risk is illustrated 

in the diagram below and the most significant 

risks and uncertainties which could impact the 

long term performance of Cobham are shown 

in the table on the opposite page. They are  

not listed in any order of priority.

Shortage of appropriate skills
In 2009 Cobham commenced an Employee 

Value Proposition project with the aim of 

attracting and further improving the retention 

of employees, noting that voluntary employee 

turnover reduced in the year (see ‘Key 

performance indicators’ on page 11). In the  

last quarter of 2009 the Group also undertook 

an all employee survey, with an excellent 

response rate and significantly more positive 

responses than negative. Action plans are 

being developed to address key findings and  

all aspects of the Group’s talent management 

plans are being updated accordingly. 

Principal risks

Key changes in risk management in 2009
An additional executive risk committee was 

established with part time Non-executive 

Director participation to provide further 

advice to the committee.

A review of the detailed corporate risk 

register by functional heads was introduced.

The application of the Group’s Life  

Cycle Management process was  

further strengthened. 

How we monitor and control risk

Self assessment
Corporate/Division/Strategic Business Unit risk identification, analysis, 

evaluation and mitigation planning as part of strategy process

Operational framework

Board review

Assurance reviewsFunctional head review  
of mitigation plans, risks and emerging themes

Risk committee review

– Organisation
– Culture, values and appraisal system
– Mandated policies and processes

– Delegated authorities
– Training and development
– Performance measurement

Group executive review  
of mitigation plans, performance, risks, impact (financial and non financial), emerging themes

Reporting/Monitoring

Reporting/Monitoring

Reporting/Monitoring

Reporting/Monitoring
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Fixed price contracts
The Group continues to rigorously apply its 

 Life Cycle Management process to all bids, 

contracts and development projects 

throughout the business, supported by the 

consistent application of meaningful metrics  

to support the review of contracts across  

the Group and effective training.

Change in the priorities in the US 
defence market
Cobham continues to be well placed to benefit 

from new platforms and the upgrading of 

legacy platforms with a range of modernised 

electronics and subsystems, given the need  

to focus on efficient communications in 

asymmetric warfare situations. This conclusion 

is supported by the February 2010 US 

Quadrennial Defense Review report on mission 

areas and priorities. See also ‘Our markets’ on 

page 9.

Lower growth in the commercial/general 
aviation (GA) markets 
The record backlog of orders for Boeing and 

Airbus following a period of unprecedented 

growth in the past five years has cushioned  

the overall impact of the recession but it  

is anticipated that production rates at both 

companies will fall during 2010. Costs have 

been rapidly removed in the commercial 

businesses impacted by the market downturn, 

coupled with the integration of existing 

facilities and the winding down or exiting  

of some low margin revenue activity. The 

business remains vigilant. See also ‘Our markets’ 

on page 9. 

Exchange rates
See ‘Financial review’ on pages 22 to 27.

Principal risks

Risk Description Impact/Sensitivity Mitigation/Comment

Shortage of 
appropriate skills

The Group’s ambitious growth 
plans are dependent on our  
ability to attract, retain and  
recruit the best talent.

Without the appropriate quality and 
quantity of skills throughout the 
organisation it would be increasingly 
difficult to execute the business plans  
and grow.

•  Rigorous talent management plans and reviews.
•  Provide competitive compensation packages.
•  Ensure that work for employees is challenging and rewarding.
•  Increase participants on Group wide, coordinated  

development programmes.
•  Ensure that employee appraisal systems are used effectively 

throughout the Group.

Fixed price 
contracts

Fixed price design and 
development contracts  
inherently carry higher risk than 
fixed price production contracts, 
including inflation risk.

A failure to anticipate and resolve 
technical problems, estimate and control 
costs and offset inflationary pressures  
can result in schedule and cost overruns.

•  Rigorous application of the Group’s Life Cycle Management 
process to all bids, contracts and development projects 
throughout the business.

•  Consistently apply meaningful metrics to support the review  
of contracts across the Group.

•  Ensure that effective training is provided across all disciplines.
•  Maintain efficient and effective customer communications.
• Review inflation risks.

Change in the 
priorities in the  
US defence 
market

Greater than 50% of the Group’s  
revenue is derived from defence 
and security contracts in  
the USA. The level of growth is 
dependent on a complex mix of 
strategic defence and security 
imperatives, economic and 
security factors.

The termination of one or more of the 
contracts for the Group’s programmes  
by governments, or the failure of the 
relevant agencies to obtain expected 
funding appropriations for the Group’s 
programmes, could have a material 
adverse effect on the Group’s  
future results.

•  Continue to ensure that the Group is capable of supplying the 
technologies, products and services that are core to the US 
defence market needs.

•  Invest in the talent and technologies to maintain an effective 
competitive edge.

•  Balance the Group’s portfolio by increasing the level of business 
in higher growth, emerging markets such as India, the Middle 
East and South Korea.

Lower growth in 
the commercial/ 
general aviation 
(GA) markets

Some 9% of the Group’s revenue  
is derived from the commercial 
aerospace and general aviation 
markets. The level of growth is 
dependent on a mix of economic 
and political factors, including  
the demand for air travel and 
environmental issues. 

A softening of the commercial and  
general aviations markets could have an 
impact on the Group’s revenue growth.

•  Continue to ensure that the Group is capable of supplying  
the technologies, products and services that are core to  
the commercial and GA market needs.

•  Invest in the talent and technologies to maintain an effective 
competitive edge.

•  Ongoing facility integration to create effective centres  
of excellence.

•  Rapid removal of costs in businesses impacted by the  
downturn in the commercial/GA markets.

Exchange rates The global nature of the Group’s 
business means it is exposed to 
volatility in a number of foreign 
currencies, the most significant 
being the US dollar and euro.

Significant fluctuations in exchange  
rates to which the Group is exposed  
could have a material adverse effect  
on the Group’s future results.

•  Continue to hedge all material firm transactional exposures  
as well as to manage anticipated economic cash flow  
exposures over the medium term.

•  Seek to minimise foreign exchange mismatches when 
negotiating contracts.

•  Consider exchange rates carefully during acquisition and 
divestment planning.
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Introduction 
The focus in 2009 has been on integrating 

Corporate Responsibility and Sustainability 

(CR&S) into everyday business with a 

sustainable foundation. This has included 

developing the Group’s human resource 

infrastructure, standardising management 

approaches and improving data gathering. 

During 2010 the emphasis will be on 

developing competencies, improving  

processes and motivating employees to 

embrace CR&S. 

 

Key focus areas
The following focus areas are material to  

the Group’s vision and strategy:

• Business ethics;

• Safety, health & environment (SHE); and

• Stakeholder engagement.

Business ethics
The Group pursues and will reward the highest 

standards of ethical behaviour in all aspects of 

its business, considering ethical behaviour to be 

an asset to be valued, optimised and realised. 

Cobham’s Business Ethics programme is 

managed by a Business Ethics and Compliance 

Committee (BE&CC) staffed by senior Cobham 

executives. The Group’s approach focuses on 

use of global ethics hotline and an updated 

Code of Business Conduct (Code). The Code 

covers required behaviour in matters of 

personal integrity, stakeholder relationships 

and procedures for dealing with possible 

breaches. At the end of 2009 a substantial 

proportion of employees had received  

ethical awareness training. 

The Group has also appointed Business Ethics 

and Compliance Officers (BECOs) for each 

Cobham business unit whose principal 

responsibilities include implementing the ethics 

awareness training programme and providing  

a sounding board for employees concerns.  

The BECOs are further supported by Divisional 

Ethics Officers and the BE&CC that oversee  

the ethics programme and any issues raised 

through the global ethics hotline. 

Additionally Cobham has signed up to, fully 

supports and is implementing two industry 

standards on ethical conduct. The first is the 

AeroSpace and Defence Industries Association 

of Europe’s (ASD) Common Industry Standards 

for European Aerospace and Defence. The 

second is ASD’s and The Aerospace Industries 

Association of America’s (AIA) Global Principles 

of Business Ethics for the Aerospace and 

Defence Industry.

Safety, health & environment (SHE)
SHE has visibility at the highest level within 

Cobham and is considered an essential 

element of the way business is conducted 

across the Group. The Group SHE Committee 

has developed a standardised management 

approach that is being implemented across  

all Cobham’s locations over the next two years, 

in accordance with an agreed plan.

 

The next steps in the SHE programme include 

developing a competency matrix, training 

materials and performance objectives for all 

employees, because training and education will 

be key components in raising awareness and 

creating a high-performance work environment.

Stakeholder engagement
Cobham has developed a more rigorous  

and proactive approach towards stakeholder 

engagement. This has included developing  

a register of engagements with key 

stakeholders which will help to define material 

issues more clearly. During 2010 the Group 

intends to take up membership of Business  

in the Community to focus on how the 

engagement processes can be further 

developed, including creating a Company- 

wide employee volunteering programme.

During 2009 a Company-wide employee 

survey was undertaken to understand 

employees attitudes and opinions on the 

Group’s business ethics programme, safety 

climate and corporate strategy. The results 

indicated that employees had a good 

understanding of the ethics programme,  

that there is a positive safety climate overall 

and that the Group needs to better 

communicate the corporate strategy.

The Sir Alan Cobham Award programme  

was introduced, focused on recognising the 

outstanding contributions made by Cobham 

employees in embracing the Group’s vision  

and values. There are five categories, one of 

which is for CR&S.

Cobham responded to the Carbon Disclosure 

Project in 2009, achieving a Carbon Disclosure 

Leaders Index (CDLI) score similar or better  

to the majority of the Group’s sector peers.  

In addition, the approach taken by the Group’s 

industry peers is being reviewed to identify 

additional opportunities for improved 

management of this important issue.

A number of inquiries were received regarding 

Cobham’s involvement with controversial 

weapons such as cluster munitions or 

anti-personnel mines. The Group’s position  

is that it does not make or sell cluster munitions 

or anti-personnel mines and does not approve 

the use of these weapons where there is any 

potential for civilians to be hurt or killed. 

Cobham is a leading developer of hand-held 

and vehicle-mounted technologies that detect 

and neutralise such weapons.

Cobham supported the following organisations 

in 2009:

• Help for Heroes (UK);

• The Science Museum (London);

•  Intrepid Sea, Air and Space Museum  

(New York);

• Schools in Aerospace (UK); and

• Young Engineers (UK);

Data verification
Data is reconciled to account for acquisitions 

and disposals, and changes in foreign exchange 

rates. It is our intention to move towards 

independent data assurance in the future.

Corporate Responsibility and Sustainability

Highlights
Appointments of Ethics Officers in  

business units.

Development of standardised approach  

to Safety, Health and Environment (SHE).

Development of the Sir Alan Cobham Award 

programme for rewarding outstanding 

employee contributions.

Achieved 2010 energy efficiency target  

a year early.
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Key focus areas and  
performance indictors

Objectives for 2009 Objective
progress

2009
actual

2008
actual

Target Strategic objectives
1 2 3 4 5 6

Business ethics  

 

–  Appointment of Ethics  
Officers in business units

Completed Completed in 
all non US 
units

Completed 
in all US 
units

All units

–  Ethical awareness training  
for all employees

Completed Substantially 
completed for 
all employees

Substantially 
completed  
for all US 
employees

All 
employees

–  Sign up to industry  
standards on ethical  
conduct

Completed Signatory to 
ASD and AIA 
Global 
Principles

Signed ASD 
common 
industry  
code

All 
employees

Health & Safety

Fatalities – Report on fatalities Completed Zero Zero Zero

Major Accident Incidence Rate  
(Number of accidents resulting  
in more than 3 days’ absence  
per 100,000 employees)

–  Develop a standardised 
management approach

–  Conduct safety climate  
survey

Completed

Completed

670 260 Zero

Recordable Incidence Rate
(Number of accidents resulting  
in more than first aid per  
100 employees)

–  Develop a metric for  
comparison with US  
peer group

–  Conduct safety climate  
survey

Completed

Completed

1.7 Not
applicable

Zero

Environment

Energy efficiency  
(MWh/£M turnover)

–  Participate in the Carbon 
Disclosure Project survey

–  Improve data reporting 
process

Completed

Completed

953 1,255* 1,049

 Waste efficiency  
(tonnes/£M turnover)

–  Improve data reporting 
process

Completed 4.2 8.6* 3.7

Water use efficiency  
(m3/£M turnover)

–  Improve data reporting 
process

Completed 123 266* 113

Stakeholder engagement

Improve stakeholder  
engagement processes

–  Develop key stakeholder 
engagement register for 
non-financial issues

Completed

– Conduct employee survey Completed

–  Develop employee award 
scheme (including CR&S 
category)

Completed

* Restated due to data reporting errors in 2008.

1

Be a leading 
subsystems supplier 
with a comprehensive 
range of distinctive 
technologies

2

Be in the top three  
in each of our  
chosen markets

3

Grow faster organically 
than the markets in 
which we operate

4

Materially enhance 
growth through 
strategic acquisitions

5

Develop a global 
market presence  
with a unified brand 
and identity

6

Have an efficient 
organisation with  
a high performance 
culture and  
motivated people

Strategic objectives



 1  3

 4

 5

 6

 2
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Board of Directors

1. D J Turner 
Independent Non-executive 
Chairman 
Appointed to the Board as Non-
executive Deputy Chairman in 
December 2007 and Chairman on  
7 May 2008, David Turner, age 65,  
is a chartered accountant. He  
was appointed Chairman of the 
Commonwealth Bank of Australia in 
February 2010 and will be standing 
down as Chairman of Cobham at the 
conclusion of the Annual General 
Meeting on 6 May 2010. He has been  
a Non-executive Director of the 
Commonwealth Bank of Australia 
since August 2006. He was previously 
Chief Executive at Brambles Industries 
Limited between 2003 and 2007 and 
Finance Director at the same company 
between 2001 and 2003. Prior to that 
he was Group Finance Director at GKN 
plc from 1994. He was a Non-executive 
Director of Whitbread plc until 2006. 
He is a member of the remuneration 
committee and Chairman of the 
nomination committee.

2. A E Cook CBE, BSc,  
CEng, FRAeS 
Former Chief Executive 
Appointed to the Board in 2001, Allan 
Cook, age 60, retired on 31 December 
2009. He joined the Group from  
BAE Systems where he was Group 
Managing Director of programmes 
and Managing Director of Eurofighter. 
He was formerly Group Managing 
Director of GEC-Marconi Avionics and 
Chief Executive of Hughes Aircraft 
(Europe). He is also President of 
AeroSpace & Defence Industries of 
Europe, Chair of the National Skills 
Academy for Manufacturing, board 
member of the Industrial Forum and 
board member of the UK Ministerial 
Advisory Group for Manufacturing.  
He is the immediate past president  
of the Society of British Aerospace 
Companies Ltd. In September 2009, 
he was appointed as a Non-executive 
Director and Chairman-elect of WS 
Atkins plc and he became Non-
executive Chairman on 1 February 
2010. He was a member of the 
nomination committee until  
August 2009. 

3. A J Stevens BSc, CEng,  
FIET, FRAeS 
Chief Executive Officer
Appointed to the Board in 2003, Andy 
Stevens, age 53, joined the Group as 
Managing Director of the Aerospace 
Systems Group. He was appointed 
Chief Operating Officer of the 
Technology Divisions in September 
2005 and in March 2007 assumed 
responsibility for operational 
management, performance and profit 
and loss accountability for the Group. 
He became Chief Executive Officer  
on 1 January 2010. Prior to joining  
he qualified as a chartered engineer  
at Dowty Group and subsequently 
became Chief Operating Officer of 
Messier Dowty International before 
joining Rolls-Royce as Managing 
Director, Defence Aerospace. 

4. W G Tucker BSc, ACA, MBA 
Chief Financial Officer
Appointed to the Board in 2003, 
Warren Tucker, age 47, joined the 
Group as Chief Financial Officer and  
is a chartered accountant. Prior to 
joining, he worked at Arthur Andersen, 
Lazard, held senior finance positions at 
British Airways plc, Euro Disney and 
was Deputy Group Financial Director 
of Cable and Wireless plc. He was 
appointed as a Non-executive Director 
of Reckitt Benckiser Group plc on  
24 February 2010.

5. M Beresford CBE,  
MAMechSc, FIET 
Independent Non-executive Director 
Appointed to the Board as a Non- 
executive Director in 2004, Marcus 
Beresford, age 67, was Chairman of 
Ricardo plc until November 2009 and 
was a Non- executive Director of 
Spirent PLC until late 2006. He was  
an Executive Director of GKN plc  
from 1992-2002 and Chief Executive 
from 2001-2002. He is the Senior 
Independent Director and is a 
member of the nomination, audit  
and remuneration committees.

6. P Hooley FCA, MSc 
Independent Non-executive Director 
Appointed to the Board as a Non- 
executive Director in 2002, Peter 
Hooley, age 63, is a chartered 
accountant, and was Group Finance 
Director of Smith & Nephew plc  
until mid-2006. In July 2006, he was 
appointed Non-executive Chairman  
of BSN Medical Luxembourg Holdings 
Sarl, a group engaged in medical 
textile products. In May 2009, he  
was appointed as an independent 
Non-executive Director of Xstrata plc. 
Previously he was a Non-executive 
Director of Powell Duffryn plc from 
1997 to 2000. He is Chairman of  
the audit committee and also a 
member of the nomination and 
remuneration committees. 
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7. J S Patterson CBE, MBChB, 
FRCP, Fmed Sci 
Independent Non-executive Director 
Appointed to the Board as a 
Non-executive Director in 2005,  
John Patterson, age 62, qualified in 
medicine in 1971 and obtained a 
Membership (now Fellowship) of the 
Royal College of Physicians in 1974.  
He was appointed as a Non-executive 
Director of Ferring Holding SA in  
April 2009. He joined ICI (now 
AstraZeneca) in 1975 and in 
December 2004 was appointed to  
the main Board as Executive Director 
responsible for development. He 
retired as a Director of that firm in 
March 2009. He is a former President 
of the Association of the British 
Pharmaceutical Industry, a former 
Non-executive Director of Amersham 
PLC and a former member of the 
supervisory board of the UK 
Medicines Control Agency. He is 
Chairman of the remuneration 
committee and a member of the 
nomination and audit committees.

9. M W Hagee
Independent Non-executive Director
Appointed to the Board as a 
Non-executive Director in December 
2008, Mike Hagee, age 65, was, until 
his retirement in January 2007, a 
member of the Joint Chiefs of Staff  
as the 33rd Commandant of the 
United States Marine Corps. Prior  
to that, he was the Commanding 
General of the 1st Marine 
Expeditionary Force. In total, he 
served in the US military for more 
than 44 years and holds numerous 
military, civilian and foreign 
decorations, including the Bronze Star 
with Valor, National Intelligence 
Distinguished Service Medal, and 
Defense Distinguished Service Medal. 
He is currently a Non-executive 
Director of Rackable Systems,  
IAP Worldwide Services Inc, and 
Freedom Group, Inc. He is a member 
of the audit, nomination and 
remuneration committees. 

8. M H Ronald CBE, BA,  
BScEE, MScEE 
Independent Non-executive Director
Appointed to the Board as a 
Non-executive Director in 2007,  
Mark Ronald, age 68, was, until his 
retirement at the end of 2006, Chief 
Operating Officer of BAE Systems plc 
and Chief Executive Officer of BAE 
Systems Inc, its wholly-owned US 
subsidiary. Previously he was 
Vice-President, program management 
with Litton Industries and Chief 
Operating Officer of AEL Industries.  
He is currently a Non-executive 
Director of ATK Inc and DynCorp 
International Inc. He is a senior  
adviser of Veritas Capital LLC and  
a management consultant. He is  
a member of the nomination and 
remuneration committees. 

10. J F Devaney, BEng, CEng, 
FIMechE, FIEE
Independent Non-executive Director 
and Chairman designate
Appointed to the Board as a Non- 
executive Director and Chairman 
designate in February 2010, John 
Devaney, age 62, is currently 
Non-executive Chairman of National 
Express plc, the passenger transport 
group, and Non-executive Chairman 
of NATS, the National Air Traffic 
Services. He has previously served as 
Non-executive Director of Northern 
Rock and Chairman of Marconi plc, 
later renamed Telent. His executive 
career was built in engineering 
companies within the Varity Group.  
He was President of Perkins Engines  
in the mid-1980s, and he went on  
to be President of Kelsey-Hayes,  
the automotive components 
manufacturer. He was subsequently 
Chief Executive of Eastern Electricity, 
the largest regional electricity 
company in the UK at the time. 
Following its acquisition by Hanson  
he was appointed Executive Chairman. 
He is a member of the nomination  
and remuneration committees. 
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The Directors present their report and the audited Group and parent 

company financial statements of Cobham plc for the year ended  

31 December 2009.

Business review
The Chairman’s statement on page 6 of the Annual Report together  

with the Chief Executive’s review on pages 7 to 8, the Business review on 

pages 14 to 21, the Financial review on pages 22 to 27, the Principal risks 

section on pages 28 to 29, the Corporate Responsibility and Sustainability 

section on pages 30 to 31 and the Corporate governance section on 

pages 38 to 41 contain information that fulfils the requirements of the 

statutory business review and are incorporated in this Directors’ report 

by reference. The statutory business review is addressed only to 

shareholders and its purpose is to provide a review of the business  

and to explain the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group.

Principal activities
•  Providing a suite of end-to-end avionics products, law enforcement 

and national security solutions, and satellite communication 

equipment for land, sea and air applications;

•  Critical technology for network centric operations, moving 

information around the digital battlefield, with customised and 

off-the-shelf solutions for people and systems to communicate  

on land, sea and air;

•  Providing safety and survival systems for extreme environments, 

nose-to-tail refuelling systems and wing-tip to wing-tip mission 

systems for fast jets, transport aircraft and rotor craft;

•  Delivering outsourced aviation services for military and civil customers 

worldwide through military training, special mission flight operations, 

outsourced commercial aviation and aircraft engineering.

Dividends
An interim dividend of 1.48p per ordinary share of 2.5p each in the 

capital of the Company (Ordinary Shares) (2008: 1.345p) was paid in 

December 2009. The Directors are recommending a final dividend of 

3.97p per Ordinary Share (2008: 3.61p) payable on 5 July 2010 to ordinary 

shareholders on the register as at 28 May 2010, making a total ordinary 

dividend for the year of 5.45p (2008: 4.955p). 

Board of Directors
The current Directors are listed, together with short biographical notes, 

on page 32 to 33. They all held office throughout the year except John 

Devaney, who joined the Board on 1 February 2010. Allan Cook retired  

as Chief Executive and as a Director on 31 December 2009, whereupon 

Andy Stevens took up the role of Chief Executive Officer. David Turner 

will stand down as Chairman at the conclusion of the Annual General 

Meeting (AGM) on 6 May 2010 and John Devaney will assume the Chair 

at that time.

The rules for the appointment and replacement of Directors are set  

out in the Company’s Articles of Association (the Articles) copies of 

which can be obtained from Companies House in the UK or by 

contacting the Company Secretary. Changes to the Articles must be 

approved by shareholders passing a special resolution. The Directors  

and the Company (in the latter case by ordinary resolution) may appoint 

a person who is willing to act as a Director, either to fill a vacancy or as an 

additional Director. 

The Articles require Directors who have been appointed by the Board 

since the previous AGM or who have held office for three years or more 

since their previous appointment by shareholders or who, being 

non-executive, have held office for nine years or more since their first 

appointment by shareholders, to retire from office. Accordingly, Marcus 

Beresford, Mark Ronald, Andy Stevens and Warren Tucker will retire from 

office at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves 

for election. Both Andy Stevens and Warren Tucker have service 

contracts with the Company, summary details of which can be found  

in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 42 to 49. 

Subject to the Company’s Articles, UK legislation and any directions 

given by resolutions of the Company, the business of the Company is 

managed by the Board. The Directors have been authorised to allot and 

issue Ordinary Shares and to make market purchases of Ordinary Shares. 

These powers are exercised under authority of resolutions passed at  

the Company’s AGM.

Directors’ indemnity arrangements
The Company has entered into qualifying third party indemnity 

arrangements for the benefit of all its Directors in a form and scope 

which comply with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

Directors’ interests
None of the Directors is or was materially interested in any significant 

contract during or at the end of the financial year, particulars of  

which are required to be disclosed by the Listing Rules of the UK  

Listing Authority.

Details of Directors’ share interests and of their rights to subscribe  

for shares are shown in the Directors’ remuneration report on  

pages 42 to 49.

Corporate governance
The Company’s statement on corporate governance is set out on  

pages 38 to 41.

Share capital
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the 

year are given in note 29 to the Group financial statements and note 13 

to the parent company financial statements respectively.

At the AGM held on 6 May 2009, the Company was authorised to 

purchase up to 114,182,538 Ordinary Shares. This authority will expire  

at the conclusion of the 2010 AGM. Although no Ordinary Shares have 

been purchased by the Company during the period from 6 May 2009  

to the date of this report, a special resolution will be put to shareholders 

at the AGM to renew the authority to make market purchases of  

the Company’s shares up to a maximum of 10% of the share capital  

of the Company.

Directors’ report
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The rights and obligations attaching to the Ordinary Shares and 6% 

second cumulative preference shares of £1 each in the capital of the 

Company are set out in the Articles.

Subject to applicable statutes, and to the rights conferred on the  

holders of any other shares, shares may be issued with such rights and 

restrictions as the Company may by ordinary resolution decide or (if 

there is no such resolution or so far as the resolution does not make 

specific provision) as the Board may decide. Holders of Ordinary Shares 

are entitled to attend and speak at general meetings of the Company,  

to appoint one or more proxies and, if they are corporations, corporate 

representatives and to exercise voting rights. Holders of Ordinary Shares 

may receive a dividend and, on a liquidation, may share in the assets of 

the Company. Holders of Ordinary Shares are entitled to receive the 

Company’s annual reports. Subject to meeting certain thresholds, 

holders of Ordinary Shares may requisition a general meeting of the 

Company or the proposal of a resolution at an AGM.

Voting rights and restrictions on transfer of shares
On a show of hands at a general meeting of the Company, every holder 

of shares present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote has one vote 

and on a poll every member present in person or by proxy and entitled 

to vote has one vote for every £1 in nominal value of the shares of which 

he is the holder. None of the Ordinary Shares carry any special rights  

with regard to control of the Company.

There are no restrictions on transfers of shares other than: 

•  Certain restrictions which may from time to time be imposed by  

laws or regulations;

•  Pursuant to the Company’s code for securities transactions including 

the requirement on the Directors and designated employees to 

obtain approval to deal in the Company’s shares;

•  Where a person with an interest in the Company’s shares has been 

served with a disclosure notice and has failed to provide the Company 

with information concerning interests in those shares.

The Company is not aware of any arrangements between shareholders 

that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities or voting rights.

Significant arrangements – change of control
The Company is party to the following significant agreements which 

contain provisions which take effect, alter or terminate upon a change  

of control of the Company:

•  Under the £300m seven year multi-currency credit agreement 

entered into in July 2005, the Company must, in the event of a change 

of control, repay within 30 days all drawings, accrued interest, fees  

and other sums owing. Information relating to drawings at the year 

end is contained on page 26 of the Financial Review;

•  Under the private placement of senior notes of 2002 whereby 

US$225m was raised, of which US$170m is outstanding, the Company 

must, in the event of a change of control, offer to repay the notes. 

Any prepayment shall be at 100% of the principal amount of the notes 

plus, save in certain cases, a modified make-whole amount with 

respect to such principal amount together with accrued interest;

•  Under the private placement of senior notes of 2009 whereby 

US$350m was raised, the Company must, in the event of a change  

of control, offer to repay the notes at 100% of the principal amount  

of the notes;

•  Under the £50m facility entered into with Abbey in November 2008, 

the Company must, in the event of a change of control, repay within 

30 days all drawings, accrued interest, fees and other sums owing;

•  Under the US$75m facility entered into with RBS in December 2008, 

the Company must, in the event of a change of control, repay within 

30 days all drawings, accrued interest, fees and other sums owing;

•  Under the US$75m facility entered into with BNP Paribas in June 2009, 

the Company must, in the event of a change of control, repay within 

30 days all drawings, accrued interest, fees and other sums owing 

•  Under the US$75m facility entered into with Bank of America in 

January 2009, the Company must, in the event of a change of control, 

repay within 30 days all drawings, accrued interest, fees and other 

sums owing;

•  Under the US$50m facility entered into with UBS in January 2009,  

the Company must, in the event of a change of control, repay within 

30 days all drawings. 

Post-balance sheet events include a US$105m private placement of 

senior notes entered into in January 2010. This new facility has a change 

of control repayment clause.

 

Under the FB Heliservices (FBH) shareholders agreement entered  

into in November 2004, change of control of either the Company or  

its subsidiary holding shares in FBH, without the prior written consent  

of that other FBH shareholder, entitles the other FBH shareholder  

to purchase all of the Cobham Group’s shareholding in FBH.

Under the Sentinel contract, entered into in March 2006, the Company 

must seek approval for any material change in the shareholding of the 

Company. There is an ancillary Lease Agreement under which a change 

of control may result in the termination of the lease if such event is likely 

to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s ability to perform  

its obligations under the lease.

Under the FSTA shareholders agreement entered into in June 2008,  

a change of control of the Company may result in a required sale of  

the Company’s shares in FSTA to the other shareholders.

Further information relating to change of control appears in the 

Directors’ remuneration report on pages 43 and 44 under the headings 

Bonus Co-investment Plan, Performance Share Plan and Executive Share 

Option Scheme.

Employee share schemes – rights of control
If required to do so by the Company, the trustee of the Cobham Share 

Incentive Plan (the Plan) will, on receipt of notice from the Company of 

any offer, compromise, arrangement or scheme which affects shares 

held in the Plan, invite participants to direct the trustee on the exercise 

of any voting rights attaching to the shares held by the trustee on their 

behalf and/or direct how the trustee shall act in relation to those shares. 
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The importance of employee development and training is recognised 

and Group businesses are required to encourage employees to take 

advantage of available and relevant training programmes and 

opportunities for advancement.

The Group encourages employee participation and consultation at all 

levels and also the sharing of relevant business information. Such an 

approach facilitates the development of new ideas and practices that 

add value to the business, promotes team member commitment and 

helps to focus Company and employee expectations. In-house 

newsletters, intranet, extranet and internet communications, Company 

announcements, team meetings and suggestion schemes all play a part 

in this process. UK employees are given the opportunity to become 

shareholders in the Company through the Cobham Savings Related 

Share Option Scheme and the Cobham Share Incentive Plan. Under the 

former, employees can acquire shares through the exercise of options 

granted at a 20% discount to market value with savings made over three, 

five or seven years. Under the latter, shares may be purchased out of 

pre-tax income.

Corporate Responsibility and Sustainability
Information in relation to the Group’s commitment to Corporate 

Responsibility and Sustainability (including additional information  

in relation to employment matters) is set out on pages 30 to 31.

Creditors payment policy
Payment is generally made by Group companies to their creditors in 

accordance with agreed terms of business provided that those terms 

have been met. It is the policy of the Company that all invoices are paid 

within 30 days following the end of the month in which the invoices are 

approved. The total amount of the Company’s trade creditors falling  

due within one year at 31 December 2009 represents 44 days’  

(2008: 46 days’) worth as a proportion of the total amount invoiced  

by suppliers during the year ended on that date.

Events after the balance sheet date
Note 36 to the Group financial statements contains information  

in respect of post-balance sheet events.

Political and charitable gifts
No contributions were made to political organisations. The amount 

donated during the year for charitable purposes was £85,423 (2008: 

£84,594). Of this sum, individual donations in excess of £2,000 to  

UK charities were made to the value of £10,000 to armed services 

charities and £6,350 to business enterprise charities.

Land and buildings
Details of the carrying amount and market values of the Group’s 

investment properties are as disclosed in note 16 to the Group  

financial statements.

Auditors 
The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated their 

willingness to continue in office and a resolution to re-appoint them  

will be proposed at the AGM.

Directors’ report continued

The trustee will not vote in respect of any shares held in the Plan in 

respect of which it has received no directions nor will the trustee vote  

in respect of any shares which are unallocated under the Plan. 

Research and development
The Group continues to invest in the important area of Research and 

Development. During the year the Group expended £88.3m (2008: 

£70.5m) on non-customer funded Research and Development. The 

management of each Group business is responsible for identifying and 

carrying out suitable research and development programmes having 

regard to particular market and product needs.

Further information on research and development appears on pages  

8, 11 and 25.

Major interests in shares
As at 2 March 2010, being a date not more than a month prior to the 

date of the AGM notice, the Company had been notified of the following 

interests of 3% or more in the Ordinary Shares:

Number of shares  
at the date of 

notification

Percentage  
at date of 

notification

Legal & General Investment  
Management Limited 79,659,748 6.96

Newton Investment  
Management Limited 69,095,823 6.05

Sprucegrove Investment  
Management Limited 57,730,347 <5.00

Invesco Limited 57,287,405 5.00

Barclays plc 38,994,753 3.43

 

Financial instruments
Notes 26, 27 and 28 to the Group financial statements and note 12 to 

the parent company financial statements contain disclosures relating  

to the use of financial instruments.

People
At the end of 2009, Cobham employed 12,077 people (including 

contractors) on five continents with major population centres in the UK, 

France, North America and Australia. 

Across Cobham, implementation of organisational structures designed 

to support the Group’s declared strategy of building its capabilities across 

all functions continued with an emphasis on collaboration to better 

utilise resources and succession planning to increase opportunities for 

personal and professional development. 

Cobham is committed to equal opportunities for all of its employees. 

The Group aims to ensure that the workplace is free from discrimination; 

recruitment, selection and career development are based on 

competence and job requirements, irrespective of race, sex, sexual 

preference, religion or disability. Cobham continues to monitor and 

improve its policies and practices to reflect the requirements of age 

discrimination legislation. With regard to employees who become 

disabled, the policy is to take all reasonable steps, including retraining,  

to ensure that they can remain in employment wherever practicable.
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Annual General Meeting
The Company’s AGM will be held at 12 noon on Thursday, 6 May 2010 at 

the offices of UBS Investment Bank, 1 Finsbury Avenue, London EC2M 2PP.

The Company arranges for the notice of AGM and related papers to  

be sent to shareholders at least 20 working days before the meeting.

By order of the Board

Eleanor Evans
Chief Legal Officer & Company Secretary, 3 March 2010
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This part of the Annual Report, together with the Directors’ remuneration 

report set out on pages 42 to 49, describes how the Company has both 

applied the principles contained in the revised Combined Code on 

Corporate Governance amended in June 2008 (the Code) and complied 

with the provisions contained in section 1 of the Code. The Code is 

available at frc.org.uk/corporate/combinedcode.cfm.

Statement of Compliance with the provisions of the 
Combined Code
The Ordinary Shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange. In 

accordance with the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority, the 

Company confirms that throughout the year ended 31 December 2009 

and at the date of this Annual Report, it was compliant with the 

provisions of the Code. 

Share Capital
Details of the share capital of the Company are given on page 34 of the 

Directors’ report. 

Board composition
The Board comprises an independent Non-executive Chairman  

(David Turner), a Chief Executive Officer (Andy Stevens), a Chief Financial 

Officer (Warren Tucker) and five other Non-executive Directors of whom 

Marcus Beresford is the Senior Independent Director. All Non-executive 

Directors are considered to be independent. 

Biographies of the Directors, giving details of their experience and other 

significant commitments, are set out on page 32 to 33 and, in relation  

to those Directors offering themselves for re-election at the AGM, in  

the accompanying shareholder circular. The wide ranging experience 

and backgrounds of the Non-executive Directors enable them to  

debate and constructively challenge management in relation to both  

the development of strategy and the performance of the Group. The 

attendance of Directors at Board and principal Board committee 

meetings as members of such committees during the year is set out  

in the following table. 

 

Board Audit Remuneration Nomination

Number held 7 4 4 6

Number attended

A E Cook* 7 – – 3

W G Tucker 7 – – –

A J Stevens 7 – – –

M W Hagee 7 2 4 6

P Hooley 7 4 4 6

M Beresford 7 4 3 6

J S Patterson 6 3 4 6

M H Ronald 6 – 4 4

D J Turner 7 – 4 6

* Allan Cook retired on 31 December 2009 and retired from the nomination committee in August 2009.

Non-executive Directors are appointed for specified terms of three years 

which can be extended by agreement provided that the individual’s 

performance continues to be effective. All Non-executives have 

confirmed they will have sufficient time to meet what is expected of 

them and copies of their appointment letters are available on request to 

the Company Secretary and will be available for inspection at the AGM. 

Under the Articles, Directors are subject to re-election by shareholders 

at the first AGM after their appointment by the Board if they have held 

office for three years or more since their previous appointment by 

shareholders and, in the case of Non-executive Directors, if they have 

held office for nine years or more since first being appointed by 

shareholders. The Board has set out in the papers accompanying a 

resolution to elect a Non-executive Director why it believes an individual 

should be elected. The Chairman confirms to shareholders when 

proposing re-election that following formal performance evaluation,  

the individual’s performance continues to be effective and that the 

individual continues to demonstrate commitment to the role.  

Non-executive Directors are subject to Companies Act provisions 

relating to the removal of a Director.

The Chairman is, among other things, responsible for chairing Board 

meetings and leading the Board. The Chief Executive’s responsibilities 

include operational performance, Corporate Social Responsibility  

and the development and implementation of the Group’s strategy.  

He focuses also on long term growth and development of the Group,  

its people and customer relationships. The Board’s policy is that the roles 

of Chairman and Chief Executive should be performed by different 

people. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman’s role and 

that of the Chief Executive is documented and clearly understood.

The Senior Independent Director’s responsibilities include the provision 

of an additional channel of communication between the Chairman and 

the Non-executive Directors. He also provides another point of contact 

for shareholders if they have concerns which communication through 

the normal channels of Chairman, Chief Executive or Chief Financial 

Officer has failed to resolve, or where these contacts are inappropriate.

The Directors have the benefit of a Directors’ and officers’ liability 

insurance policy and the Company has entered into qualifying third-

party indemnity arrangements with them, as permitted by the 

Companies Act 2006. The Directors are permitted to take independent 

legal advice at the Company’s expense within set limits in furtherance  

of their duties.

The Board and its proceedings
Board meetings, scheduled in accordance with the annual timetable, 

take place seven times a year and otherwise as required. There is contact 

between meetings to progress the Group’s business as required. 

Meetings were held at the head office in Wimborne, at the Company’s 

London office and at operational locations in the UK and US. In addition, 

the Senior Independent Director held a meeting with the Non-

executives in the absence of the Chairman to appraise the Chairman’s 

performance and his performance was evaluated as part of the board 

evaluation process referred to below. In addition, the Chairman has  

held meetings with the Non-executives in the absence of the  

Executive Directors. 

The Board’s role is to lead the Group with a view to the creation of 

strong, sustainable financial performance and long term shareholder 

value. In doing so, it reviews and agrees Group strategy, ensures that  

Corporate governance
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the necessary resources are in place, monitors management performance, 

and supervises the conduct of the Group’s activities within a framework 

of prudent and effective internal controls. During the year, the Board and 

senior management participated in a two day meeting devoted to the 

consideration and development of the Group’s strategy. 

The Board has adopted a schedule of matters reserved for its specific 

approval. The schedule provides the framework for those decisions 

which can be made by the Board and those which can be delegated 

either to committees or otherwise. Among the key matters on which  

the Board alone may make decisions are the Group’s business strategy, 

its five year plan, its consolidated budget, Group policies, dividends, 

acquisitions and disposals, and all appointments to and removals from 

the Board. Authority is delegated to management on a structured basis 

in accordance with the provisions of the Corporate Framework ensuring 

that proper management oversight exists at the appropriate level. 

Matters delegated in this way include, within defined parameters,  

the approval of bids and contracts, capital expenditures and  

financing arrangements. 

The Board has adopted procedures relating to the conduct of its 

business, including the timely provision of information, and the 

Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that these are observed 

and for advising the Board on corporate governance matters. The 

Company Secretary is appointed, and can only be removed, by  

the Board.

If a Director were to have a concern which cannot be resolved this  

would be recorded in the board minutes. On resignation, Non-executive 

Directors are invited to provide a written statement to the Chairman for 

circulation to the Board if they have concerns. No such statements were 

made during 2009.

All potential situational and transactional conflicts of interest are 

disclosed, noted and authorised. Procedures are in place and operating 

effectively to keep such disclosures up to date.

Board committees
The Board is supported in its work by a number of committees. 

Information relating to the nomination and audit committees appears 

below and the activities of the remuneration committee are described  

in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 42 to 49. The Company 

Secretary acts as secretary to all Board committees. Committee 

chairmen provide oral reports on the work undertaken by their 

committees at the following Board meeting. 

Other Board committees include the executive directors committee. 

The Executive Directors are members of this committee under the 

chairmanship of the Chief Executive. The purpose is to assist the Chief 

Executive in the performance of his duties and its terms of reference 

include establishing and implementing internal policies, systems and 

controls to ensure that potential inside information is communicated  

to it, considered, verified and released to the market where required, the 

discharge of obligations arising under the Company’s share plans, the 

determination of the remuneration of the Non-executive Directors,  

and the approval of banking facilities. This committee met on eleven 

occasions during the year and, in addition, as required to respond  

to business needs and market conditions.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to 

undertake their duties.

Nomination committee report
David Turner is the Chairman of this committee. The other members  

are Peter Hooley, Marcus Beresford, John Patterson, Mark Ronald and 

Mike Hagee. Allan Cook retired from the committee in August 2009  

and John Devaney joined the committee in February 2010. All current 

members of the committee are independent. Details of their 

qualifications and experience are set out on pages 32 to 33. During  

the year the committee met on six occasions.

The committee’s terms of reference, which were reviewed during the 

year, are available on the Company’s website or on application to the 

Company Secretary. The committee’s main duties are to review the 

structure, size and composition of the Board and to consider succession 

planning for Directors and other senior executives. The committee  

dealt with these matters during the year and, in addition, made 

recommendations regarding the re-appointment of certain Directors  

at the 2009 AGM, and was engaged in searching, with the assistance of 

external search consultants, for the new Chief Executive and Chairman.

The nomination committee evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge 

and experience of the Board.

The significant commitments of the Chairman and other Non-executive 

Directors were disclosed to the Board before appointment and any 

changes are reported to the Board as they arise. Changes during the year 

are noted in the personal biographies on pages 32 and 33.

Directors’ professional development
On appointment, Directors are allocated an executive sponsor who 

assists the Director to undertake a structured induction programme in 

the course of which they receive information about the operations and 

activities of the Group, the role of the Board and the matters reserved 

for its decision, the Company’s corporate governance practices and 

procedures and their duties, responsibilities and obligations as Directors 

of a listed public limited company. This is supplemented by visits to key 

locations and meetings with, and presentations by, senior executives.

Training for Directors is available as required and is provided mainly by 

means of external courses or in-house presentations. In addition, 

Directors’ knowledge of the legal and regulatory environment is updated 

through the provision of information by the Group’s advisers and by 

means of regular briefings from the Company Secretary.

Performance evaluation
The Board conducts an evaluation of its activities on an annual basis. 

During 2009, the Board engaged an external evaluator to undertake a 

thorough and objective evaluation. The evaluation included interviews 

with the Board and other members of the senior management team. 

The Board considered the recommendations made and has approved  

an action plan to address these.
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the date of approval of the Annual Report and financial statements,  

is reviewed in accordance with the guidance for Directors on internal 

control issued by the Turnbull Committee. 

The audit committee monitors the adequacy of internal financial 

controls and compliance with Group standards through a combination 

of a self-assessment process involving all subsidiaries supplemented by 

regular financial assurance reviews and visits. The Board receives reports 

on a regular basis from the executive and audit committees in relation  

to the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control and has, 

accordingly, reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal 

control in respect of 2009. The review covered all material controls, 

including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk 

management systems.

Audit committee 
The Chairman of the committee is Peter Hooley. He is an independent 

Director and the Board is satisfied, since he was a Finance Director of  

a FTSE100 company until mid-2006, has been Chairman of the audit 

committee for seven years and is a chartered accountant, that he has 

‘recent and relevant financial experience’ as required by the Code.

The other members of the committee, all of whom are independent 

Directors, are Marcus Beresford, Mike Hagee and John Patterson. Details 

of their experience are set out on pages 32 to 33. During the year, the 

committee met on four occasions. 

The committee’s terms of reference, which were reviewed during the 

year, are available on the Company’s website or on application to the 

Company Secretary. The committee’s main duties are to monitor the 

integrity of the Company’s financial statements and any formal 

announcements relating to its financial performance, to consider the 

effectiveness of the Group’s internal financial control systems, to 

monitor and review the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit 

activities, to make recommendations as to the appointment, 

remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors, to 

monitor and review the external auditors’ independence and objectivity 

and the effectiveness of the audit process and to review arrangements 

by which the Group’s employees may confidentially raise concerns about 

possible improprieties. In relation to the latter, it is the committee’s 

objective to ensure that arrangements are in place for the proportionate 

and independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate 

follow up action to be taken.

Meetings of the committee are normally attended by invitation for  

part by the Chief Financial Officer, senior employees with responsibilities 

in relation to finance, accounting and internal control, and the external 

auditors. In addition, the committee holds meetings with the external 

auditors and the Head of Financial Assurance in the absence of 

executive management. Invitations to non-members are at the 

discretion of the committee.

At the majority of its meetings the committee considered reports  

from the external auditors and the Head of Financial Assurance as well  

as reports on risk management and internal controls. Reports were also 

considered on a number of matters including the pension scheme, 

Corporate governance continued

Financial reporting
In the Directors’ view, the Annual Report and Accounts for 2009, 

together with the interim management statements, the interim report 

and other reports made during the year, present a balanced and 

understandable assessment of the Group’s position and prospects. 

The Directors have adopted the going concern basis in preparing the 

Annual Report and Accounts as stated in the Financial review on pages 

22 to 27.

Internal control and risk management
The Group operates under a system of internal controls which has been 

developed and refined over time to meet its needs and the risks and 

opportunities to which it is exposed. This includes a strategic planning 

process involving the preparation of a five year plan, a comprehensive 

budgeting system with an annual budget which is approved by the 

Board, the regular revision of forecasts for the year, the monitoring of 

financial performance and the appropriate delegation of authorities to 

operational management. Delegations and other operational controls 

are contained in the Corporate Framework and the Group Finance 

Manual. Specifically with regard to the financial reporting process and 

the preparation of the group financial statements, the system includes 

an annual and semi-annual representation letter from all business units. 

Included in those letters are written acknowledgements that financial 

reporting is based upon reliable data and that the results are properly 

stated in accordance with Group policies. The audit committee has 

delegated to it the review and monitoring of the effectiveness of the 

internal controls including, but not limited to, financial controls and the 

Group’s risk management systems.

Risk management is an integral part of the system of internal control. 

Divisional Presidents are required to ensure that appropriate processes, 

including the maintenance of divisional risk registers, exist to identify  

and manage risks and to regularly carry out formal risk assessments.  

The executive undertakes a top-level review of significant risks and the 

Chief Executive reports regularly to the Board on their mitigation. 

During the year, an executive risk committee was established to give 

greater focus to the management of group wide risk. 

The principal risks identified by the Board are highlighted on pages  

28 to 29.

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal control,  

the aim of which is to manage risks that are significant to the fulfilment 

of the Group’s business objectives and to contribute to the safeguarding 

of shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets. It is also 

responsible for monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the 

system. However, such a system is designed to manage rather than 

eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only 

provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material 

misstatement or loss.

The Board confirms that there is an ongoing process for identifying, 

evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the Group. This 

process, which has been in place for the year under review and up to  
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Presentations were given on the day of the announcement of the 

preliminary and interim results. Copies of the associated presentation 

materials, together with webcasts, can also be accessed at  

www.cobhaminvestors.com.

The Board is kept informed of investors’ views through the receipt of 

regular reports from the Company’s brokers and updates from the Chief 

Executive and Chief Financial Officer. Any significant correspondence 

with shareholders is also made available.

Communication with shareholders takes place via RNS announcements, 

the Company’s website, the annual and interim reports, the interim 

management statements and the AGM. The AGM is attended by all 

Directors and shareholders have the opportunity to hear a statement  

as to progress made during the year, to question the Board on its 

stewardship of the Company and to meet Directors informally. The 

results of the votes on the resolutions proposed at the AGM are 

published on the Company’s website.

Responsibility statements
Statements relating to the responsibilities of the Directors are on  

page 50 and those relating to the auditors are on pages 51 and 106.

treasury and funding plans, taxation, disaster recovery planning and 

corporate governance issues. The Group has an anti-bribery, anti-

corruption policy and arrangements for handling whistle-blowing and 

the committee regularly receives and considers reports on calls made  

to the helpline. 

 

The committee believes that the current arrangements comprising  

a rotational programme of internal financial control reviews, visits to 

subsidiaries by the financial assurance function, business reviews carried 

out by the Chief Executive, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial 

Officer and a process of self-assessment of internal financial controls  

by all subsidiaries provides appropriate internal audit coverage of the 

Group’s activities. Where weaknesses have been identified, plans for 

remedying them are developed and progress monitored.

The committee and the external auditors have safeguards to avoid 

the possible compromise of the auditors’ objectivity and independence. 

These include the adoption by the committee of a policy regarding  

the supply of audit and non-audit services and of a policy on the 

employment of external audit staff. Non-audit services involving the 

review of interim financial information, tax services and accounting 

advice, and acquisition-related divestment due diligence can be provided 

subject to pre-approval by the committee where the cost of any 

individual engagement exceeds a pre-defined limit. The committee  

has received reports from the external auditors confirming their 

independence and objectivity.

The external auditors operate, in relation to the senior engagement 

auditor, a rotation policy after five years and a new audit partner was 

appointed in early 2009. The committee has reviewed the effectiveness 

of the external auditors and has recommended that a resolution is 

proposed at the AGM to re-appoint the external auditors and to allow 

the Board to set their remuneration. The committee is satisfied that  

the external auditors remain independent.

Fees paid to the external auditors during the year ended 31 December 

2009 are set out in note 2 to the Group financial statements.

Shareholder relations
The Board is accountable to shareholders for the performance and 

activities of the Group and therefore engages in regular dialogue with 

them. During the year the Chief Executive and Chief Financial Officer 

held regular meetings with fund managers and other shareholders to 

discuss information made public by the Group. 

In January 2009 and in October 2009, presentations for shareholders 

took place in London on businesses within the Cobham Defence 

Systems Division. Both of these presentations have been made available 

for viewing as webcasts on the investor relations section of the 

Company’s website at www.cobhaminvestors.com. A number of other 

opportunities were given to fund managers and others during the year 

to see Cobham products and to learn about them through access to  

and dialogue with operational management. 
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This report provides the information required by the Large and Medium-Sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008  

(the ‘Regulations’). 

It also describes how the Company applies the principles of the Code in relation to remuneration. The report has been approved by the Board  

and shareholder approval will be sought at the forthcoming AGM.

The remuneration committee
The committee’s main duties are to make recommendations to the Board on the Group’s policies on Executive Directors’ remuneration and to 

determine, on the Board’s behalf, the specific remuneration packages of the Chairman, Executive Directors and certain key senior executives.  

The committee’s terms of reference are available on the Company’s website or on application to the Company Secretary. 

The committee consists exclusively of independent Non-executive Directors and its members are John Patterson (Chairman), Peter Hooley, Mark 

Ronald, David Turner, Mike Hagee and Marcus Beresford. John Devaney joined the committee in February 2010. Committee meetings, scheduled  

in accordance with the annual timetable, take place four times a year and otherwise as required. The Chief Executive and Group Director of Human 

Resources are invited to attend meetings of the committee, other than when their own remuneration is being discussed.

The committee received advice during the year from Kepler Associates on remuneration strategy, incentive design and market data. Deloitte LLP 

replaced Kepler as advisers to the committee with effect from November 2009. Additional advice was received from the Group Director of Human 

Resources and the Company Secretary. Neither Kepler Associates nor Deloitte LLP provide other services to the Group or have any other connection 

with the Group.

Remuneration policy
The Board’s policy is to recruit, motivate and retain executives of high calibre by rewarding them for superior performance with competitive 

remuneration packages. In particular, the executive pay policy for the current and subsequent financial years is designed to retain those executives 

with the skills and experience necessary to enable the Group to achieve its objectives and satisfy shareholder expectations. 

The current remuneration strategy is to position base salaries around the median of the market to ensure the continued retention of key executives 

and to provide an opportunity to enhance this through both short term and long term incentives. The main elements of the remuneration package 

focus on supporting different objectives, as illustrated in the following table:

Element Purpose Based on

Salary Provide competitive base pay
Employment marketplace and individual 
responsibilities 

Annual bonus Motivate achievement of key annual objectives
Underlying earnings per share (EPS) growth, 
cash flow, personal objectives

Long term incentives

Incentivise profitable growth and sector  
out-performance

Reward relative share price and dividend growth

Provide alignment with shareholders’ interests

Support retention

Promote share ownership

Relative Total Shareholder Return (TSR), 
underlying EPS growth, Economic Profit

Pension
Provide competitive post-retirement
compensation and benefits Employment marketplace 

In defining Cobham’s remuneration policy, the committee takes into account best practice guidelines set by institutional investor bodies such as the 

Association of British Insurers. The Chairman of the Company also ensures the Company, through the committee and its chairman, maintains contact 

with principal shareholders about remuneration matters.

The Company’s short term incentives are paid, and long term incentives vest, only if stretching performance targets are achieved and the committee 

is satisfied that the executive has acted in a responsible and diligent manner. The remuneration committee considers corporate performance on 

governance issues when setting the remuneration of Executive Directors and senior executives, ensuring these good practice objectives are 

appropriately addressed in each individual’s personal objectives. The remuneration committee also reviewed whether incentive structures may raise 

risks by inadvertently motivating irresponsible behaviour and is of the view that this is not the case with the current incentive structures.

Directors’ remuneration report
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Around half of each Executive Director’s remuneration is variable and  

is linked to corporate performance. The following chart illustrates  

the proportions of the Executive Directors’ remuneration packages 

comprising fixed (i.e. salary and pension) and variable elements of pay, 

assuming target annual bonus and expected values of long term 

incentives are achieved.

Dilution
The Company’s share schemes are funded through a combination of 

shares purchased in the market and new issue shares, as appropriate. 

Funding of awards through new issue shares is subject to an overall 

dilution limit of 10% of issued share capital in any ten year period. Of  

this, 5% may be used in connection with the Company’s discretionary 

share schemes (e.g. the Performance Share Plan and Executive Share 

Option Scheme). As of 31 December 2009, 66.4m (5.80%) and 41.9m 

(3.65%) shares have been, or may be, issued pursuant to awards made  

in the previous ten years in connection with all share schemes and 

discretionary schemes respectively. Awards that are made, but then 

lapse or are forfeited, are excluded from the calculations.

Base salary
Executive Directors’ salaries are reviewed annually with changes taking 

effect from 1 January. The salary effective from 1 January 2010 for the 

Chief Executive Officer is £600,000 per annum and for the Chief Financial 

Officer is £428,400 per annum. Salaries are benchmarked by the 

committee’s advisers against comparable roles in (i) global UK listed 

aerospace and defence companies and (ii) UK based companies with  

a similar market capitalisation to the Company. When reviewing salaries 

the committee also assesses individual responsibilities, experience, 

performance and achievement of personal objectives. 

Annual bonus
The Company operates an annual cash bonus scheme for its Executive 

Directors. Bonuses were awarded by the committee in respect of  

2009 having regard to the performance of the Group and personal 

performance objectives for the year. The maximum annual bonus 

opportunity for Executive Directors is 100% of base salary, of which  

85% is determined by financial performance. The on-target bonus  

for Executive Directors is 50% of salary. 

For Executive Directors, financial performance is measured through 

underlying EPS growth and cash generation. Personal objectives for the 

Chief Executive are set and assessed by the Chairman, and by the Chief 

Executive for the other Executive Directors. The committee reviews  

and approves annual bonus awards for the Executive Directors and  

the key senior executives. The 2009 bonus awards for the Executive 

Directors were in the range of 91% to 93% of base salary. The financial 

components of the Executive Directors’ bonus in 2009 were earned in 

full. Actual group underlying EPS growth of 15.1% (measured at constant 

currency exchange rates and excluding the impact of pension finance 

charges) did not exceed the maximum performance level of 16%  

and actual Group cash generation of £213.6m (measured at constant 

currency exchange rates) exceeded the maximum performance level  

of £200.0m. 

Long term incentives
Executive Directors, senior executives and certain other staff are eligible 

to participate in the Company’s long term incentive arrangements. In 

2009, these included the Performance Share Plan (PSP), the Executive 

Share Option Scheme (ESOS) and, in the case of senior executives, the 

Bonus Co-investment Plan (BCP). The performance measures against 

which PSP, ESOS and BCP awards vest include relative TSR, real underlying 

EPS growth and absolute Economic Profit growth. Together these 

performance measures help ensure the interests of executives are 

aligned with those of shareholders (through TSR) whilst also reinforcing 

capital efficiency (Economic Profit) and bottom-line growth for 

shareholders (underlying EPS). The performance conditions for the  

2010 awards will be the same as those attached to the 2009 awards.

Bonus Co-investment Plan
The Executive Directors and other eligible senior executives were invited 

by the remuneration committee to defer up to 50% of their net earned 

annual bonus in 2008 (paid in Spring 2009) into Ordinary Shares in return 

for an opportunity to earn a matching award of shares against the gross 

bonus invested, on an up to 2:1 ratio. Matching awards vest after three 

years subject to stretching three-year Economic Profit growth targets. 

There is no phased vesting. Economic Profit targets are considered to be 

commercially sensitive and therefore are not disclosed at the start of the 

cycle, but will be declared at the time of vesting. In the event of a change 

of control, vesting of BCP matching awards is not automatic and would 

depend on the extent to which the performance conditions had been 

met at the time and the period elapsed since the date of grant.

Performance Share Plan
Under the PSP, approved by shareholders in 2007, conditional share 

awards of up to 150% of base salary may be granted annually to eligible 

executives. The individual limit of 150% of salary can be exceeded in 

exceptional circumstances involving the recruitment or retention of a 

senior employee by approval of the remuneration committee. During 

2009, awards were made to 28 senior executives, including the Executive 

Directors. The awards to the Executive Directors are disclosed on page 

49. These include the following awards made in August 2009.

An award of 313,370 conditional shares was made to Andy Stevens as 

part of his appointment to the role of the Chief Executive Officer. The 
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An additional option award over 313,370 shares was made to Andy 

Stevens as part of his appointment to the role of Chief Executive  

Officer on 12 August 2009, with a performance period commencing on  

1 January 2010, as shown in Table 3b on page 48. Options are granted  

at a price not less than the market value of the Ordinary Shares on, or 

shortly before, the date an option is granted and can be exercised up to 

ten years after grant, subject to certain conditions as described below. 

During 2009, options were granted to all the Executive Directors and 

nine other senior executives, as well as other staff across the Group.

The vesting of options granted in 2009 to Executive Directors and senior 

executives is conditional upon the growth in the Company’s underlying 

EPS exceeding inflation by at least 3% per annum over a three-year 

period. Options vest in full for underlying EPS growth of RPI+10% per 

annum. 25% vest for underlying EPS growth of RPI+3% per annum. 

Options vest on a straight-line sliding scale for performance between 

these levels; no options vest if underlying EPS growth is less than RPI+3% 

per annum. The vesting of options granted to US-based participants 

(other than senior executives whose awards are subject to performance) 

is conditional only on continued employment and vest in 25% 

increments on each anniversary of grant over four years. Such phased 

vesting is in line with common US practice.

In the event of a change of control, vesting of ESOS awards is not 

automatic and would depend on the extent to which the committee 

determines the performance conditions had been met at the time.  

Any vested awards not exercised within one month of the change  

of control would lapse. 

Other share schemes 
The Cobham Savings Related Share Option Scheme is an HMRC 

approved scheme open to all UK employees. The maximum that can  

be saved each month is £250 and savings plus interest may be used  

to acquire shares by exercising the related option. Options have been 

granted at a 20% discount to market value. The Executive Directors are 

permitted to participate in the scheme and details of their participation 

are included in Table 3b on page 48.

The Company also operates another HMRC approved all-employee share 

scheme, the Cobham Share Incentive Plan. This scheme operates within 

specific tax legislation and enables participants to buy Ordinary Shares 

out of pre-tax income. The Executive Directors are permitted to 

participate in the scheme and details of their participation are included 

in Table 3a on page 47.

Performance graph
The following graph illustrates the TSR performance (share price growth 

plus dividends) of the Company against the FTSE100 Index over the past 

five years. The FTSE100 Index was chosen as it is a recognised broad 

equity market index of which the Company is a member.

Directors’ remuneration report continued

award was granted on 12 August 2009, with a performance period 

commencing on 1 January 2010 and is shown in Table 4 on page 49.

An award of 216,234 conditional shares made to Warren Tucker  

on 14 August 2009, with a performance period commencing on  

1 January 2010 is shown in Table 4 on page 49.

Vesting of PSP awards is based 50% on the Company’s three-year  

TSR relative to a comparator group of aerospace and defence sector 

peers and 50% on the Company’s three-year real underlying EPS  

growth. Companies in the TSR comparator group for awards granted  

in 2009 were:

BAE Systems ITT Industries  Raytheon

Boeing  L-3 Communications  Rockwell Collins

EADS  Lockheed Martin  Rolls-Royce

Flir Systems Meggitt   Smiths Group

Goodrich  Northrop Grumman  VT Group

IMI   QinetiQ

Following a consultation with the Company’s largest shareholders in 

early 2009, the remuneration committee agreed the following PSP,  

TSR and EPS targets for 2009.

TSR-based awards in 2009 vest only if Cobham’s TSR over the three-year 

performance period is at least median, at which point 16.7% of the shares 

subject to this part of the award vest and the TSR-based award vests in 

full if the Company’s TSR outperforms the median by 10% per annum. 

Awards vest on a straight-line sliding scale for performance between 

these levels; no awards vest if TSR performance is below median. 

16.7% of the underlying EPS based awards in 2009 vest for compound 

growth in underlying EPS of RPI+4% over the three-year performance 

period. EPS based awards vest in full if underlying EPS grows by at least 

RPI+13% per annum. Awards vest on a straight-line sliding scale for 

performance between these levels; no awards vest if underlying EPS 

grows by less than RPI+4% per annum. 

To the extent that the performance targets are not met over the 

three-year performance period, awards will lapse, i.e. there is no 

re-testing of the performance conditions. In the event of a change of 

control, vesting of PSP awards is not automatic and would depend on 

the extent to which the performance conditions had been met at the 

time and the period elapsed since the date of grant. 

Executive Share Option Scheme
The ESOS was approved by shareholders at the 2004 AGM and amended 

at the 2007 AGM. It includes an ‘Approved’ plan, which has been 

approved by HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC), and an ‘Unapproved’ 

plan which is not designed for HMRC approval. Options to acquire 

Ordinary Shares may be awarded to participants up to a maximum 

annual value of 200% of base salary (300% for US-based participants). 

In March 2009, the Executive Directors were granted option awards over 

approximately 100% of salary. It is the committee’s intention that option 

awards to the Executive Directors in 2010 will be over broadly the same 

number of shares as were granted in March 2009. 
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Service contracts
The Board’s policy on notice periods for new Executive Directors is that 

these should not normally exceed one year. It recognises, however, that 

it may be necessary in the case of new executive appointments to offer 

a longer initial notice period which would subsequently reduce to one 

year. Andy Stevens’ service contract, which was revised on 6 August 

2009 to take effect from 1 January 2010, is terminable on one year’s 

notice by either party. Warren Tucker’s service contract dated 1 January 

2004 is terminable on one year’s notice by, and six months’ notice to,  

the Company. 

Allan Cook retired as a Director of the Company on 31 December 2009. 

On 2 December 2009, ASLM Consultants Limited and Mr Cook entered 

into a consultancy agreement with the Company which commenced on 

1 January 2010 under which Mr Cook’s services will be provided to the 

Company during 2010, as required by the Chief Executive Officer for up 

to a maximum of three days in any week and a maximum of 120 days 

per annum. The consultancy agreement provides an annual fixed fee of 

£250,000 for the services provided under the consultancy agreement. 

The Company may elect to terminate Directors’ service contracts by 

making payments in lieu of notice. Such payments are calculated by 

reference to the base salary otherwise payable during the notice period. 

Payments in respect of annual bonus for the relevant periods may also 

be payable. In the case of Warren Tucker, any payment in lieu of notice 

shall include a sum equal to the value of his annual benefits. The 

Company recognises and endorses the obligation of departing Directors 

to mitigate their own losses.

Personal shareholding
Non-executive Directors are required to acquire, within six months of 

election to the Board, and hold a shareholding of 5,000 Ordinary Shares.

Ownership guidelines require the Executive Directors to maintain Ordinary 

Shares to the value of at least one year’s salary and to retain a minimum of 

50% of net vested PSP, Long Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) and BCP matching 

shares, and shares equal to 50% of the net gains resulting from the exercise 

of ESOS options until the relevant shareholding level is met.

Non-executive Directors
The Board aims to recruit Non-executive Directors of a high calibre with 

broad commercial, international or other relevant experience. The Non- 

executive Directors do not have service contracts. Details of the terms of 

the appointment of the current Non-executive Directors are as follows:

Director Commencement date Expiry date

Peter Hooley 12 June 2002 8 May 2011

Marcus Beresford 1 March 2004 9 May 2013

John Patterson 1 November 2005 31 October 2011

Mark Ronald 8 January 2007 9 May 2013

David Turner 1 December 2007 30 November 2010

Mike Hagee 3 December 2008 2 December 2011

John Devaney 1 February 2010 9 May 2013

No compensation is payable in the event of an appointment being 

terminated early.

Directors’ pensions 
Executive Directors participate in the Cobham Executives Pension Plan 

(the ‘Pension Plan’). The Pension Plan provides benefits on final pay 

principles against a normal pension age of 60 subject to actuarial 

reduction for earlier retirement. Pension accrues at 1/30th of 

pensionable earnings, i.e. base salary (capped as appropriate), for each 

year of service and participants contribute at a rate of 7%-15% of 

pensionable earnings.

All pensions in payment relating to post-April 1997 rights are increased  

in line with the retail prices index (RPI), subject to a minimum of 3% per 

annum and a maximum of 5% per annum, with the balance of pension 

being increased at 3% per annum. On death in service, a lump sum of 

four times pensionable earnings is payable together with a spouse’s 

pension of two-thirds of the member’s prospective pension. On death 

after retirement, a spouse’s pension is paid at the rate of two-thirds of 

the member’s pre-commutation pension. Similar spouse’s pensions are 

payable on the death of a deferred pensioner prior to retirement.

The pension benefits of Directors who are members of the Pension Plan 

were restricted by the HMRC earnings cap until 5 April 2006 and 

thereafter by a scheme specific salary cap. Contributions in respect of 

such members were paid into funded unapproved retirement benefit 

schemes (FURBS) until 5 April 2006. No further contributions have been 

or will be made to FURBS after 6 April 2006. Cash payments in lieu of 

contributions to FURBS made to Directors are set out in notes to Table 1 

on page 46. 

The policy in respect of newly appointed Directors is that payments by 

the Company to a defined contribution top-up arrangement or in the 

form of non-pensionable cash allowances should normally be 2% of 

annual basic salary per month.

Details of Directors’ pension benefits as required by the Regulations are 

set out in Table 2 on page 47.

Value (£)
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

The executive directors committee, the membership of which comprises Executive Directors only, is responsible for recommending the 

remuneration of the Non-executive Directors with the exception of the Chairman, whose remuneration is determined by the remuneration 

committee. The current level of fees payable is as follows:

Chairman £260,000

Non-executive Director (basic) £55,000

Chairman of audit committee £10,000

Chairman of remuneration committee £10,000

Senior Independent Director £10,000

Membership of each of the audit and remuneration committees £2,500

Non-executive Directors do not participate in any of the Company’s share schemes, pension schemes or bonus arrangements.

Mark Ronald and Mike Hagee receive an allowance of £5,000 in respect of the additional travelling time required to ensure their attendance  

at Board meetings.

The Company reimburses reasonable travel and incidental expenditure incurred by Directors in attending meetings of the Board.

No additional fees are payable to the Chairman in respect of his membership of any of the committees or his chairmanship of the  

nomination committee.

Auditable part
The auditable part of this Directors’ remuneration report is set out on pages 46 to 49. 

Table 1: Directors’ emoluments 
The remuneration of the Directors, including the Chairman and the highest paid Director, was as follows:

 
Executive Directors’

base salaries
Fees and

other payments Bonus
Benefits

excluding pension
Total 

 excluding pension

£k 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

A E Cook1 610 567 212 197 567 533 32 25 1,421 1,322

W G Tucker2 420 389 101 93 382 374 26 23 929 879 

A J Stevens3 445 419 107 101 409 403 28 26 989 949

P Hooley – – 67 51 – – – – 67 51

M Beresford – – 70 54 – – – – 70 54

J S Patterson – – 67 51 – – – – 67 51

M H Ronald – – 63 515 – – – – 63 515

D J Turner – – 260 260 – – – – 260 260

M Hagee4 – – 64 4 – – – – 64 4

G F Page6 – – – 163 – – – 24 – 187

Total remuneration 1,475 1,375 1,011 1,025 1,358 1,310 86 98 3,930 3,808
Subject as follows, benefits relate to the provision of company cars and fuel, medical insurance and telephones. A E Cook’s and W G Tucker’s benefits include the provision of professional advice. A J Stevens’ benefits  

do not include telephones.
1  Emoluments for A E Cook 2009 include – under fees and other payments – the sum of £212,000 (2008: £197,000), in lieu of payments into an approved defined contribution top-up arrangement. These payments are 

not taken into account in calculating bonus and share scheme entitlements. A E Cook retired from the Board on 31 December 2009. A E Cook served as a Non-executive Director of WS Atkins plc during the year, for 

which the fee was £40,000 per annum. He was not required to waive or return this fee to the Company.
2  Emoluments for W G Tucker for 2009 include – under fees and other payments – the sum of £100,800 (2008: £93,000), in lieu of payments to an approved defined contribution top-up arrangement. These payments are 

not taken into account in calculating bonus and share scheme entitlements.
3  Emoluments for A J Stevens for 2009 include – under fees and other payments – the sum of £106,800 (2008: £101,000), in lieu of payments into an approved defined contribution top-up arrangement. These payments 

are not taken into account in calculating bonus and share scheme entitlements. A J Stevens was appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 1 January 2010.
4 M Hagee was appointed to the Board on 3 December 2008.
5 2008 fees restated to account for underpayment of Directors’ fees relating to 2008.
6 G F Page retired from the Board on 17 November 2008.
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Table 2: Directors’ pensions
      

Accrued pension
at 31.12.09

Increase  
in accrued 

 pension from  
previous year 
end (with no 
adjustment  

for inflation)

Additional 
 pension earned  

in excess  
of inflation  

during 2009

Transfer value  
of pension  

accrued in excess  
of inflation  

and members’ 
contributions  

during 2009

Transfer value  
of accrued  
pension at 

 31.12.08

Transfer value  
of accrued  
pension at 

 31.12.09

Additional
transfer value 

 in excess  
of inflation  

and members’ 
contributions  

during 2009

£ p.a. £ p.a. £ p.a. £ £ £ £

A E Cook 39,010 6,354 4,721 98,613 713,485 975,138 242,247

A J Stevens 26,615 5,646 4,597 71,654 344,600 527,156 163,149

W G Tucker 29,167 5,972 4,623 61,838 301,839 479,159 168,264

Members’ contributions taken into account in the above figures are:

Rate Total (£)

A E Cook 15% 19,406

A J Stevens 15% 19,406

W G Tucker  7%  9,056

The inflation figure used for 2009 is 5.0%, being the statutory revaluation rate for deferred pensioners for 2009.

Table 3(a): Directors’ share interests 
The interests of the Directors and their families in Ordinary Shares were:

At 01.01.09 At 31.12.09 

A E Cook 131,814 317,120*

W G Tucker 92,742 141,363*

A J Stevens 46,571 175,592*

P Hooley – 5,000

M Beresford 15,000 15,000

J S Patterson 5,000 5,000

M H Ronald – 5,000

D J Turner 20,000 20,000

M W Hagee – 5,000
* Includes BCP shares purchased and held in trust with Capita Offshore Trustees; A E Cook, 161,369; W G Tucker, 111,063; A J Stevens, 28,761.

Each of Messrs Cook and Stevens holds 2,610 shares and Mr Tucker holds 3,435 in the Share Incentive Plan. These holdings are not included  

in Table 3(a) above.

The above interests are all beneficial. Interests in share options and shares provisionally allocated under the LTIP, PSP and matched element  

of the BCP are not included in Table 3(a) but are disclosed in Tables 3(b) and 4 respectively. 

Interests at 2 March 2010, being a date no more than one month prior to the date of the notice convening the AGM, were the same as at  

31 December 2009. 
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Table 3(b): Directors’ share options 
Details of Directors’ interests in options over Ordinary Shares granted under the Cobham Savings Related Share Option Scheme and the  

ESOS 2004 were:

Number of options during the year

At 01.01.09 Granted Exercised Lapsed At 31.12.09
Exercise price  

– pence

Market price 
at date of 

exercise  
– pence

Date from 
which 

exercisable Expiry date

A E Cook*** 16,600 16,600** – – 84.0 179.1 01.02.09 01.08.09

3,780 – – 3,780 93.9 – 01.02.11 01.08.11

228,230* – – 228,230 134.7 – 20.09.07 20.09.14

246,820* – – 246,820 133.7 – 11.05.08 11.05.15

269,789* – – 269,789 185.3 – 20.04.09 20.04.16

4,620 – – 4,620 153.0 – 01.02.10 01.08.10

261,614* – – 261,614 204.5 – 26.03.10 26.03.17

278,619* – – 278,619 201.5 – 01.04.11 01.04.18

– 299,515* – – 299,515 184.0 – 11.03.12 11.03.19

Totals 1,310,072 299,515 16,600 – 1,592,987

W G Tucker 16,610 – – 16,610 107.6 – 01.02.12 01.08.12

155,860* – – 155,860 134.7 – 20.09.07 20.09.14

180,070* – – 180,070 133.7 – 11.05.08 11.05.15

186,154* – – 186,154 185.3 – 20.04.09 20.04.16

178,826* – – 178,826 204.5 – 26.03.10 26.03.17

190,450* – – 190,450 201.5 – 01.04.11 01.04.18

– 205,379* – – 205,379 184.0 – 11.03.12 11.03.19

Totals 907,970 205,379 – – 1,113,349

A J Stevens 15,350 – – 15,350 107.6 – 01.02.10 01.08.10

167,000* – – 167,000 134.7 – 20.09.07 20.09.14

180,070* – – 180,070 133.7 – 11.05.08 11.05.15

202,341* – – 202,341 185.3 – 20.04.09 20.04.16

192,543* – – 192,543 204.5 – 26.03.10 26.03.17

205,058* – – 205,058 201.5 – 01.04.11 01.04.18

– 217,603* – – 217,603 184.0 – 11.03.12 11.03.19

– 313,370* – – 313,370 191.5 – 31.03.13 31.03.20

Totals 962,362 530,973 – – 1,493,335
* Granted under the ESOS 2004. All other options were granted under the Cobham Savings Related Share Option Scheme.

** Exercised under the approved Cobham Savings Related Share Option Scheme on 31 July 2009, resulting in a profit of £15,786.60.

*** The remuneration committee determined that all options held by A E Cook under the ESOS 2004 may be exercised from their normal vesting date at any time up to the date that is 42 months after the date  

of the grant, subject to the satisfaction of any performance conditions.

The market price of the Ordinary Shares as at 31 December 2009 was 251.5p per share and the closing price range during the year was 165.1p  

to 251.7p.

No options under the ESOS 2004 have been exercised by the Directors and accordingly no gains were made by Directors on the exercise of share 

options during the year.
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Table 4: Allocations under the Cobham LTIP, PSP and matched element of the BCP3

Allocation at 
01.01.09

Conditionally 
awarded during 

the year1
Lapsed during 

the year 
Vested 

during year
Allocation at 

31.12.09

Monetary  
value of 

vested awards
– pence Expiry date2

A E Cook*** 138,681 – – 138,681**** – 171.9 20.04.09

251,174* – – – 251,174 – 12.06.10

281,439* – – – 281,439 – 01.04.11

156,314** – – – 156,314 – 25.03.11

– 331,381* – – 331,381 – 11.03.12

– 166,424** – – 166,424 – 11.08.12

W G Tucker 95,690 – – 95,690**** – 171.9 20.04.09

171,690* – – – 171,690 – 12.06.10

193,285* – – – 193,285 – 01.04.11

97,446** – – – 97,446 – 25.03.11

– 228,302* – – 228,302 – 11.03.12

– 124,680** – – 124,680 – 01.06.12

– 216,234* – – 216,234 – 31.03.13

A J Stevens 208,021 – – 208,021**** – 171.9 20.04.09

184,859* – – – 184,859 – 12.06.10

208,112* – – – 208,112 – 01.04.11

57,522** – – – 57,522 – 25.03.11

– 241,891* – – 241,891 – 11.03.12

– 313,370* – – 313,370 – 31.03.13
* Conditional awards under the PSP and **the matched element of the BCP.

***  The remuneration committee determined that conditional awards held by A E Cook under the PSP, and matching awards held by A E Cook under the BCP will (as permitted under the respective rules) vest on their 

normal vesting dates, subject to the satisfaction of the performance conditions. The number of shares subject to the conditional awards granted to A E Cook in 2009 under the PSP that vest will be reduced pro rata 

to reflect A E Cook’s period of service for 2009 only.

**** The LTIP vested on 20 April 2009 when the market price of an Ordinary Share was 171.9p. The market price at the time of award was 182.75p.

1 The market price of an Ordinary Share on 11 March, 1 June, 11, 12 and 14 August 2009, being the dates of the awards made during the year, was 181.4p, 179.3p, 191.1p, 194.5p and 196.2p respectively. 

2    The expiry date is the last date by which qualifying conditions in respect of any outstanding interests under the relevant plan have to be fulfilled. This date may either be the expiry of any relevant holding period or 

(where applicable) of any restricted period.

3   The number of BCP awards marked ** in the table above reflect matching shares granted against the net bonus invested. The rules of the scheme allow for a matched award based on the gross amount of the bonus, 

dependent upon satisfaction of the performance conditions. The exact amount of the entitlement will be ascertained upon vesting of the awards.

Allocations at 2 March 2010, being a date not more than one month prior to the date of the notice convening the AGM, were the same as at 

31 December 2009.

By order of the Board

J S Patterson 
Chairman of the remuneration committee, 3 March 2010
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The following statement sets out the responsibilities of the Directors  

in relation to the financial statements of both the Group and the 

Company. The reports of the independent auditors for the Group  

and the Company set out their responsibilities in relation to those 

financial statements.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for 

each financial year. Under that law the Directors have prepared the 

Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union, and the 

Cobham plc financial statements and the Directors’ remuneration report 

in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 

Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

The Group and Cobham plc financial statements are required by law to 

give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the 

Group and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period.

In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•  State that the Group financial statements comply with IFRS as 

adopted by the European Union, and with regard to the Cobham plc 

financial statements that applicable UK Accounting Standards have 

been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and 

explained in the financial statements; and

•  Prepare the Group and Cobham plc financial statements on the going 

concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group  

will continue in business. 

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above 

requirements in preparing the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping sufficient accounting records 

to disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position  

of the Company and the Group and to enable them to ensure that the 

Group financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 and 

Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and the Cobham plc financial statements 

and the Directors’ remuneration report comply with the Companies  

Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 

Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for  

the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are required to prepare financial statements and to 

provide the auditors with every opportunity to take whatever steps and 

undertake whatever inspections the auditors consider to be appropriate 

for the purpose of enabling them to give their audit report.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of  

the Annual Report on www.cobham.com in accordance with the UK 

legislation governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 

statements. Access to the website is available from outside the UK, 

where comparable legislation may be different.

The Directors consider that they have pursued the actions necessary  

to meet their responsibilities as set out in this statement.

Directors’ declaration in relation to relevant audit information
Having made enquiries of fellow Directors and of the Company’s 

auditors, each of the Directors confirms that:

•  To the best of his knowledge and belief, there is no relevant audit 

information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; and

•  He has taken all steps that a Director might reasonably be expected  

to have taken in order to make himself aware of relevant audit 

information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware  

of that information.

 
Directors’ responsibility statement
The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief that:

•  The financial statements, prepared in accordance with the applicable 

accounting standards identified above, give a true and fair view of the 

assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the Company 

and the Group; and

•  The Directors’ report and Business review include a fair review of the 

development and performance of the business and the position of 

the Group and the Company, together with a description of the 

principal risks and uncertainties that they face.

•  The names of the Directors and their details appear on pages  

32 to 33.

The responsibility statement was approved by the Board of Directors  

on 3 March 2010 and signed on its behalf by:

Andy Stevens
Chief Executive Officer

Warren Turner
Chief Financial Officer

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities



Cobham plc   |   Annual Report and Accounts 2009

|  G
ro

up fin
an

cial statem
en

ts 

51

Independent auditors’ report  
to the members of Cobham plc 

We have audited the financial statements of Cobham plc for the year 

ended 31 December 2009 which comprise the Group consolidated 

income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income, the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement  

of changes in equity, the consolidated cash flow statement, the related 

notes and the accounting policies. The financial reporting framework 

that has been applied in the preparation of the Group financial 

statements is applicable law and International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. 

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors 
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set 

out on page 50, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the 

Group financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true 

and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit the Group financial statements 

in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on 

Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with  

the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for 

the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 

16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not,  

in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other 

purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into 

whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior 

consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures 

in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that 

the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether 

caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the 

accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances  

and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the 

reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the 

Directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion, the Group financial statements: 

•  give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s affairs as at  

31 December 2009 and of its profit and cash flows for the year  

then ended; 

•  have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted  

by the European Union; 

•  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 

Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group financial statements, 

Article 4 of the lAS Regulation. 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies 
Act 2006 
In our opinion, the information given in the Group Directors’ report for 

the financial year for which the Group financial statements are prepared 

is consistent with the Group financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following: 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in 

our opinion: 

•  certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not 

made; or

•  we have not received all the information and explanations we require 

for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review: 

•  the Directors’ statement, set out on page 50, in relation to going 

concern; and 

•  the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the 

company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the June 2008 

Combined Code specified for our review. 

Other matter
We have reported separately on the parent company financial 

statements of Cobham plc for the year ended 31 December 2009  

and on the information in the Directors’ remuneration report that  

is described as having been audited.

Stuart Watson (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

Southampton, 3 March 2010

Notes:

(a)  The maintenance and integrity of the Cobham plc website is the responsibility of the Directors; the 

work carried out by the Auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly,  

the Auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial 

statements since they were initially presented on the website.

(b)  Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements 

may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

 



www.cobham.com

|  G
ro

up fin
an

cial statem
en

ts 

52

Accounting policies

General information
These financial statements are the consolidated financial statements  

of Cobham plc (‘the Company’), a public company limited by shares, 

registered and domiciled in the United Kingdom and its subsidiaries  

(‘the Group’). The address of the registered office is Brook Road, 

Wimborne, Dorset, England BH21 2BJ.

Basis of preparation
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)  

as adopted by the EU, International Financial Reporting Interpretation 

Council (IFRIC) interpretations and those parts of the Companies  

Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. 

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis 

under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of 

certain borrowings and derivative contracts which are held at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally 

accepted accounting principles requires the use of estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 

at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts  

of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although  

these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the 

amount, event or actions, actual results ultimately may differ from  

those estimates.

Standards, amendments to standards and interpretations, endorsed  

by the EU, which have been adopted from 1 January 2009 and which 

impact on the financial statements are as follows: 

•  IAS 1 (revised), Presentation of financial statements. These financial 

statements have been prepared under the disclosure requirements of 

the revised standard and accordingly the Group has chosen to present 

two performance statements: a consolidated income statement and  

a consolidated statement of comprehensive income (formerly the 

consolidated statement of recognised income and expense). Changes 

in equity such as dividends are shown in a separate consolidated 

statement of changes in equity.

•  IFRS 8, Operating segments. In accordance with this standard, 

segment information has been presented on the same basis as used 

for internal management reporting as provided to the chief operating 

decision maker. Segment information prepared on this basis is 

presented in note 1.

•  IFRS 2, Share-based Payments (amendment). This has restricted  

the definition of vesting conditions to service and performance 

conditions and confirmed that all cancellations (whether by the 

employee or the entity) receive the same accounting treatment.  

The impact of adoption of this amendment has been to accelerate 

charges to the income statement where such cancellations occur and 

to restate the fair value at grant date of awards under the ShareSave 

scheme to take into account estimated employee cancellation rates. 

The adjustment in respect of prior years required on adoption of  

this amendment was not material and, in accordance with IAS 8, 

Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors,  

has been accounted for in the current year. 

•  Amendments to IFRS 7, Improving Disclosures about Financial 

Instruments. These amendments have resulted in some changes  

to the disclosures in notes 26 and 27. 

The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations 

which have been endorsed by the EU, have also been adopted with 

effect from 1 January 2009 or as stated below. No changes to previously 

published accounting policies or other adjustments were required on 

their adoption.

•  Amendments to IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1, 

Presentation of Financial Statements – Puttable Financial Instruments 

and Obligations Arising on Liquidation, issued in January 2008.

•  Amendments to IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial 

Reporting Standards and IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate 

Financial Statements.

• IFRS Annual improvements 2008.

• IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes.

• IFRIC 15, Agreements for Construction of Real Estate.

• IFRIC 16, Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation.

•  IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers (applies to transfers 

received after 1 July 2009).

The principal accounting policies, which have been consistently applied, 

are as set out below. 

Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements include the financial statements of the 

parent company and of all its subsidiaries made up to the end of the 

financial period. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity 

method and include the Group’s share of the total recognised gains and 

losses of joint ventures from the date that joint control commences until 

the date this ceases. 

Businesses acquired are accounted for as acquisitions using the purchase 

method of accounting, with effect from the date control passes. 

Acquisitions of minority interests are accounted for using the economic 

entity method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value  

of the consideration given plus directly attributable acquisition costs. 

Businesses disposed of are accounted for up until control passes at the 

point of their disposal. The results of businesses disposed of, and of 

those classified as held for sale at the year end are disclosed as arising 

from discontinued operations where they meet the criteria to be treated 

as such.

Businesses acquired with the intention of sale in the short term are not 

consolidated and are held at their fair value less costs to sell. The results 

of such businesses are not reflected in the Group results.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are 

eliminated on consolidation. 
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to include intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, investment 

properties, inventory and trade and other receivables. They do not 

include tax receivables, cash and bank balances and derivative financial 

assets. This definition of segment assets is consistent with disclosures 

given in previous years in accordance with IAS 14. 

Pensions
The Group operates a number of defined benefit and defined 

contribution schemes. 

For defined benefit schemes the amounts charged to operating profit 

are the current service costs. Gains and losses on settlements and 

curtailments arising on a business disposal are included in profit on 

disposal. Past service costs are recognised immediately in the income 

statement if the benefits have vested. If the benefits have not vested, 

the costs are recognised over the period until vesting occurs. The 

expected return on assets and interest cost are shown within finance 

income and expense. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised 

immediately in the statement of comprehensive income.

Defined benefit schemes are funded, with the assets of the scheme held 

separately from those of the Group in separate trustee administered 

funds. Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities  

are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method and 

discounted at a rate equivalent to the current rate of return on a high 

quality corporate bond of equivalent currency and term to the scheme 

liabilities. The actuarial valuations are obtained at least triennially and are 

updated at each balance sheet date. The resulting defined benefit asset 

or liability is presented separately on the face of the balance sheet.

For defined contribution schemes the amounts charged to the income 

statement in respect of pension costs and other post-retirement 

benefits are the contributions payable in the year. Differences between 

contributions payable in the year and contributions actually paid are 

recorded as either accruals or prepayments in the balance sheet.

Taxation including deferred taxation
The tax expense relates to the sum of current tax and deferred tax. 

Current tax is based on taxable profit for the year, which differs from 

profit before taxation as reported in the income statement. Taxable 

profit excludes items of income and expense that are taxable or 

deductible in other years and also excludes items that are never taxable 

or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using  

rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 

sheet date. 

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method  

in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 

assets and liabilities and their carrying values in the consolidated  

financial statements. 

Temporary differences arise primarily from the recognition of deficits  

on the Group’s defined benefit pension schemes, accelerated tax 

depreciation and acquisition accounting. Deferred tax liabilities are 

recognised for taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets  

Underlying measures
In addition to the information required by IFRS and to assist with the 

understanding of earnings trends, the Group has included within its 

published statements trading profit and underlying earnings results.

Trading profit and underlying earnings have been defined as operating 

profit from continuing operations excluding the impacts of certain 

acquisition related costs, portfolio restructuring costs, the marking to 

market of currency instruments not realised in the period and 

impairments of goodwill. 

Acquisition related costs excluded from trading profit and underlying 

earnings include the amortisation of intangible assets recognised on 

acquisition, the writing off of the pre-acquisition profit element of 

inventory written up on acquisition, costs charged post acquisition 

related to acquired share options and direct costs associated with 

exceptional terminated acquisitions.

Portfolio restructuring costs comprise exceptional profits or losses 

arising on disposals actually completed, as well as exceptional costs or 

profits associated with the restructuring of the Group’s business and 

site integrations. 

All underlying measures include the revenue and operational results  

of both continuing and discontinued businesses until the point of sale  

of the operation. 

Net debt is defined as the net of cash and cash equivalents less 

borrowings at the balance sheet date.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the right to consideration and  

is recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership have been passed 

to the customer. Revenue for services is recognised as the services are 

rendered. It excludes inter-company sales, value added tax and other 

sales taxes. In the case of contracts with a long duration, revenue is 

recognised based upon the fair value of work performed to date 

assessed with reference to contract milestones.

Operating segments
The chief operating decision making body for the Group has been 

identified as the Board. It reviews the Group’s internal reporting in order 

to assess performance and allocate resources, which is based on the 

Group’s operating Divisions and has been used to determine operating 

segments. There has been no change to the definition of the reported 

segments as a result of the adoption of IFRS 8. These segments are 

described further in note 1. Details of the composition and purpose  

of the Board can be found on page 38.

The Board assesses the performance of operating Divisions based on 

revenue, trading profit as defined above and operating cash generation. 

Interest income and expenditure, and taxation are not segmented  

and are reviewed by the Board on a Group basis. 

The Board does not review any information on segment assets and 

liabilities. Segment assets as disclosed in note 1 have been defined  
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are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 

available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance 

sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 

sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the assets 

to be recovered. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates and laws that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and that are 

expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability 

is settled. Tax is charged or credited to the income statement except 

when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income 

(OCI) or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt 

with in OCI or in equity respectively. 

Tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable 

right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when 

the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are 

fully authorised. 

Share-based payments
For grants made under the Group’s equity settled share-based payment 

schemes, amounts which reflect the fair value of options awarded as at 

the time of grant are charged to the income statement over the relevant 

vesting periods.

The costs of awards made under cash settled share-based payment 

schemes are measured initially at the grant date and expensed over the 

vesting period. The liability is remeasured at each balance sheet date up 

to and including the settlement date with changes in fair value 

recognised through the income statement.

The valuation methodology for all schemes is based on the Black-

Scholes model, modified where required to allow for the impact of 

market related performance criteria and taking into account all 

non-vesting conditions.

 

Where the terms of share-based payment schemes have been modified  

as a result of acquisition, the costs of awards have been allocated between 

acquisition cost and post-combination expense based on the proportion 

of the vesting period completed prior to the acquisition and the respective 

fair values of the original and replacement awards at that date. 

Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the 

Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 

a business, subsidiary or joint venture at the date of acquisition. Goodwill 

acquired is allocated at acquisition to the cash generating units that are 

expected to benefit from that business combination. Cash generating 

units (CGUs) are typically business units which are separately managed, 

for which financial results are individually reported and which generate 

cash flows that are largely independent.

Goodwill arising on overseas acquisitions since the date of transition to 

IFRS is treated as a foreign currency asset and revalued at the balance 

sheet date. Foreign exchange differences arising are taken through other 

comprehensive income to the translation reserve and recycled to the 

income statement when the related subsidiary is sold. 

Goodwill arising on acquisitions of businesses, subsidiaries and joint 

ventures is capitalised and reviewed for impairment at least annually.  

Any impairment is recognised immediately in the income statement and 

cannot be subsequently reversed.

On disposal of a subsidiary or joint venture, the attributable amount of 

goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal. 

Research and development
Research expenditure not chargeable to customers is written off as 

incurred. Development costs not chargeable to customers are written 

off as incurred until it can be demonstrated that the conditions for 

capitalisation as described in IAS 38, Intangible Assets, are met. At  

that point further costs are capitalised as an intangible asset until the 

intangible asset is readily available for use and it is then amortised  

on a straight-line basis over the asset’s estimated useful life. 

Other intangible assets
Intangible assets other than goodwill which are acquired by the Group 

are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

These include customer relationships, technology and software, 

trademarks, licences and patents. The only internally generated 

intangible assets are development costs which are capitalised as 

described above, and internally developed software where asset 

recognition criteria are met. 

All other intangible assets are amortised over the asset’s estimated useful 

life on a straight-line basis as follows:

Customer relationships 2 to 15 years 

Technology and software 2 to 10 years

Development costs 2 to 10 years

Other intangible assets 6 months to 10 years

Useful lives are assessed for each asset on an individual basis taking into 

account the specific characteristics of the asset. 

Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land is not depreciated, but is reviewed for impairment at 

least annually. 

Freehold and leasehold buildings, plant and equipment are held at 

historic cost less accumulated depreciation and any recognised 

impairment losses. 

All property, plant and equipment other than land is depreciated on  

a straight-line basis to the estimated residual values over the estimated 

useful lives. These lives are as follows:

Accounting policies continued
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Financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets are categorised on initial recognition as assets held at  

fair value through profit or loss, or loans and receivables dependent  

upon the purpose for which the assets were acquired and as follows: 

•  Assets held at fair value through profit or loss are those held for 

trading in the short term and are classified as current assets.

•  Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed  

or determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market. 

These are classified as current or non-current assets dependent upon 

maturity and included within trade and other receivables.

None of the Group’s material financial assets fall into the held to maturity 

or available for sale categories which are defined as follows: 

•  Held to maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with 

fixed maturity dates which the Group intends to hold to maturity.

•  Available for sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial 

assets either designated by management as available for sale or not 

falling into any of the above categories. 

Financial liabilities are categorised on initial recognition as liabilities held 

at fair value through profit or loss, or other liabilities held at cost. 

Liabilities held at fair value through profit or loss are those held for 

trading in the short term and are classified as current or non-current 

liabilities dependent upon the maturity date of the instruments. 

Derivatives are categorised as held for trading unless they are designated 

as hedges. 

When a financial asset or liability is recognised initially, it is measured at 

its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not  

at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial 

liability. Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are carried  

at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Financial liabilities 

not at fair value through profit or loss are stated at amortised cost. 

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are stated at their amortised cost, reduced 

by appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts. 

Allowances for irrecoverable amounts are made when there is evidence 

that the Group may not be able to collect the amount due. All trade 

receivables which are more than six months overdue are provided for 

based on estimated irrecoverable amounts determined by reference  

to past default experience. Amounts which are less than six months 

overdue are provided where recovery of the balance due is considered 

to be doubtful. The impairment recorded is the difference between the 

carrying value of the receivables and the present value of the estimated 

future cashflows. Any impairment required is recorded in the income 

statement in administrative expenses. The balance may be written off  

in full generally where receivables are in excess of 12 months old. At that 

time, any amounts previously provided for impairment are released. 

Freehold buildings
(including investment properties) 50 years

Leasehold properties The period of the lease

Plant and equipment 3 to 15 years

Estimated residual values and the estimated useful lives are reviewed 

annually and adjusted where necessary. 

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected 

useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, where shorter, the 

term of the relevant lease. 

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is 

determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the 

carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the income statement. 

Investment properties
Investment properties, which are properties held to earn rentals and/or 

for capital appreciation, are stated at cost at the balance sheet date. 

They are depreciated on a straight-line basis to their estimated residual 

value over their estimated useful lives. 

Rental income is recognised as revenue on a straight line basis.

Aircraft overhaul expenditure
Major overhaul expenditure on owned aircraft is capitalised when 

incurred and the resultant property, plant and equipment is depreciated 

over its useful economic life. Major overhaul costs that are contractually 

required on aircraft held under operating leases are provided for over the 

period between the scheduled maintenance events. 

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost 

comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and 

those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to 

their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the first-in, 

first-out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling 

price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in 

marketing, selling and distribution. 

Pre-contract and bid costs
All costs directly attributable to securing contracts incurred after the 

point that they become virtually certain, but before commencement of 

the contract, are recognised as an asset. Such costs are amortised to the 

income statement over the period for which this activity will continue  

to provide value. 

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s 

balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are recognised at 

trade date. 
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attributable to the hedged risk. The gains or losses relating to interest 

rate swaps hedging fixed rate borrowings are recognised in finance 

income and expense in the income statement. 

Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of changes in fair value of derivatives that are 

designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in OCI. The 

gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately 

in the income statement. Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled 

to finance income and expense in the income statement in the periods 

when the hedged item affects profit or loss.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no 

longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or 

loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised 

when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the income 

statement. If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the 

net cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is immediately 

transferred to the income statement for the period.

The fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a current asset or 

liability except when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more 

than 12 months. 

Foreign currencies
The presentation currency of the Group is sterling. Most Group 

companies, including the parent company, use their local currency as 

their functional currency. Transactions in currencies other than the 

functional currency are translated at the exchange rate ruling at the date 

of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denoted in non-

functional currencies are retranslated at the exchange rate ruling at the 

balance sheet date and any exchange differences arising are taken to  

the income statement. 

In order to manage its exposure to certain foreign exchange risks the 

Group enters into forward contracts which are accounted for as 

derivative financial instruments.

For consolidation purposes the assets and liabilities of overseas 

subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures are translated at the closing 

exchange rates. Income statements of such undertakings are 

consolidated at the average rates of exchange as an approximation  

for actual rates during the year. Exchange differences arising on these 

translations are accounted for in other comprehensive income and  

the translation reserve.

Disposal groups held for sale
Disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount 

and fair value less costs to sell when the sale is highly probable and 

expected to be completed within a year of the balance sheet date.  

The disposal group is also to be available for immediate sale and being 

actively marketed at a price that is reasonable in relation to its current 

fair value. Businesses acquired with the intention to sell are held at fair 

value less costs to sell.

Trade payables
Trade payables do not carry any interest and are stated at their 

nominal value.

Bank borrowings
Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the amount 

of proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Borrowing costs, net of 

amounts capitalised, including premiums payable on settlement or 

redemption and direct issue costs, are charged to the income statement 

and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent 

that they are not settled in the period in which they arise. Borrowing 

costs that are directly attributable to relevant property, plant and 

equipment are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits  

with an original maturity of three months or less. Bank overdrafts that 

are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash 

management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents 

for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement. 

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative 

contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair 

value. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on 

whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument and, if so, 

the nature of the item being hedged.

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes 

in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The Group uses 

foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate swap contracts to 

reduce these exposures. The Group does not use derivative financial 

instruments for speculative purposes.

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the 

relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well  

as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various 

hedge transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both  

at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives 

used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes  

in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

Foreign exchange derivatives entered into to mitigate foreign exchange 

impacts of trading in non-functional currencies are not accounted for 

using hedge accounting and movements in fair values are shown 

separately in the income statement as part of operating profit. Foreign 

exchange derivatives entered into to mitigate foreign exchange impacts 

arising on the acquisition of fixed assets are accounted for as cash 

flow hedges. 

Fair value hedges
Changes in fair values of derivatives that are designated and qualify as 

fair value hedges are recorded in the income statement, together with 

any changes in the fair values of the hedged asset or liability that are 

Accounting policies continued
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Provisions are discounted at an appropriate risk-free rate when the 

impact is material.

Impairment losses
The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at least 

annually to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If 

any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and 

value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 

discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 

reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 

risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows 

have not been adjusted.

An impairment loss is recognised where the carrying amount of an asset 

is higher than its recoverable amount. An intangible asset with an 

indefinite useful life is tested for impairment annually and whenever 

there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Any impairment 

losses are recognised in the income statement. 

An impairment loss (other than arising on goodwill) is reversed only after 

a change in the estimates used to assess recoverable amount and only 

to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 

carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation 

or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. Any reversal 

is recognised in the income statement.

Share capital
Ordinary share capital is classified as equity. Financial liabilities and equity 

instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual 

arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that 

evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting 

all of its liabilities. 

Preference share capital is classified as a liability if it is redeemable on  

a specific date or at the option of the preference shareholders or if 

dividend payments are not discretionary. Dividends on preference share 

capital classified as liabilities are recognised in the income statement as 

finance expense.

The Group accounting policies as described above are applied 

consistently across all Divisions and activities. Trading between Group 

companies is contracted and priced at arm’s length commercial terms. 

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on 

historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The 

current economic conditions have been considered when evaluating 

accounting estimates and judgements, including the application of the 

going concern basis of preparation.

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease 

transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. 

All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group  

at their fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease 

payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The 

corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as  

a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between 

finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve  

a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

Finance charges are charged directly to the income statement.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the income 

statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an 

operating lease are also spread on a straight-line basis over the 

lease term.

Provisions
A provision is required when the Group has a present legal or 

constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that 

settlement will be required of an amount that can be reliably estimated.

Provisions for warranty costs are recognised at the date of sale of the 

relevant products, at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure 

required to settle the Group’s liability. 

Provisions for onerous contracts are recognised when the expected 

benefits to be derived by the Group from a contract are lower than  

the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. 

Provisions for contingent consideration are recognised when it is 

considered probable that the conditions attaching to potential payment 

will be met. 

Aircraft maintenance provisions are established in respect of significant 

periodic maintenance costs, where maintenance activity is required on 

leased operational aircraft or engines on a cycle greater than 12 months. 

Costs are charged to the income statement on the basis of utilisation  

of the aircraft. Maintenance carried out on a cycle of 12 months or less  

is charged to the income statement as incurred.

When aircraft are leased, it is customary for the contract to contain 

specific conditions regarding the configuration of the aircraft on  

its return to the lessor at the end of the lease. The estimated cost 

associated with fulfilling these requirements is charged to the income 

statement on an aircraft utilisation basis. 

Provisions for claims made against the Group and commitments made 

under performance guarantees are recognised at the directors’ best 

estimates of the expenditure required to settle the Group’s liabilities. 
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Retirement benefits
The Group financial statements include costs and liabilities in relation  

to retirement benefit obligations. A number of assumptions are made in 

assessing the costs and present value of the pension assets and liabilities 

which include the long-term rate of increase of salary costs, discount 

rate, inflation, the expected return on plan assets and mortality rates. 

The Group uses published indices and independent actuarial advice to 

select the values of critical assumptions, which are disclosed in note 10. 

Accounting standards not yet effective
Certain new standards and amendments to existing standards have 

been published that are mandatory for future accounting periods, 

subject to EU endorsement. Those which the Group has not adopted 

early and which are applicable from 1 January 2010 are as follows:

•  Revisions to IFRS 3, Business Combinations and IAS 27, Consolidated 

and Separate Financial Statements issued in January 2008. These 

include consequential amendments to IAS 28 and IAS 31. Under  

IFRS 3 (Revised) all payments to purchase a business are to be 

recorded at fair value at the acquisition date, with contingent 

payments classified as debt subsequently re-measured through the 

income statement. Also, all acquisition related costs will be expensed. 

The revisions also change the accounting for non-controlling 

(minority) interests and changes therein. The Group will apply IFRS 3 

(Revised) to business combinations completed after 1 January 2010.

•  Amendment to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement: Eligible Hedged Items and Amendment to IAS 39 

Reclassification of Financial Assets: Effective Date and Transition are 

unlikely to impact on the Group’s accounting policies. 

•  Revised IFRS 1, First Time Adoption of IFRS and Amendments to  

IFRS 1, Additional Exemptions for First-time adopters will not have an 

impact on the Group.

•  IFRIC 17, Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners is unlikely to 

impact on the Group’s accounting policies.

•  Amendment to IFRIC 9 and IAS 39, Embedded Derivatives is unlikely 

to impact on the Group’s accounting policies.

•  Amendment to IFRS 2, Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment 

Transactions is unlikely to impact on the Group’s accounting policies.

Subject to EU endorsement, the revised IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures, 

the Amendment to IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding 

Requirement, IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity 

Instruments and the Amendment to IFRS 1 Limited Exemption from 

Comparative IFRS 7 Disclosure for First-time Adopters are effective from 

1 January 2011. These are not expected to have a significant impact on 

the Group’s disclosures. Subject to EU endorsement, IFRS 9 Financial 

Instruments is effective from 1 January 2013.

Management judgement and estimation uncertainty
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies management 

has made a number of judgements, none of which are considered to 

have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 

financial statements.

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future are also made by the 

Group. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom 

equal the related actual results. The key assumptions concerning the 

future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance 

sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment  

to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the next financial year, 

are as follows:

Intangible assets recognised on acquisition
On completion of a business combination, the cost is allocated by 

recognising the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 

acquired at fair value. Intangible assets are recognised where they are 

separable or arise from contractual or legal rights, and have a fair value 

that can be measured reliably. For the Group these intangible assets 

usually comprise contractual arrangements, customer relationships  

and technology based assets, but can also include acquired patents, 

software rights and licences and development costs.

In establishing fair value for these intangible assets recognised on 

acquisition and their estimated useful lives, the Group takes account  

of the individual circumstances of the entity acquired. This includes 

trading data, such as value and duration of contracts acquired, strength, 

duration and degree of exclusivity of relationships with customers,  

as well as valuation estimates, such as the estimation of likely external 

royalty rates that could be associated with technology and branding 

assets and attributable future cash flows. 

Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an 

annual basis. This requires estimation of the value in use of the cash 

generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value 

in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future 

cash flows from the cash generating units and also to choose a suitable 

discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. 

Further details are given in note 14.

Taxation
The Group is subject to taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant 

judgement is required in determining the worldwide provision for tax. 

There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 

determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The 

Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on 

estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax 

outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were 

initially recorded, such differences will impact the current tax provision, 

deferred tax provisions and income statement in the period in which 

such determination is made.

Accounting policies continued
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Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2009

£m Note 2009 2008

Continuing operations
Revenue 1,2 1,880.4 1,466.5

Cost of sales (1,284.0) (1,008.5)

Gross profit 596.4 458.0

Selling and distribution costs (90.4) (76.0)

Administrative expenses (268.4) (200.0)

Share of post-tax results of joint ventures 6.1 6.0

Unrealised gains/(losses) on revaluation of currency instruments 26 42.9 (59.5)

Operating profit 2 286.6 128.5

Finance income 3 37.6 56.5

Finance expense 3 (79.3) (64.3)

Profit on continuing operations before taxation   1 244.9 120.7

Tax on continuing operations 4 (59.0) (28.1)

Profit on continuing operations after taxation 185.9 92.6

Discontinued operations
Profit after taxation from discontinued operations 32 – 2.9

Profit after taxation for the year 185.9 95.5

Profit attributable to equity shareholders 185.8 95.4

Profit attributable to minority interests 0.1 0.1

Profit after taxation for the year 185.9 95.5

Earnings per Ordinary Share 6

– Basic 16.26p 8.38p

– Diluted 16.17p 8.34p

Earnings per Ordinary Share from continuing operations 6

– Basic  16.26p 8.13p

– Diluted  16.17p 8.08p

Trading profit is calculated as follows:

£m Note 2009 2008

Operating profit from continuing operations 2 286.6 128.5

Adjusted to exclude:

Portfolio restructuring 8 7.7 7.4

Unrealised (gains)/losses on revaluation of currency instruments 26 (42.9) 59.5

Amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisition 7 78.7 46.8

Acquisition related adjustments 7 6.9 9.4

Trading profit 7 337.0 251.6
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income   
For the year ended 31 December 2009

£m Note 2009 2008

Profit after taxation for the year 185.9 95.5

Net translation differences on investments in overseas subsidiaries 30 (3.8) 51.8

Actuarial loss on pensions 10 (72.5) (27.2)

Actuarial loss on other retirement obligations 10 – (0.8)

Movements in hedged financial instruments 26 22.0 (53.1)

Tax effects 4 14.1 20.9

Other comprehensive expense for the year (40.2) (8.4)

Total comprehensive income for the year 145.7 87.1

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent 145.6 87.0

Minority interest 0.1 0.1

145.7 87.1
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Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 December 2009 

£m Note 2009 2008

Assets

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 13 1,063.0 1,211.8

Property, plant and equipment 15 318.2 291.1

Investment properties 16 11.3 13.0

Investments in joint ventures 17 17.4 16.9

Trade and other receivables 19 44.4 22.2

Derivative financial instruments 26 2.3 0.7

Deferred taxation assets 23 22.3 9.0

1,478.9 1,564.7

Current assets
Inventories 18 249.8 246.8

Trade and other receivables 19 329.1 357.4

Corporation tax 9.8 12.6

Derivative financial instruments 26 8.1 1.1

Cash and cash equivalents 20 366.4 311.0

963.2 928.9

Assets classified as held for sale 32 – 66.0

963.2 994.9

Liabilities

Current liabilities
Borrowings 24 (402.8) (823.9)

Trade and other payables 21 (357.1) (333.8)

Derivative financial instruments 26 (10.6) (45.3)

Corporation tax (80.7) (45.1)

Provisions 22 (52.5) (75.2)

(903.7) (1,323.3)

Liabilities classified as held for sale 32 – (19.4)

(903.7) (1,342.7)

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 24 (376.2) (128.4)

Trade and other payables 21 (26.8) (37.6)

Derivative financial instruments 26 (26.7) (67.1)

Deferred taxation liabilities 23 (37.3) (58.0)

Provisions 22 (7.9) (25.8)

Retirement benefit obligations 10 (115.2) (51.2)

(590.1) (368.1)

Net assets 948.3 848.8

Equity
Called up share capital 29 28.6 28.5

Share premium account 112.5 103.9

Other reserves 30 53.8 37.2

Retained earnings 753.1 678.6

Total shareholders’ equity 948.0 848.2

Minority interest in equity 0.3 0.6

Total equity 948.3 848.8

Net debt 12 (412.6) (641.3)

Approved by a duly appointed and authorised committee of the Board on 3 March 2010 and signed on its behalf by:

AJ Stevens
WG Tucker
Directors 
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£m

Called up 
 share 

 capital

Share 
 premium 
 account

Other 
 reserves
(note 30)

Retained 
 earnings

Total 
 shareholders’ 

equity

Minority 
 interest 

 in equity
Total 

 equity

Total equity at 1 January 2008 28.4 98.8 19.3 657.2 803.7 0.4 804.1

Profit for the year – – – 95.4 95.4 0.1 95.5

Actuarial loss on pensions – – – (27.2) (27.2) – (27.2)

Actuarial loss on other retirement obligations – – – (0.8) (0.8) – (0.8)

Net translation differences on investments 
in overseas subsidiaries – – 51.8 – 51.8 – 51.8

Movements in hedged financial instruments 
(note 26) – – (54.4) 1.3 (53.1) – (53.1)

Recycling of cash flow hedge fair values – – 1.3 (1.3) – – –

Tax effects (note 4) – – 14.5 6.4 20.9 – 20.9

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 13.2 73.8 87.0 0.1 87.1

Issue of shares 0.1 5.1 – – 5.2 – 5.2

Purchase of treasury shares – – – (1.1) (1.1) – (1.1)

Dividends authorised (note 5) – – – (52.7) (52.7) – (52.7)

Share-based payments recognised in 
reserves (note 11) – – 6.1 – 6.1 – 6.1

Realisation of share options reserve  
on exercise (note 30) – – (1.4) 1.4 – – –

Foreign exchange – – – – – 0.1 0.1

Total equity at 31 December 2008 28.5 103.9 37.2 678.6 848.2 0.6 848.8

Total equity at 1 January 2009 28.5 103.9 37.2 678.6 848.2 0.6 848.8

Profit for the year – – – 185.8 185.8 0.1 185.9
Actuarial loss on pensions – – – (72.5) (72.5) – (72.5)
Net translation differences on investments 
in overseas subsidiaries – – (3.8) – (3.8) – (3.8)
Movements in hedged financial instruments 
(note 26) – – 8.1 – 8.1 – 8.1
Recycling of cash flow hedge fair values 
(note 26) – – 13.9 – 13.9 – 13.9
Tax effects (note 4) – – (6.2) 20.3 14.1 – 14.1

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 12.0 133.6 145.6 0.1 145.7

Issue of shares 0.1 6.7 – – 6.8 – 6.8
Purchase of treasury shares – – – (0.7) (0.7) – (0.7)
Acquisition of minority interest – – – – – (0.3) (0.3)
Dividends authorised (note 5) – – – (58.2) (58.2) – (58.2)
Minority interest dividend – – – – – (0.1) (0.1)
Share-based payments recognised in 
reserves (note 11) – – 5.8 – 5.8 – 5.8
Release of share options reserve on vesting 
of LTIPs – 1.9 (1.9) – – – –
Realisation of share options reserve  
on exercise (note 30) – – (2.9) 2.9 – – –
Release of hedge reserve (note 28) – – 2.6 – 2.6 – 2.6
Tax effects – – 1.0 (3.1) (2.1) – (2.1)

Total equity at 31 December 2009 28.6 112.5 53.8 753.1 948.0 0.3 948.3

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 December 2009
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Consolidated cash flow statement 
For the year ended 31 December 2009

£m Note 2009 2008

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from continuing operations 12 371.1 315.5

Corporation taxes paid (31.2) (58.2)

Interest paid (64.1) (39.6)

Interest received 18.3 33.5

Net cash from operating activities 294.1 251.2

Cash flows from investing activities
Dividends received from joint ventures 35 5.2 8.9

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 15 (74.6) (52.0)

Purchase of intangible assets 13 (4.8) (6.3)

Capitalised expenditure on intangible assets 13 (0.1) (0.1)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment and investment property 2.5 3.4

Proceeds on disposal of held for sale assets 19.3 –

Acquisition of subsidiaries net of cash acquired 31 (18.9) (603.4)

Acquisition of minority interests (0.3) –

Net deferred and contingent consideration (21.7) (2.0)

Other acquisition related costs (6.0) (4.9)

Special pension contributions relating to disposals in prior years 10 (5.5) (6.3)

Restructuring costs (7.8) (2.2)

Net cash used in investing activities (112.7) (664.9)

Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of share capital 6.8 5.2

Dividends paid 5 (58.2) (52.7)

Dividends paid to minority interests (0.1) –

Purchase of treasury shares (0.7) (1.1)

New borrowings 437.1 388.3

Repayment of borrowings (507.7) (48.7)

Repayment of obligations under finance leases (0.2) (0.1)

Net cash (used in)/from financing activities (123.0) 290.9

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 58.4 (122.8)

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 304.4 432.0

Exchange movements (1.4) (4.8)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 20 361.4 304.4

A reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to the balance sheet is detailed in note 20. 
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Notes to the Group financial statements 
 

1. Segmental information
Business segments
The Group reports four segments which are the operating Divisions whose revenue and results are reported to the Board.  

The principal activities of these Divisions are as follows: 

Cobham Avionics and Surveillance
Providing a suite of end-to-end avionics products, law enforcement and national security solutions,  
and satellite communication equipment for land, sea and air applications.

Cobham Defence Systems

Critical technology for network centric and intelligence operations, moving information around the  
digital battlefield with customised and off-the-shelf solutions for people and systems to communicate  
on land, sea and air.

Cobham Mission Systems
Providing safety and survival systems for extreme environments, nose-to-tail refuelling systems and 
wing-tip to wing-tip mission systems for fast jets, transport aircraft and rotor craft.

Cobham Aviation Services
Delivering outsourced aviation services for military and civil customers worldwide through military training, 
special mission flight operations, outsourced commercial aviation and aircraft engineering.

Information is also presented for the combined results of the Technology Divisions, namely Cobham Avionics and Surveillance, Cobham Defence 

Systems and Cobham Mission Systems. 

Head office results (net of recoveries) and costs and recoveries associated with the bid process for the Future Strategic Tanker Aircraft project are  

not included within the operating segments as described above.

£m Note 2009 2008

Revenue
Avionics and Surveillance 487.3 432.8

Defence Systems 873.0 529.3

Mission Systems 317.0 302.0

Inter-segment revenue (technology divisions) (23.6) (18.5)

Sub-total Technology Divisions 1,653.7 1,245.6

Aviation Services 230.9 221.9

Inter-segment revenue (5.0) (1.9)

Total segment revenue from external customers 1,879.6 1,465.6

Revenue – other activities 0.8 0.9

Total revenue from continuing operations 1,880.4 1,466.5

Trading profit
Avionics and Surveillance 84.6 71.7

Defence Systems 164.4 105.2

Mission Systems 56.8 52.2

Elimination of inter-segment items (0.2) –

Sub-total Technology Divisions 305.6 229.1

Aviation Services 31.3 24.8

Total segment trading profit 336.9 253.9

Head office and other activities 0.1 (2.3)

Total trading profit 337.0 251.6

Portfolio restructuring 8 (7.7) (7.4)

Unrealised gain/(loss) on revaluation of currency instruments 26 42.9 (59.5)

Amortisation of intangible assets on acquisition 7 (78.7) (46.8)

Acquisition related adjustments 7 (6.9) (9.4)

Net finance expense 3 (41.7) (7.8)

Profit on continuing operations before taxation 244.9 120.7
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The following information is provided as the specified amounts are included in the calculation of trading profit as provided to the Board. 

The Group’s share of the post-tax results of joint ventures totalling £6.1m (2008: £6.0m) arises in the Cobham Aviation Services Division.

£m 2009 2008

Depreciation and amortisation of internally generated intangibles
Avionics and Surveillance 9.6 6.7

Defence Systems 16.7 10.8

Mission Systems 5.4 4.9

Sub-total Technology Divisions 31.7 22.4

Aviation Services 18.2 12.5

Segment depreciation and amortisation of internally generated intangibles 49.9 34.9

Depreciation and amortisation allocated to other activities 0.4 0.4

Total depreciation and amortisation of internally generated intangibles 50.3 35.3

Segment assets
Avionics and Surveillance 419.5 475.0

Defence Systems 1,028.4 1,149.7

Mission Systems 273.4 270.1

Sub-total Technology Divisions 1,721.3 1,894.8

Aviation Services 217.9 199.2

Segment assets 1,939.2 2,094.0

Interests in joint ventures 17.4 16.9

1,956.6 2,110.9

Assets allocated to other activities 76.6 48.3

Unallocated assets – continuing operations 408.9 334.4

2,442.1 2,493.6

Assets classified as held for sale – 66.0

Consolidated total assets 2,442.1 2,559.6

Details of employees analysed by operating segment can be found in note 9. 

Geographical information
Revenue from external customers analysed by their geographical location, irrespective of the origin of the goods and services, is shown  

below. Revenue from customers located in individual countries within the EU (except UK) and the rest of the World is not considered to be 

individually material.

£m UK US Australia Other EU countries Rest of the World Total

Revenue 
Year to 31 December 2009 169.8 1,162.6 145.7 229.0 173.3 1,880.4
Year to 31 December 2008 137.9 811.4 144.7 221.6 150.9 1,466.5

Non-current assets
Non-current assets below exclude financial instruments and deferred tax assets. 

Year to 31 December 2009 247.2 973.1 110.9 72.0 51.1 1,454.3
Year to 31 December 2008 264.4 1,040.4 118.6 77.0 54.6 1,555.0
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2. Revenue and profit for the year
Revenue 
Revenue comprises income from the sale of goods and services during the year and can be analysed as follows:

£m 2009 2008

Revenue from sale of goods 1,393.3 1,121.1

Revenue from services 487.1 345.4

1,880.4 1,466.5

Major customers
£356.1m (2008: £217.2m) or 18.9% (2008: 14.8%) of Technology Divisions’ revenue is directly with US Government departments and agencies. 

Profit for the year
The profit for the year from continuing operations is after charging/(crediting):

£m Note 2009 2008

Staff costs 9 582.8 444.5

Materials cost of goods sold 560.6 496.5

Company funded research and development 88.3 70.5

Property rental income (0.9) (1.4)

Royalty income (0.7) (1.0)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 15

– owned assets 46.8 33.0

– under finance leases 0.3 0.3

Depreciation of investment properties 16 0.3 0.4

Amortisation of intangible assets 13

– intangible assets recognised on acquisition 80.4 46.8

– other intangible assets 2.9 1.6

Write back of negative goodwill 14 (1.7) –

(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (0.5) 0.3

Operating lease rentals

– Aircraft 6.1 5.6

– Other including plant & machinery and property 26.0 16.4

Net foreign exchange losses 2.7 0.2

Amortisation of intangible assets is included in administrative expenses.

During the year the Group (including overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Company’s auditors at costs as detailed below:

£m 2009 2008

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 1.2 1.2

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for the audit of the Company’s 
subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 0.8 0.8

Total fees payable for the audit services 2.0 2.0

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for other services:

– Other services relating to taxation 1.2 1.1

– Services relating to corporate finance transactions 0.5 0.2

– All other services 0.1 –

3.8 3.3

In addition to the amounts shown above, the auditors received fees of £29,000 (2008: £28,000) for audit of the Group’s pension schemes. 

A description of the work of the audit committee is set out in the Corporate Governance statement on pages 38 to 41 and includes an explanation  

of how auditor objectivity and independence is safeguarded when non-audit services are provided by the auditors.
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3. Finance income and expense

£m Note 2009 2008

Finance income:

Bank interest 11.2 27.2

Expected return on pension scheme assets 10 23.7 28.1

Other finance income 2.7 1.2

Total finance income 37.6 56.5

Finance expense:

Interest on bank overdrafts and loans (46.2) (36.2)

Interest on pension scheme liabilities 10 (28.5) (26.5)

Other finance expense (4.6) (1.6)

Total finance expense (79.3) (64.3)

Net finance expense excluding pension schemes (36.9) (9.4)

Net finance (expense)/income on pension schemes (4.8) 1.6

Net finance expense (41.7) (7.8)

Capitalised borrowing costs are considered to be immaterial. Bank interest income includes £1.4m arising on the settlement of a future financing 

facility. Other finance expense above includes £2.6m in relation to cash flow hedges which were terminated during 2009 as described in note 28.  

4. Income tax expense

£m Note 2009 2008

Current tax 71.7 36.5

Deferred tax 23 (12.7) (8.4)

Total tax charge for the year 59.0 28.1

The total income tax expense is analysed between UK and overseas tax as follows:

£m 2009 2008

United Kingdom 38.1 9.6

Overseas 20.9 18.5

Total tax charge for the year 59.0 28.1

Tax charge included in share of post-tax results of joint ventures 2.4 1.7

Income tax for the UK is calculated at a weighted average rate of 28.0% (2008: 28.5%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year. Taxation for 

other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

The total charge for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:

£m 2009 2008

Profit before tax 244.9 120.7

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 28.0% (2008: 28.5%) 68.6 34.4

Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures (1.7) (1.7)

Profit on disposals and other income not subject to tax – (1.0)

Effect of differences in overseas taxation rates 3.9 4.1

Expenditure qualifying for additional R&D tax deduction (4.1) (3.8)

Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior years (4.8) (2.6)

Impact of other items (2.9) (1.3)

Total tax charge for the year 59.0 28.1
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In addition to the income tax expense charged to the income statement, a tax credit of £14.1m (2008: £20.9m) has been included in the consolidated 

statement of comprehensive income as follows: 

£m 2009 2008

Actuarial loss on pensions (20.3) (7.8)

Actuarial loss on other retirement obligations – (0.2)

Movements in hedged financial instruments 6.2 (14.9)

Other tax impacts – 2.0

 (14.1) (20.9)

5. Dividends
The following dividends on Ordinary Shares were authorised and paid during the year: 

 
£m 2009 2008

Final dividend of 3.61p per share for 2008 (2007: 3.28p)  41.3 37.3

Interim dividend of 1.48p per share for 2009 (2008: 1.345p)  16.9 15.4

 58.2 52.7

In addition to the above, the Directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2009 of 3.97 pence per share 

which will absorb an estimated £45.5m of shareholders’ funds. This dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and 

has not been included as a liability in these financial statements. If authorised, it will be paid on 5 July 2010 to shareholders who are on the register  

of members as at 28 May 2010. The total dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2009 will therefore be 5.45 pence per share 

(2008: 4.955 pence). The total amount paid in respect of 2009 will be £62.4m (2008: £56.7m).

6. Earnings per Ordinary Share (EPS) 
From continuing and discontinued operations

2009 2008

Earnings
£m

Weighted  
average  
number  

of shares
million

Per-share 
amount

pence
Earnings

£m

Weighted  
average  
number  

of shares
million

Per-share  
amount

pence

Basic earnings per share (EPS)
Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders 185.8 1,142.4  16.26 95.4 1,137.8 8.38

Effect of dilutive securities:

Options 2.8 4.3

Long term incentive plans 3.6 2.4

Diluted EPS 185.8 1,148.8 16.17 95.4 1,144.5 8.34

From continuing operations

2009 2008

Earnings
£m

Weighted  
average  
number  

of shares
million

Per-share 
amount

pence
Earnings

£m

Weighted  
average  
number  

of shares
million

Per-share  
amount

pence

Basic earnings per share (EPS)
Earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders 185.8 95.4

Earnings from discontinued operations – (2.9)

Earnings from continuing operations 185.8 1,142.4 16.26 92.5 1,137.8 8.13

Effect of dilutive securities:

Options 2.8 4.3

Long term incentive plans 3.6 2.4

Diluted EPS 185.8 1,148.8 16.17 92.5 1,144.5 8.08

Details of the earnings per share from discontinued operations are disclosed in note 32. 
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7. Underlying profit and earnings per share
In addition to the information required by IAS 33, Earnings per share, the Directors believe that it is helpful to calculate an underlying earnings per 

share figure. Underlying profit is defined in detail in the accounting policies on page 53.

£m Note 2009 2008

Operating profit 286.6 128.5

Portfolio restructuring 8 7.7 7.4

Unrealised (gains)/losses on revaluation of currency instruments 26 (42.9) 59.5

Amortisation of intangible assets arising on acquisition 78.7 46.8

Acquisition related adjustments:

– Cost charged post-acquisition for acquired share options 6.9 5.5

– Fair value adjustments to inventory on acquisition – 3.9

Trading profit 337.0 251.6

Net finance expense 3 (41.7) (7.8)

Underlying profit before taxation 295.3 243.8

Taxation charge on underlying profit (80.4) (68.2)

Minority interest (0.1) (0.1)

Underlying profit after tax attributable to equity shareholders 214.8 175.5

Underlying basic EPS 18.80p 15.42p

Underlying diluted EPS 18.70p 15.33p

Underlying administrative expenses amounted to £175.1m (2008: £140.3m). This excludes portfolio restructuring costs, amortisation of intangible 

assets recognised on acquisition and costs charged post-acquisition for acquired share options.

8. Portfolio restructuring
During 2009, the Group continued to implement its portfolio restructuring strategy announced in 2005. Principal projects in 2009 include the 

completion of the rationalisation of the US production facilities of the Cobham Mission Systems Division. The consolidation of North American 

Avionics engineering and production capability has continued, with the transfer of production in British Columbia, Canada, Washington, US and 

Oregon, US to existing facilities in Arizona, US. The transfer of the Canadian facility is complete and the other two transfers will be completed  

in the first half of 2010.

The profits on disposal of discontinued activities before tax reported in 2008 relate to businesses disposed of in prior years as detailed in note 32.  

Profits from all of these activities have been excluded from trading profit and underlying earnings for the Group. Restructuring costs are included 

within administrative expenses.  

£m Note 2009 2008

Restructuring costs (7.7) (7.4)

Profit on disposal of discontinued activities before tax 32 – 2.9

(7.7) (4.5)

Tax effect of portfolio restructuring 2.7 2.5

(5.0) (2.0)

The cumulative pre-tax results of the Group’s strategic portfolio restructuring since 2005 are as follows:

£m 2009 2008

Cumulative profits on disposals 28.8 28.8

Cumulative restructuring costs (28.6) (20.9)

0.2 7.9

The Directors consider that the 2005 portfolio restructuring is now substantially complete and therefore any integration costs relating to these 

programmes in future years will be reported as part of the Group’s underlying result. 
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9. Employment costs
The aggregate employment costs of Group employees are as follows: 

£m Note 2009 2008

Wages and salaries 491.9 371.5

Social security costs 49.2 40.7

Pension costs

– defined benefit 10 4.1 5.2

– defined contribution 10 27.7 17.9

Share-based payments 11 9.9 9.2

582.8 444.5

The average number of employees during the year, analysed by Division, are as follows: 

£m 2009 2008

Cobham Avionics and Surveillance 3,135 3,203

Cobham Defence Systems 5,427 3,884

Cobham Mission Systems 1,574 1,754

Sub-total Technology Divisions 10,136 8,841

Cobham Aviation Services 1,794 1,812

Total operating segments 11,930 10,653

Other activities 114 53

12,044 10,706

10. Retirement benefit schemes         
Defined contribution schemes         
The Group manages a number of defined contribution pension arrangements.

The total expense recognised in the income statement of £27.7m (2008: £17.9m) represents contributions payable to these schemes by the Group  

at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.

There were no significant contributions outstanding at the end of 2009 or 2008 for the defined benefit schemes. £11.9m (2008: £12.2m) was 

outstanding in respect of defined contribution schemes but not due for payment at 31 December 2009.

Defined benefit schemes
The Group operates a number of defined benefit schemes, the most significant being the Cobham Pension Plan (CPP) which is a funded defined 

benefit scheme.  The assets of all of these schemes are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of trustees.  From  

1 January 2003, new employees in the UK have only been able to join the defined contribution scheme.  In the US, the Carleton Technologies  

defined benefit scheme has been closed to new members from 13 December 2003.

Special contributions of £5.5m were paid in 2009 (2008: £6.3m) to the CPP as agreed in connection with the disposal of the Fluid and Air group  

which completed in 2005.

Actuarial valuations of scheme assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligations for the CPP are carried out on a triennial basis by 

qualified independent actuaries, the most recent valuation was as at 1 April 2009. The actuarial valuations were updated by qualified independent 

actuaries for accounting purposes to 31 December 2009. Actuarial valuations of other schemes have been carried out at regular intervals as  

required by the applicable country regulations.
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For the purposes of IAS 19, the principal assumptions used for the purpose of the actuarial valuations were as follows:

2009 2008

UK Schemes US Scheme UK Schemes US Scheme

Rate of increase in salary costs 4.13% 4.13% 3.50% 3.50%

Discount rate 5.66% 5.91% 6.30% 6.30%

Inflation assumption 3.63% 3.63% 3.00% 3.00%

Expected return on scheme assets 6.65% 7.06% 5.82% 6.42%

Pensions increase unless overridden by specific scheme rules 3.63% n/a 3.00% n/a

The mortality assumptions used for the CPP are based upon actual recent mortality experiences of members within the scheme and also allow for 

future mortality improvements. The mortality assumption used in 2009 and 2008 is denoted by actuaries as ‘PA92 year of birth projections long 

cohort’. In practical terms this is demonstrated in the table below:

Further life expectancy Year of birth Year age 65

Male 1944 2009 23.7 years

Male 1980 2045 25.4 years

At 31 December 2009 it has been assumed that members will commute on average 20% (2008: 20%) of their pension for cash at retirement.  

This implies a full take-up of the permitted 25% (2008: 25%) commutation by approximately 80% (2008: 80%) of eligible members on retirement. 

          

The sensitivity of scheme liabilities to changes in certain key assumptions is provided below:

• increasing the discount rate by 0.1% would decrease scheme liabilities by £9.5m;

• increasing the inflation rate by 0.1% would increase scheme liabilities by £6.4m;

• if each scheme member was expected to live for an additional year then scheme liabilities would increase by £11.0m.

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet in respect of the Group’s defined benefit schemes are as follows:

£m 2009 2008

Present value of funded obligations (561.3) (458.4)

Fair value of scheme assets 446.1 407.2

Net liability (115.2) (51.2)

The present value of funded obligations relating to the US scheme is US$22.8m (2008: US$19.8m) and the fair value of scheme assets relating to  

the US scheme is US$16.1m (2008: US$13.6m).

The scheme assets do not include any of the Group’s own financial instruments, nor any property occupied by, or other assets used by, the Group.

Amounts recognised in operating profit in respect of the defined benefit schemes are as follows:

£m 2009 2008

Current service cost included in administrative expenses 4.1 5.2

Past service cost included in administrative expenses – –

Amounts credited/(charged) to other finance income/expense:

£m Note 2009 2008

Expected return on pension scheme assets 3 23.7 28.1

Interest on pension scheme liabilities 3 (28.5) (26.5)

Net return (4.8) 1.6
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Amount recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income:

      
£m 2009 2008

Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets 13.8 (49.2)

Experience losses arising on scheme liabilities 1.8 (5.5)

Changes in assumptions underlying present value of scheme liabilities (88.1) 27.5

Actuarial loss recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (72.5) (27.2)

The cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income since transition to IFRS is 

£141.8m loss (2008: £69.3m loss). Of the actuarial losses recognised in the year for changes in assumptions underlying present value of scheme liabilities, 

approximately £53.0m related to the decrease in the discount rate with the remainder primarily due to the increase in the inflation assumption.

The actual return on scheme assets was £37.5m gain (2008: loss £21.1m).

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as follows:

£m 2009 2008

Opening defined benefit obligations 458.4 457.7

Current service cost 4.1 5.2

Interest cost 28.5 26.5

Actuarial loss/(gain) 86.3 (22.0)

Contributions by members 3.0 2.2

NI rebates 0.7 1.3

Exchange differences (1.8) 3.6

Benefits paid (17.9) (16.1)

Closing defined benefit obligations 561.3 458.4

Changes in the fair value of scheme assets are as follows:

£m 2009 2008

Opening fair value of scheme assets 407.2 420.5

Expected return 23.7 28.1

Actuarial gain/(loss) 13.8 (49.2)

Contributions by members 3.0 2.2

NI rebates 0.7 1.3

Contributions by employers 11.3 11.2

Special contributions 5.5 6.3

Exchange differences (1.2) 2.9

Benefits paid (17.9) (16.1)

Closing fair value of scheme assets 446.1 407.2

Including further special contributions, the Group expects to contribute £24.7m to its defined benefit pension schemes in 2010.    

The fair value of major categories of scheme assets, and as a percentage of total scheme assets, are as follows:    

2009 2008

£m % £m %

Equity instruments 210.3 47.1% 166.1 40.8%

Debt instruments 188.4 42.2% 205.2 50.4%

Property 39.1 8.8% 23.5 5.8%

Other assets 8.3 1.9% 12.4 3.0%

446.1 100.0% 407.2 100.0%
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The expected rates of return on individual categories of scheme assets are determined by reference to relevant indices published by, for example,  

the London Stock Exchange. The overall expected rate of return is calculated by weighting the individual rates in accordance with the anticipated 

balance in the schemes’ investment portfolio.         

The history of the scheme for the current and previous four periods is as follows:

£m 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Present value of defined benefit obligations (561.3) (458.4) (457.7) (447.8) (451.3)

Fair value of scheme assets 446.1 407.2 420.5 418.2 370.3

Deficit (115.2) (51.2) (37.2) (29.6) (81.0)

Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities 1.8 (5.5) (0.3) 0.8 (9.9)

Experience adjustments on scheme assets 13.8 (49.2) (31.2) 13.2 33.1

Other retirement benefit schemes
A number of the Group’s subsidiaries based in France contribute to a retirement indemnity scheme. The liabilities of the scheme were valued by  

an independent actuary as at 31 December 2008 at €2.9m and are recorded in these financial statements at £2.6m (2008: £2.8m). These liabilities  

are included in other liabilities in note 21. The actuarial loss for the year to 31 December 2008 as recognised in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income was £0.8m. 

11. Share-based payments        
The total expense for share-based payments is as follows:        

£m 2009 2008

Equity settled share-based payment schemes 5.8 6.1

Acquisition related cash settled share-based payments 4.1 3.1

Total share-based payment expense 9.9 9.2

Details of the schemes which give rise to these charges are as follows:

Equity settled share-based payment schemes        
The Group operates a number of incentive schemes for certain senior executives as follows: 

•  The Cobham Performance Share Plan (PSP); 

•  The Cobham Executive Share Option Scheme (ESOS); and 

•  The Cobham Bonus Co-investment Plan (BCP). 

The PSP scheme allows for annual grants of conditional shares which vest 50% based on the Group’s three-year Total Shareholder Return relative  

to that of a sector comparator group and 50% based on the growth of the Group’s underlying EPS over the same period. 

Under the ESOS, options are granted at a price not less than the market value of the Group’s Ordinary Shares on, or shortly before, the date the 

options are granted. Exercise is conditional upon the Group’s underlying EPS growth over a three-year period. The scheme also includes a ‘time-only’ 

section which is offered to participants based in the US. This allows for options to be granted with 25% vesting on each annual anniversary 

conditional only on continued employment within the Group. 

The BCP scheme allows participants to defer up to 50% of their net earned annual performance bonus into Cobham shares in return for an 

opportunity to earn up to a 2:1 matching award of shares, based on three-year Economic Profit growth targets. 

A number of awards were made under the Cobham Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) up to 2006 and the final award under this scheme has vested 

during 2009. These awards were made at nil cost, vesting over a three-year performance period based on the Group’s Total Shareholder Return 

relative to that of a comparator group and also conditional upon the Group’s underlying EPS growth over the same period.

Further details of the above schemes can be found in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 43 and 44. 
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In addition, entry to the Cobham Savings Related Share Option Scheme (ShareSave) is available to all employees of participating UK subsidiaries. 

Employees may purchase the Group’s shares at 80% of the closing market price on the date of grant during a two-week period each year, up to  

a maximum contribution value of £3,000 in any one year. The shares so purchased are generally placed in the employee’s share savings plan and  

will only be released to employees who remain in the Group’s employment for a period of three years from the date of grant. 

Details of the awards are as follows:

Number of awards LTIP PSP BCP ESOS ShareSave

At 1 January 2008 2,533,943 1,478,441 – 18,250,852 9,651,286 

Awards granted – 1,647,903 551,122 5,456,722 1,603,839 

Awards forfeited (171,468) (21,907) – (699,608) (322,503)

Exercised – – – (2,577,560) (2,109,752)

Expired (1,279,300) – – – (179,727)

At 1 January 2009 1,083,175 3,104,437 551,122 20,430,406 8,643,143 
Awards granted – 2,691,221 373,706 7,130,568 1,876,526 
Awards forfeited or cancelled by employee (33,891) (64,683) – (1,098,846) (243,920)
Exercised (1,049,284) – – (3,378,552) (1,863,669)
Expired – – – – (168,116)

At 31 December 2009 – 5,730,975 924,828 23,083,576 8,243,964 

Exercisable at 31 December 2009 – – – 5,947,721 115,573 
Exercisable at 31 December 2008 – – – 6,708,748 237,448 

The weighted average remaining contractual life in years of awards is as follows:

Outstanding at 31 December 2009 – 1.54 1.41 7.58 2.17
Outstanding at 31 December 2008 0.32 1.83 2.25 7.50 2.15

The number of BCP awards shown in the table above reflects matching shares granted against the net bonus invested and will be grossed up for tax. 

The rules of the scheme allow for a matched award based on the gross amount of the bonus, dependent upon satisfaction of the performance 

conditions. The exact amount of the entitlement will be ascertained upon vesting of the awards. 

Under the LTIP, ESOS and ShareSave schemes, exercises were made at various times throughout the year. The average share price in that period was 

£2.002 (2008: £1.987). 

All awards under the PSP, BCP and LTIP schemes have a nil exercise price. The weighted average exercise prices of awards under the ESOS and 

ShareSave schemes are as follows: 

£ ESOS ShareSave

At 1 January 2008 1.629 1.229 

Awards granted 2.016 1.730 

Awards forfeited 1.570 1.463 

Exercised 1.229 0.968 

Expired – 1.192 

At 1 January 2009 1.780 1.377 
Awards granted 1.841 1.690 
Awards forfeited or cancelled by employee 1.941 1.655 
Exercised 1.414 1.097 
Expired – 1.499 

At 31 December 2009 1.842 1.501 

Exercisable at 31 December 2009 1.526 1.372 
Exercisable at 31 December 2008 1.330 1.234 
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The range of exercise prices for ESOS and ShareSave awards are as follows:

£ ESOS ShareSave

Outstanding at 31 December 2009

Lowest exercise price 0.912 0.769 
Highest exercise price 2.045 1.730 

Outstanding at 31 December 2008

Lowest exercise price 0.855 0.769 

Highest exercise price 2.045 1.730 

Details of awards granted or commencing during the current and comparative year are as follows:      

£ PSP BCP ESOS ShareSave

During 2009:

Effective date of grant or commencement date 11 March 29 May 11 March 1 February
Fair value at date of grant or scheme commencement

– Three-year awards 1.434 1.780 0.405 0.348
– Five-year awards – – – 0.387
– Seven-year awards – – – 0.412

Effective date of grant 7 July 11 August 9 July – 
Fair value at date of grant (average for ESOS) 1.341 1.911 0.333 – 

Effective date of grant 17 August – 17 August – 
Fair value at date of grant 1.590 – 0.461 – 

During 2008:

Effective date of grant or commencement date 12 May 25 March 12 May 1 February

Fair value at date of grant or scheme commencement (as restated)

– Three-year awards 1.649 2.210 0.587 0.505

– Five-year awards – – – 0.546

– Seven-year awards – – – 0.599

Effective date of grant 18 September – 18 September – 

Fair value at date of grant 1.547 – 0.408 – 

The fair values of ShareSave awards commencing on 1 February 2008 as disclosed in the previous year were £0.54, £0.61 and £0.70 for awards with 3, 

5 and 7 year lives respectively. The figures stated above have been restated following a reassessment of the fair values of these awards taking into 

account the impact of non-vesting conditions as required by IFRS 2 (amended).
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The fair values in the table above were calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model (modified by a Monte Carlo simulation for PSP awards) 

to determine the likely impact of market related performance conditions. The inputs into the model were as follows:

PSP BCP ESOS ShareSave

2009
Weighted average share price £1.838 £2.060 £1.788 £1.829
Weighted average exercise price nil nil £1.841 £1.730
Expected volatility 18% 26% 28% 24%-26%
Expected life 3 years 3 years 5 years 3-7 years
Expected employee cancellation rate – – 2.0% 2.2%
Risk free rate 2.9% 4.0% 2.7% 3.8%
Expected dividend yield n/a 2.1% 2.8% 2.5%

2008

Weighted average share price £2.199 £2.210 £2.205 £1.950

Weighted average exercise price nil nil £2.016 £1.630

Expected volatility 27% 25% 24% 24%-26%

Expected life 3 years 3 years 5 years 3-7 years

Expected employee cancellation rate – – – 2.2%

Risk free rate 4.4% 4.4% 4.3% 4.5%

Expected dividend yield n/a 2.0% 2.0% 1.9%

Expected volatility was determined through the assessment of the historical volatility over a period consistent with the expected life of the award. 

The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise 

restrictions and behavioural considerations. The expected employee cancellation rate is based on an assessment of historic rates of voluntary 

cancellations of ShareSave contracts by employees.  

Participants of the PSP scheme receive the benefit of dividend payments and therefore dividend yields are not taken into consideration in the 

valuation model.

Cash settled share-based payment schemes 
During 2006 and 2007, the Group issued share appreciation rights (SARs) and awards under a phantom LTIP scheme to certain senior executives  

that require the Group to pay the intrinsic value of the award to the employee at the date of exercise. These awards vested during 2009 and no 

further awards have been made under these schemes. The expense for the year for the SAR and phantom LTIP rights is based on the fair value of  

the outstanding liability at the balance sheet date of £0.4m at 31 December 2009 (2008: £0.4m), together with any additional amounts arising at  

the date of exercise.

SARs were granted at a price not less than the market value of the Group’s Ordinary Shares on, or shortly before, the date the rights were granted.  

As with the ESOS awards, exercise is conditional upon the Group’s underlying EPS growth over a three-year period and is possible between three  

and five years after grant.

Phantom LTIP awards were made at nil cost, vesting over a three-year performance period based on the Group’s Total Shareholder Return relative  

to that of a comparator group and also conditional upon the Group’s underlying EPS growth over the same period. The comparator group and 

conditions are the same as those which apply for LTIPs.
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Details of the awards are as follows:

SARs Phantom LTIPs

At 1 January 2008 883,909 101,606 

Forfeited during the year (72,273) – 

At 1 January 2009 811,636 101,606 
Forfeited during the year (95,304) (26,031)
Exercised during the year (202,224) (75,575)

At 31 December 2009 514,108 – 

Exercisable as at 31 December 2009 514,108 – 
Exercisable as at 31 December 2008 – – 

Fair value of awards at 31 December 2009 £0.688 – 
Fair value of awards at 31 December 2008 £0.393 £0.634

The weighted average remaining contractual life in years of awards is as follows:

Outstanding at 31 December 2009 1.86 – 
Outstanding at 31 December 2008 2.86 0.86

The fair values of these awards were calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model (modified by a Monte Carlo simulation for the phantom 

LTIPs) to determine the likely impact of market related performance conditions. The inputs into the model were as follows:

SARs Phantom LTIPs

At 31 December 2009

Share price at date of valuation £2.515 – 
Exercise price £1.898 – 
Expected volatility 28% – 
Expected life 5 years – 
Risk free rate 3.0% – 
Expected dividend yield 2.2% – 

At 31 December 2008

Share price at date of valuation £2.055 £2.055

Exercise price £1.898 nil

Expected volatility 27% 30%

Expected life 5 years 3 years

Risk free rate 2.8% 2.8%

Expected dividend yield 2.2% 2.2%

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Group’s share price over the previous three years. The expected life 

used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and 

behavioural considerations.

Acquisition related share-based payments
The agreement for the acquisition of SPARTA Inc (now trading as Cobham Analytic Solutions) by Cobham in 2008 provided for unvested equity-

settled options held by employees of SPARTA at the date of acquisition to be replaced with cash-settled option rights. These were issued on  

3 June 2008 and vest over a maximum of three years, based on the vesting date of the original options. The new awards are conditional only upon  

an employee’s continued employment to the vesting date. The average exercise price (based on the original options) of each new right granted is 

£1.160 and the latest vesting date is 9 January 2011. The rights vest at a price linked to the market price of Cobham plc’s shares with a minimum  

value at the date of vesting, based on the market value of Cobham plc shares on 3 June 2008, of £2.0925. 

A portion of the fair value of the rights at the date of issue associated with pre-acquisition service was allocated to the cost of acquisition and,  

at the balance sheet date, the liability for this element is included within contingent consideration shown in note 22.
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The fair value of the total outstanding liability for these cash-settled awards at 31 December 2009 was £4.9m (2008: £8.2m), of which the majority is 

reflected within contingent consideration. The total expense for the year impacting the income statement is £4.1m (2008: £3.1m) and this is included 

within acquisition related adjustments and excluded from underlying earnings as described in note 7.

Details of the awards are as follows:

SPARTA awards

At 1 January 2008 – 

Granted during the year 939,086 

Forfeited during the year (35,399)

Exercised during the year (352,976)

At 1 January 2009 550,711 
Forfeited during the year (38,499)
Exercised during the year (259,892)

At 31 December 2009 252,320 

Vested and exercisable as at 31 December 2009 10 
Vested and exercisable as at 31 December 2008 – 

Average fair value of awards at 31 December 2009 £1.166
Average fair value of awards at 31 December 2008 £1.190

These fair values were calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the likely impact of market related performance 

conditions. The inputs into the model were as follows: 

At 31 December 
2009

At 31 December 
2008

Share price at date of valuation £2.515 £2.055

Exercise price £1.160 £1.174

Expected volatility 32% 29%

Average option life 3 years 2.7 years

Average risk free rate 2.2% 2.6%

Expected dividend yield 2.2% 2.2%

Expected volatility was determined with reference to the historical volatility of the Cobham plc share price and the formula share price for SPARTA 

shares over the expected life of the options. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the 

effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.



Cobham plc   |   Annual Report and Accounts 2009

|  G
ro

up fin
an

cial statem
en

ts 

79

12. Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement   
Cash flows from operating activities   

£m Note 2009 2008

Profit after taxation for the year 185.9 95.5

Profit after taxation for the year – discontinued operations 32 – (2.9)

Adjustments for:

Tax charge 4 59.0 28.1

Share of post-tax profits of joint ventures (6.1) (6.0)

Net finance expense 3 41.7 7.8

Depreciation 15,16 47.4 32.6

Amortisation of intangible assets 13 83.3 48.4

Write back of negative goodwill 14 (1.7) –

(Gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (0.5) 0.3

Portfolio restructuring 8 7.7 7.4

Costs charged post-acquisition for acquired share options 6.9 5.5

Fair value adjustments to inventory on acquisition – 3.9

Unrealised (gains)/losses on revaluation of currency instruments 26 (42.9) 59.5

Pension contributions in excess of pension expenditure 10 (7.2) (6.1)

Share-based payments 11 5.8 6.1

(Decrease)/increase in provisions (5.8) 7.7

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 373.5 287.8

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (19.2) 4.7

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 5.6 (1.3)

Increase in trade and other payables 11.2 24.3

Movements in working capital (2.4) 27.7

Cash generated from operations 371.1 315.5

A more detailed analysis of provisions can be found in note 22. 

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

£m 2009 2008

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the year 58.4 (122.8)

Net decrease/(increase) in borrowings 70.8 (339.5)

Exchange movements 99.5 (256.9)

Movement in net debt in the year 228.7 (719.2)

Net (debt)/cash at beginning of year (641.3) 77.9

Net debt at end of year (412.6) (641.3)
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13. Intangible assets

£m Note 2009 2008

Goodwill 14 719.3 758.6

Other intangible assets (as below) 343.7 453.2

Total intangible assets 1,063.0 1,211.8

Movements in other intangible assets are as follows: 

£m
Customer 

relationships
Technology  

based assets
Development  

costs Other Total

Cost
At 1 January 2008 76.8 32.0 1.0 28.2 138.0

Additions – purchased – – – 6.3 6.3

Additions – internally generated – – 0.1 – 0.1

Recognised on business combinations 173.8 63.7 10.9 40.9 289.3

Foreign exchange adjustments 78.8 28.3 0.7 26.2 134.0

Disposals – – – (0.1) (0.1)

Reclassifications – – – 1.5 1.5

At 1 January 2009 329.4 124.0 12.7 103.0 569.1
Additions – purchased – – – 4.8 4.8
Additions – internally generated – – 0.1 – 0.1
Recognised on business combinations 11.6 0.3 – 1.3 13.2
Foreign exchange adjustments (33.5) (12.1) (0.5) (10.7) (56.8)
Disposals – – – (0.1) (0.1)
Reclassifications – 8.5 (8.5) – –

At 31 December 2009 307.5 120.7 3.8 98.3 530.3

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2008 18.3 9.5 0.5 15.4 43.7

Charge for the year 20.8 8.1 1.2 18.3 48.4

Foreign exchange adjustments 9.0 3.6 0.1 10.7 23.4

Disposals – – – (0.1) (0.1)

Reclassifications – – – 0.5 0.5

At 1 January 2009 48.1 21.2 1.8 44.8 115.9
Charge for the year 41.7 17.1 (0.2) 24.7 83.3
Foreign exchange adjustments (5.2) (2.1) (0.1) (5.1) (12.5)
Disposals – – – (0.1) (0.1)

At 31 December 2009 84.6 36.2 1.5 64.3 186.6

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2009 222.9 84.5 2.3 34.0 343.7
At 31 December 2008 281.3 102.8 10.9 58.2 453.2

Customer relationships represents the cost of customer lists, customer contracts and the related customer relationships held by acquired businesses 

at the date of acquisition.

Technology based assets represents the cost of trade secrets and processes, patented and unpatented technology and know how held by the 

acquired businesses at the date of acquisition, together with purchased technology assets.

Other intangible assets represent purchased and acquired patents, licences and trademarks, software rights and licences and the order backlog  

of acquired businesses at the date of acquisition. 

All of these assets are initially recognised at cost and are amortised over their estimated useful lives. The fair values of acquired intangible assets  

have been assessed by reference to the future estimated cash flows arising from the application of assets, discounted to present value at a post-tax 

rate of 7.6% (2008: 7.6%).



Cobham plc   |   Annual Report and Accounts 2009

|  G
ro

up fin
an

cial statem
en

ts 

81

14. Goodwill

£m Note Total 

Cost
At 1 January 2008 381.8

Arising on business combinations 253.7

Resulting from movements in contingent consideration (1.0)

Foreign exchange adjustments 124.1

At 1 January 2009 758.6
Arising on business combinations 31 10.5
Arising on business combinations in prior years 31 3.9
Resulting from movements in contingent consideration (5.0)
Write back of negative goodwill 1.7
Foreign exchange adjustments (50.4)

At 31 December 2009 719.3

Accumulated impairment losses

At 1 January 2008 and 2009, and 31 December 2009 –

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2009 719.3
At 31 December 2008 758.6

The goodwill arising on acquisitions during 2009 relates to the acquisition of Argotek, Inc as described in note 31.    

      

During 2009 the contingent consideration in respect of the purchase of Patriot Antenna Systems was reassessed, resulting in the generation of 

negative goodwill which has been written back to the income statement in accordance with IFRS 3, Business Combinations. Additionally during the 

year, the carrying value of intangible assets which arose on the acquisition of Patriot Antenna Systems was reassessed and additional amortisation  

of £2.6m was charged to the income statement. This is included within the amortisation charge for the year as shown in note 13.

The Group has no indefinite life intangible assets other than goodwill. Goodwill is allocated to approximately 40 cash generating units (‘CGU’s).  

The Group tests goodwill impairment for each CGU annually or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations unless specific conditions at a CGU dictate otherwise. For both 

the current and comparative years there have been no such exceptions. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding  

the discount rates, growth rates and operating cash projections during the period for which management have detailed plans. Management estimate 

discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the Group’s time value of money and the risks specific to the CGU  

being measured. 

The Group annually prepares cash flow forecasts for the following five years and this is approved by management for the coming year. The growth 

rate assumed after this five year period is based on long-term GDP projections of the primary market for the CGU. The long term projections used are 

in the range 2.5% to 3.0%. The growth rates assume that demand for our products in the US and in the UK remains broadly in line with the underlying 

economic environment in the long term future. Taking into account our expectation of future market conditions we believe that the evolution of 

selling prices and direct costs will reflect past practices. 

The pre-tax rate used to discount the forecast cash flows is 10.6% (2008: 10.6%). 

Following detailed review, no impairment losses have been recognised in the period.

The goodwill allocated to each of Cobham Analytic Solutions (SPARTA), Cobham Sensor Systems in Lowell (M/A-COM) and Cobham Sensor Systems 

in Lansdale (Lansdale) are considered to be individually significant as they represent more than 10% of the Group’s total goodwill carrying value. After 

translation using year end foreign exchange rates, these CGUs have £130.5m, £91.7m and £73.6m of goodwill respectively, representing 41.1% of the 

total balance. Within the remaining £423.5m there are no other amounts considered individually significant. Cobham Analytic Solutions, Cobham 

Sensor Systems in Lowell and Cobham Sensor Systems in Lansdale are all within the Cobham Defence Systems Division and they all operate primarily 

in the US defence market. 
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The recoverable amounts associated with these goodwill balances have been determined on a value in use basis. A value in use test requires 

comparison of asset carrying values (where some intangible asset values arising on acquisitions have been grossed up for hypothetical tax benefits) 

with pre-tax cash flows (which exclude any tax benefit). Furthermore, the value in use test ignores the related deferred tax liabilities which IFRS 

prevents from being included in any value in use calculation. Key assumptions and sensitivities are as follows: 

•  The five year plans for these companies have been extrapolated in perpetuity using a long term US GDP growth rate of 3.0% and discounted using 

the Group’s discount rate. A key assumption in deriving the growth rate is that market demand in the products and services provided by Cobham 

Analytic Solutions, Cobham Sensor Systems in Lowell and Cobham Sensor Systems in Lansdale grow broadly in line with the underlying economic 

environment for the foreseeable future. The businesses would need to contract by more than 2.4% each year in order for any of their carrying 

values to be impaired. 

•  Sensitivity analysis has determined that the discount rate of 10.6% is an influential assumption on the outcome of the recoverable amount 

calculation. The recoverable amounts of Cobham Analytic Solutions, Cobham Sensor Systems in Lowell and Cobham Sensor Systems in Lansdale 

exceed the total carrying value of assets for the CGU by US$155.8m, US$141.9m and US$80.9m respectively; the discount rate would need to 

increase to 14.9%, 15.5% and 14.1% for Cobham Analytic Solutions, Cobham Sensor Systems in Lowell and Cobham Sensor Systems in Lansdale 

respectively in order for the carrying value to be impaired. 

•  Sensitivity analysis has also been performed on the operating cash flow projections. Cash flows can be impacted by changes to sales projections, 

sales prices and direct costs. In order for the carrying value of goodwill for Cobham Analytic Solutions, Cobham Sensor Systems in Lowell and 

Cobham Sensor Systems in Lansdale to be impaired the expected cash flows for every year would need to reduce by 39%, 42% and 34% respectively. 

The cash flow projections within the value in use calculations include an allocation of central overheads. If these were excluded then the discount 

rate would need to increase to 17.2%, 16.7% and 15.4% for Cobham Analytic Solutions, Cobham Sensor Systems in Lowell and Cobham Sensor 

Systems in Lansdale respectively in order for the carrying value to be impaired. 

The Directors have not identified any other likely changes in other significant assumptions that would cause the carrying value of recognised  

goodwill to exceed its recoverable amount.
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15. Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings Plant and 
 machinery

(including aircraft  
& vehicles)

Fixtures fittings
tools and

equipment

Payments on 
account and  
assets under 
construction TotalFreehold

Long
leases

Short
leases£m

Cost
At 1 January 2008 57.6 23.5 4.1 387.9 54.2 1.5 528.8

Additions 2.5 1.2 0.6 38.0 6.6 3.2 52.1

Acquired with business 
combinations 5.3 4.8 1.5 19.1 3.1 1.3 35.1

Disposals (1.7) (0.3) (0.1) (19.6) (0.7) (0.1) (22.5)

Foreign exchange adjustments 11.7 3.2 2.2 44.7 10.6 1.4 73.8

Reclassifications 0.1 – – (0.2) (1.1) (0.3) (1.5)

At 1 January 2009 75.5 32.4 8.3 469.9 72.7 7.0 665.8
Additions 4.6 0.5 0.8 47.6 9.7 11.4 74.6
Acquired with business 
combinations – – – 0.1 – – 0.1
Arising from business 
combinations in prior years – – – (1.2) – – (1.2)
Disposals – – (0.1) (17.1) (6.4) (0.1) (23.7)
Foreign exchange adjustments (2.8) (1.4) (0.9) 11.8 (2.0) (0.9) 3.8
Reclassifications 0.1 – 0.4 0.9 – 0.2 1.6

At 31 December 2009 77.4 31.5 8.5 512.0 74.0 17.6 721.0

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2008 16.7 5.6 2.1 260.4 40.2 – 325.0

Depreciation charge for the year 2.4 1.0 0.7 23.6 5.6 – 33.3

Eliminated on disposals (0.8) – – (16.3) (0.7) – (17.8)

Foreign exchange adjustments 3.2 0.6 0.9 22.5 7.5 – 34.7

Reclassifications – – – (0.1) (0.4) – (0.5)

At 1 January 2009 21.5 7.2 3.7 290.1 52.2 – 374.7
Depreciation charge for the year 2.8 1.9 1.3 32.6 8.5 – 47.1
Eliminated on disposals – – (0.1) (17.1) (5.2) – (22.4)
Foreign exchange adjustments (0.8) (0.3) (0.4) 5.5 (1.2) – 2.8
Reclassifications – – 0.1 0.5 – – 0.6

At 31 December 2009 23.5 8.8 4.6 311.6 54.3 – 402.8

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2009 53.9 22.7 3.9 200.4 19.7 17.6 318.2
At 31 December 2008 54.0 25.2 4.6 179.8 20.5 7.0 291.1

The carrying amount of the Group’s plant and machinery includes an amount of £0.6m (2008: £0.9m) in respect of assets held under finance leases. 

These assets are held as security against the finance lease liabilities. 
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16. Investment properties

£m Total

Cost
At 1 January 2008 8.6

Acquired with business combinations 4.8

Foreign exchange adjustments 1.4

At 1 January 2009 14.8
Disposals (1.6)
Foreign exchange adjustments (0.7)

At 31 December 2009 12.5

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2008 1.4

Depreciation charge for the year 0.4

At 1 January 2009 1.8
Eliminated on disposals (0.9)
Depreciation charge for the year 0.3

At 31 December 2009 1.2

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2009 11.3
At 31 December 2008 13.0

All of the Group’s investment properties are held under freehold interests and are valued under the cost model.    

Property rental income earned by the Group from its investment properties amounted to £0.9m (2008: £1.4m), which is net of all direct costs 

associated with the leasing of the property, save for depreciation. The buildings are leased to commercial users on operating leases with terms  

of between 3 and 25 years, commencing in 1998, 2004, 2006 and 2008.

The fair value of the Group’s UK investment properties has been assessed to be £9.5m (2008: £10.2m, excluding the property which has been sold 

during 2009). This is based on estimated market prices provided by external valuers, Vail Williams LLP, as at 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008. 

The fair value of the Group’s investment property in the US is not considered to be significantly different from its cost at the date of acquisition  

of US$8.9m.

17. Investments in joint ventures 
The Group has the following interests in joint ventures within the Aviation Services Division:

a) 45% of the voting share capital in Aviation Défense Service SA, a company incorporated in France.

b) 50% of the voting share capital in FB Heliservices Limited, a company incorporated in England.

c) 50% of the voting share capital in FBS Limited, a company incorporated in England.

d) 50% of the voting share capital in FB Leasing Limited, a company incorporated in England.

Notwithstanding the fact that the holding is 45%, governance structures for Aviation Défense Service SA are such that the group has joint control 

with its partner and therefore the investment is treated as a joint venture.

During the year a new joint venture was formed, Northrop Grumman Cobham Intercoms LLC. This is a company incorporated in the US, in which  

the voting share capital is divided equally between Cobham and Northrop Grumman Corporation. The joint venture operates within the Cobham 

Defence Systems Division and is expected to commence operations during 2010, providing vehicular communications systems to the US Army. 
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The share of the balance sheets and income statements of the joint ventures which has been included in the consolidated financial statements  

is as follows:      

      
£m 2009 2008

Current assets 13.6 12.7

Non-current assets 47.5 41.6

61.1 54.3

Current liabilities (16.3) (14.0)

Non-current liabilities (27.4) (23.4)

(43.7) (37.4)

Net assets 17.4 16.9

Income 47.5 45.3

Expenses (39.2) (37.0)

18. Inventories

£m 2009 2008

Raw materials and consumables 121.5 133.0

Work in progress 141.3 130.4

Finished goods and goods for resale 27.7 29.5

Allowance for obsolescence (40.7) (46.1)

249.8 246.8

None of the inventories shown above are held at fair value less costs to sell (2008: £nil). 

During the year £12.7m (2008: £4.5m) was provided, £10.8m (2008: £4.3m) was utilised and £4.9m (2008: £0.9m) of the allowance for obsolescence  

was reversed. This allowance is reviewed by management on a regular basis and further amounts are provided or released as considered necessary. 

The amounts are generally determined based on factors which include ageing and known demand. Subsequent events may give rise to these 

estimates being revised and, consequently, to reversal of amounts previously provided. The general reduction in inventory provisions over the year 

largely reflects the Group’s efforts in improved operational practices and controls, as well as the consolidation of production facilities in the US.  

No inventory was written off directly to the income statement (2008: £nil). 

Inventory will be realised within the normal operating cycle of the businesses, which in some cases may be more than 12 months. 

19. Trade and other receivables       
19a. Current       
       
£m 2009 2008

Trade receivables (net of provision for impairment) 258.4 281.8

Amounts recoverable on contracts and accrued income 33.7 29.8

Other receivables 11.6 21.9

Prepayments 25.4 23.9

329.1 357.4
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19b. Non-current       
       
£m 2009 2008

Trade receivables (net of provision for impairment) – 0.3

Amounts recoverable on contracts 1.3 –

Other receivables 43.1 21.9

44.4 22.2

       

Other non-current receivables include senior loan notes which were received on the divestment of M/A-COM Technology Solutions Inc (MTS) as 

described in note 32. These loan notes are secured on the assets of MTS and carry a rate of interest of 7.5%, which increases over time, and are 

repayable in two equal tranches in December 2011 and 2012.        

       

19c. Impairment of trade receivables       
       
£m 2009 2008

Trade receivables 263.8 291.8

Provision for impairment of trade receivables (5.4) (9.7)

Net trade receivables 258.4 282.1

The Group has not experienced any material change in performance with respect to the recovery of trade receivables. A significant proportion of  

its business is directly with government agencies or in respect of large government funded military programmes, where risk is considered to remain 

low. Experience over the past year in the commercial marketplace, with respect of the impact of the economic downturn, has not been as severe  

as feared, although some commercial segments and customers remain under considerable economic stress. In light of this, £4.0m of the £7.5m 

additional impairment provision made in 2008 has been released. Information concerning credit risk is shown in note 28.

The credit quality of trade receivables can be analysed as follows: 

£m 2009 2008

Amounts currently or not yet due and not impaired 210.5 226.9

Amounts past due but not impaired 42.7 50.7

Amounts for which full or partial impairment provision has been made 10.6 14.2

At 31 December 263.8 291.8

Trade receivables which are past due but not considered by management to be impaired are aged as follows: 

£m 2009 2008

Due at 31 December 32.1 31.0

1 month overdue 6.9 10.6

2 months overdue 1.9 3.3

3 or more months overdue 1.8 5.8

42.7 50.7

The total amounts and ageing of trade receivables considered to be fully or partially impaired are as follows:      

£m 2009 2008

Due at 31 December 4.9 11.8

1 month overdue 1.8 0.5

2 months overdue 1.1 0.2

3 or more months overdue 2.8 1.7

10.6 14.2
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£5.4m (2008: £9.7m) has been provided against the above trade receivables which are considered fully or partially impaired. Movements in this 

provision during the year are as follows: 

£m 2009 2008

At 1 January 9.7 1.2

Additional provisions 1.7 9.4

Utilised (1.5) (0.9)

Unused amounts reversed (4.4) (0.3)

Foreign exchange movements (0.1) 0.3

At 31 December 5.4 9.7

The creation and reversal of the provision for impaired trade receivables have been included in administrative expenses in the income statement. 

Other classes of financial assets within trade and other receivables do not include any impaired assets. 

19d. Currency analysis
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:      

£m 2009 2008

Sterling 64.1 56.9

US dollars 239.0 241.9

Australian dollars 14.9 17.2

Euros 47.2 54.6

Other currencies 8.3 9.0

373.5 379.6

19e. Trade investments
During 2008, Cobham plc subscribed for minority shareholdings in three companies in connection with the Future Strategic Tanker Aircraft project. 

The total amount invested to date is £44,000, this is held as a trade investment and the results of these companies are not consolidated within the 

results of the Group. Cobham plc has committed to making further investments for this project as detailed in note 34.

20. Cash and cash equivalents
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. The carrying 

amount of these assets approximates to their fair value.

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of the cash flow statement:

£m 2009 2008

Cash and cash equivalents per balance sheet 366.4 311.0

Bank overdrafts (5.0) (6.6)

Cash and cash equivalents per cash flow statement 361.4 304.4

Cash and cash equivalents include term deposits in Australia equivalent to £8.4m in total (2008: £5.8m). These term deposits currently satisfy a 

requirement to provide security over the residual value of leased assets under an agreement which expires in 2020 but can be realised within three 

months under the terms of the agreements. Also, in connection with the Future Strategic Tanker Aircraft project, a small number of accounts have 

been established, the balances of which are subject to charges in certain circumstances. There were no balances on these accounts during 2008  

or 2009 or at the year end dates.
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued 
 

21. Trade and other payables      
21a. Current liabilities      

£m 2009 2008

Payments received on account 42.9 36.1

Trade payables 97.5 113.7

Other taxes and social security 17.2 15.2

Accruals and deferred income 138.6 115.0

Other liabilities 60.9 53.8

357.1 333.8

21b. Non-current liabilities      

£m 2009 2008

Payments received on account 10.1 14.8

Trade payables 0.2 –

Accruals and deferred income 7.9 9.2

Other liabilities 8.6 13.6

26.8 37.6

22. Provisions        
        
£m 2009 2008

Current liabilities 52.5 75.2

Non-current liabilities 7.9 25.8

60.4 101.0

Movements in provisions during the year are as follows:        

£m
Contingent 

consideration Warranty claims
Contract loss 

provisions

Aircraft 
maintenance 

provisions Other Total

At 1 January 2009 32.1 5.7 5.4 8.3 49.5 101.0
Additional provisions in the year 0.1 4.6 4.7 1.4 6.4 17.2
Utilisation of provisions (20.6) (2.9) (2.3) (1.9) (9.3) (37.0)
Unused amounts reversed in the year (5.0) (0.5) (1.3) (3.7) (5.5) (16.0)
Reclassifications – 0.6 (0.3) – (0.8) (0.5)
Foreign exchange adjustments (2.5) (0.4) (0.4) 0.7 (1.7) (4.3)

At 31 December 2009 4.1 7.1 5.8 4.8 38.6 60.4

        

Closing balances are analysed as:        

£m
Contingent 

consideration Warranty claims
Contract loss 

provisions

Aircraft 
maintenance 

provisions Other Total

Current liabilities 4.1 7.0 5.4 3.2 32.8 52.5
Non-current liabilities – 0.1 0.4 1.6 5.8 7.9

4.1 7.1 5.8 4.8 38.6 60.4

Contingent consideration
Contingent consideration has been provided for where it is considered probable that the conditions applicable to the payment of contingent 

consideration in respect of acquisitions made by the Group in current and previous years will be met. The amount provided is therefore the amount 

considered likely to be payable in the event of these conditions being met. Arrangements of this nature vary, but may typically extend for up to  

five years and are discounted where payable after two years. The provision at 31 December 2009 is not discounted (comparatives are stated after  

a discount of £0.1m) and the unwinding of the discount in the year resulted in a finance charge of £0.1m (2008: £0.4m).    
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Under current IFRS standards, addition to or release of contingent consideration provisions in periods after the completion of the related transaction 

are regarded as purchase price adjustments and are accounted for as an adjustment to goodwill (see note 14).

Warranty claims
The warranty provision represents management’s best estimate of the Group’s liability under warranties granted on products sold, based on past 

experience and industry averages for defective products. It is anticipated that most of these costs will be incurred in the next two financial years.

Contract loss provisions
Contract loss provisions represent management’s best estimate of the amount by which the expected benefits from certain specific contracts are 

lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under those contracts. The timeframe within which such provisions will unwind varies  

by contract, but is generally within one year. 

Aircraft maintenance provisions
Aircraft maintenance provisions are established in respect of significant periodic maintenance costs, where maintenance activity is required on  

leased operational aircraft or engines on a cycle greater than 12 months, and where specific conditions exist regarding the state of a leased aircraft 

on its return to the lessor at the end of the lease. Costs are charged to the income statement on the basis of utilisation of the aircraft and are credited 

to the provision. The provision is then utilised by absorbing the actual costs incurred in carrying out the maintenance activity or on incurring the 

expenditure required to return the aircraft to the state of maintenance required before return of the aircraft to the lessor.

Other provisions
Other provisions include provisions recognised in connection with the Group’s investment in the Future Strategic Tanker Aircraft project, legal  

claims and warranties given on the disposals of the Countermeasures operations and the Fluid and Air group in 2005. All amounts have been 

determined based on management’s current estimates of likely outcomes. Provisions relating to the Countermeasures and Fluid and Air disposals  

are likely to unwind over a period of more than one year but, due to the uncertainty over the timing and amounts, have not been discounted.  

All other items are likely to be resolved within two years. 

        

23. Deferred tax

£m 2009 2008

Deferred tax assets (22.3) (9.0)

Deferred tax liabilities 37.3 58.0

15.0 49.0

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group, and the movements thereon:    

£m
Accelerated tax 

depreciation
Retirement benefit 

obligations Intangible assets Other Total

At 1 January 2008 7.0 (10.4) 4.2 13.4 14.2

Charge/(credit) to income statement 3.0 4.0 (22.6) 7.2 (8.4)

Credit to other comprehensive income – (7.8) – (13.1) (20.9)

Acquired with business combinations – – 60.2 (8.9) 51.3

Foreign exchange adjustments 0.5 (0.1) 14.2 (1.8) 12.8

At 1 January 2009 10.5 (14.3) 56.0 (3.2) 49.0
(Credit)/charge to income statement (1.1) 2.2 3.0 (16.8) (12.7)
(Credit)/charge to other comprehensive income – (20.3) – 2.3 (18.0)
Charge to reserves – – – 2.0 2.0
Foreign exchange adjustments 0.4 0.1 (5.5) (0.3) (5.3)

At 31 December 2009 9.8 (32.3) 53.5 (16.0) 15.0



www.cobham.com

|  G
ro

up fin
an

cial statem
en

ts 

90

Notes to the Group financial statements continued 
 

In the table above, intangible assets excludes balances relating to goodwill. Other deferred tax assets and liabilities shown above include balances 

arising from temporary differences in relation to provisions, share-based payments, goodwill and derivative financial instruments. Certain deferred  

tax assets and liabilities have been offset in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Deferred tax balances (after offset) for balance sheet 

purposes are analysed as follows:

£m 2009 2008

Deferred tax liabilities fall due as follows:

Within one year 1.1 4.5

After one year 36.2 53.5

37.3 58.0

Deferred tax assets are recoverable as follows:

Within one year (18.8) (4.5)

After one year (3.5) (4.5)

(22.3) (9.0)

Without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances, deferred tax balances are as follows:      

£m
Accelerated tax 

depreciation
Retirement benefit 

obligations Intangible assets Other Total

Deferred tax assets (0.1) (32.3) – (25.2) (57.6)
Deferred tax liabilities 9.9 – 53.5 9.2 72.6

At 31 December 2009 9.8 (32.3) 53.5 (16.0) 15.0

Deferred tax assets (0.1) (14.3) – (17.0) (31.4)

Deferred tax liabilities 10.6 – 56.0 13.8 80.4

At 31 December 2008 10.5 (14.3) 56.0 (3.2) 49.0

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused capital losses of £73.5m (2008: £72.9m) potentially available for offset against future profits in 

certain circumstances.  No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of this amount because of the unpredictability of future qualifying  

profit streams.  These losses can be carried forward indefinitely.

At the balance sheet date, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries and joint ventures 

for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is £407.8m (2008: £448.2m). No liability has been recognised in respect of these differences 

because the Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will not 

reverse in the foreseeable future. 

The Group’s share of the tax on temporary differences arising in connection with interests in joint ventures was £4.0m (2008: £4.4m).
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24. Borrowings

£m Note 2009 2008

Current
Bank loans and overdrafts 401.5 783.2

Loan notes 1.2 1.2

Senior notes – 39.3

Finance leases 25 0.1 0.2

402.8 823.9

Non-current
Bank loans 46.4 0.2

Loan notes 3.7 4.9

Senior notes 325.1 122.3

Other borrowings 0.3 –

Preference shares 29 – –

Finance leases 25 0.7 1.0

376.2 128.4

Total borrowings 779.0 952.3

Bank loans and overdrafts include a total of £309.3m drawn under revolving multi-currency credit agreements of £50.0m and £300.0m which expire 

in November 2011 and July 2012 respectively. Draw downs under these arrangements are settled every three months and hence this balance is 

reported as due within one year. 

Other principal borrowing facilities include a US$75.0m credit agreement which runs to December 2031 although the lender has a series of put 

options exercisable every three years from December 2010. A number of new floating rate bank borrowing facilities have been agreed during 2009, 

together with new fixed rate senior notes. The balance of US$650.0m on the acquisition financing facility agreed in January 2008 was repaid in  

June 2009. 

      

New bank facilities comprise four separate agreements with total committed facilities of US$250.0m. The minimum committed period for all  

facilities falls between 2010 and 2013 during which time interest rates are linked to LIBOR. The total amount drawn under these agreements at  

31 December 2009 was £83.6m.        

        

Senior notes outstanding at the year end comprise the following:         

Issue date
Principal 

US$ (millions) Coupon Maturity date

October 2002 170.0 5.58% October 2012

March 2009  85.0 6.04% March 2014

March 2009  90.0 6.61% March 2016

March 2009 175.0 7.01% March 2019

Senior notes with a nominal value of US$55.0m matured in October 2009 and US$105.5m of new notes were issued after the year end as detailed  

in note 36. 

None of the various loan and note subcription agreements contain any provisions for charges over Group assets, although they do include both 

financial and non-financial covenants. The terms of the financial covenants are based on adjusted IFRS results. There have been no breaches of  

the terms of agreements or defaults during the current or comparative periods.        

 

All bank overdrafts are repayable on demand.        
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued 
 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:      

  
£m 2009 2008

Sterling 5.0 6.3

US dollars 711.1 854.2

Australian dollars 62.3 56.2

Euros 0.2 33.6

Other currencies 0.4 2.0

Total 779.0 952.3

Borrowings are held under both fixed and floating rates as follows:        

£m 2009 2008

Fixed rates
Senior notes 325.1 161.6

Floating rates
Bank loans and overdrafts 447.9 783.4

Loan notes 4.9 6.1

Other borrowings and finance leases 1.1 1.2

779.0 952.3

The Group uses interest rate swaps to manage interest rate risks; further details are given in note 28. 

25. Obligations under finance leases

Minimum lease payments Present value of minimum lease payments

£m 2009 2008 2009 2008

Amounts payable under finance leases:

Within one year 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.2

In the second to fifth years inclusive 0.9 0.9 0.7 0.6

After five years – 0.5 – 0.4

1.1 1.6 0.8 1.2

Less: future finance charges (0.3) (0.4) n/a n/a

Present value of lease obligations 0.8 1.2 0.8 1.2

Less: amount due for settlement within 12 months  
(shown under current liabilities) (0.1) (0.2)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months 0.7 1.0

Lease obligations are denominated in UK sterling, US dollars and euros.
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26. Derivative financial instruments      
Details of the Group’s financial instrument accounting policies and risk management strategies, objectives and policies are set out in the statement of 

accounting policies and in note 28.       

      

Movements in fair values      

Interest rate swaps

£m Note Cash flow hedge Fair value hedge
 Foreign exchange 

derivatives Total

Fair value at 1 January 2008 0.3 1.1 6.4 7.8

Movements in year to 31 December 2008

– fair value loss through income statement – hedged items – (1.1) – (1.1)

– fair value loss through income statement – not hedged – – (59.5) (59.5)

– fair value loss through income statement – other – – (4.8) (4.8)

– fair value gain reclassified to income statement 30 1.3 – – 1.3

– fair value (loss)/gain through OCI – hedged items 30 (43.8) – 0.4 (43.4)

– foreign exchange adjustments 30 (11.0) – 0.1 (10.9)

Fair value at 31 December 2008 (53.2) – (57.4) (110.6)
Movements in year to 31 December 2009

– cancellation of cash flow hedge 28 13.6 – – 13.6
– fair value gain through income statement – not hedged – – 42.9 42.9
– fair value gain through income statement – other – – 5.2 5.2
– fair value gain reclassified to income statement 30 13.9 – – 13.9
– fair value gain/(loss) through OCI – hedged items 30 5.2 – (0.3) 4.9
– foreign exchange adjustments 30 3.2 – – 3.2

Fair value at 31 December 2009 (17.3) – (9.6) (26.9)

Interest rate swaps are designated as cash flow hedging instruments and hedge accounting is applied. During 2009, a number of interest rate swaps 

which had been designated as cash flow hedging instruments were cancelled as described in note 28. 

All cash flow hedges were fully effective and hence there is no ineffectiveness in cash flow hedges to be reported through the income statement. 

Most foreign exchange derivatives are not accounted for using hedge accounting and movements in fair values are shown separately in the income 

statement as part of operating profit. 

Balance sheet analysis

Interest rate swaps

£m Cash flow hedge Fair value hedge
 Foreign exchange 

derivatives Total

Derivative financial instruments – non-current assets – – 2.3 2.3
Derivative financial instruments – current assets – – 8.1 8.1
Derivative financial instruments – current liabilities (6.7) – (3.9) (10.6)
Derivative financial instruments – non-current liabilities (10.6) – (16.1) (26.7)

Fair value at 31 December 2009 (17.3) – (9.6) (26.9)

Derivative financial instruments – non-current assets – – 0.7 0.7

Derivative financial instruments – current assets – – 1.1 1.1

Derivative financial instruments – current liabilities (13.9) – (31.4) (45.3)

Derivative financial instruments – non-current liabilities (39.3) – (27.8) (67.1)

Fair value at 31 December 2008 (53.2) – (57.4) (110.6)
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Notes to the Group financial statements continued 
 

27. Financial instruments       
The Group’s financial assets and liabilities can be categorised as follows: 

£m Note
Loans and 

receivables
Fair value through 

profit or loss Amortised cost
Derivatives

used for hedging 
Total carrying 

amount

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 20 366.4 – – – 366.4
Trade receivables 19 258.4 – – – 258.4
Other receivables 19 89.7 – – – 89.7
Derivative contracts 
(not hedge accounted) 26 – 10.4 – – 10.4

Financial liabilities

Trade payables 21 – – (97.7) – (97.7)
Borrowings 24 – – (779.0) – (779.0)
Derivative contracts
(not hedge accounted) 26 – (20.0) – – (20.0)
Other liabilities 21 – – (139.7) – (139.7)

Hedging instruments

Liabilities 26 – – – (17.3) (17.3)

Net financial liabilities as at 31 December 2009 (328.8)

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 20 311.0 – – – 311.0

Trade receivables 19 282.1 – – – 282.1

Other receivables 19 73.6 – – – 73.6

Derivative contracts
(not hedge accounted) 26 – 1.4 – – 1.4

Financial liabilities

Trade payables 21 – – (113.7) – (113.7)

Borrowings 24 – – (952.3) – (952.3)

Derivative contracts
(not hedge accounted) 26 – (59.2) – – (59.2)

Other liabilities 21 – – (133.5) – (133.5)

Hedging instruments

Assets 26 – – – 0.4 0.4

Liabilities 26 – – – (53.2) (53.2)

Net financial liabilities as at 31 December 2008 (643.4)

Market values have been used to determine the fair values of bank overdrafts and floating rate loans. The carrying value of trade and other 

receivables and trade payables and other liabilities are assumed to approximate to their fair values due to their short term nature. 

IFRS 7 requires the disclosure of financial assets and liabilities held at fair value using a hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in 

making the measurements. All financial instruments measured at fair value in the table above are classified as level 2 in the fair value measurement 

hierarchy, as they have been determined using significant inputs which are based on observable market data. The fair value of interest rate swaps, 

forward foreign exchange contracts, fixed rate loans and finance leases have been determined by the use of valuation techniques, primarily 

discounted cash flows, based on assumptions that are supported by observable market prices or rates.

As at 31 December 2009, the fair value of the senior notes is £377.7m (2008: £130.0m plus £39.1m for the notes which matured in October 2009).

The Group’s investment in the FSTA companies described in note 19e is classified as available for sale. The Group does not hold any financial assets 

which would be classified as held to maturity.
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The total interest income and expense for financial assets and liabilities not held at fair value through profit or loss is as follows: 

£m 2009 2008

Interest income 13.9 28.4

Interest expense (50.8) (37.8)

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of all financial assets and liabilities recorded in these financial statements approximates to their  

fair value. 

28. Financial instruments and risk management
The Group’s multi-national operations and debt financing expose it to a variety of financial risks which include the effects of changes in foreign 

currency exchange rates, credit risks, liquidity risk and interest rates. The Group has in place a risk management programme that seeks to limit the 

adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group by using foreign currency financial instruments, debt, and other instruments, including 

interest rate swaps. 

Financial instruments
The Group finances its operations primarily through a mixture of retained profits and borrowings. The Group does not use complex derivative 

financial instruments. Where it does use derivative financial instruments these are mainly put in place to manage the currency financing risks arising 

from normal operations, further details of which are given in note 26, and interest rate risks. It is, and has been throughout the period under review, 

the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.

Foreign currency risk and interest rate risk are the most significant exposures for the Group for which financial instruments are employed as mitigation. 

The Group is exposed to other risks such as liquidity risk and credit risk. The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and 

they are summarised below. The policies have remained unchanged throughout the year.

Foreign currency risk 
The Group, which is based in the UK and reports in sterling, has significant investment in overseas operations in the US, with further investments  

in other European countries, Australia and Canada. As a result, the Group’s balance sheet can be affected by movements in these countries’ exchange 

rates. The Group’s policy is to reduce, or eliminate where practicable, both structural and transactional foreign exchange risk. Foreign currency 

borrowings are used to mitigate the impact of foreign currency exchange rates on the Group’s overseas net assets.

The Group has transactional currency exposures which arise when an operating unit makes sales and purchases in currencies other than its own 

functional currency. The Group undertakes a formal process to actively manage and mitigate this exposure through a combination of minimising 

trading in non-functional currencies, matching non-functional currency revenues with non-functional currency costs and through the use of  

forward contracts.

Currency exposures are reviewed regularly and all significant foreign exchange transactions are approved by Cobham plc management. 

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities are as follows:

2009 2008

million US$ € AUS$ US$ € AUS$

Monetary assets 316.3 76.8 58.8 271.4 81.9 50.0

Monetary liabilities (872.1) (47.6) (98.8) (1,070.0) (107.8) (88.5)

The following borrowings and forward foreign exchange contracts match exposures arising from currency denominated net assets:

million 2009 2008

US dollar borrowings 699.7 838.1

US dollar foreign exchange contracts 172.8 177.4

Euro borrowings – 32.9
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The sterling/US dollar exchange rate is the most important as far as the Group is concerned, particularly given the level of US dollars which non-US 

based subsidiaries expect to receive from their normal business activities, and the proportion of the Group based in the US. In addition to the longer 

term borrowing structure, a number of financial instruments are used to manage the foreign exchange position, such as forward contracts. It is the 

Group’s current belief that the net dollar receipts by its subsidiaries will exceed the level of the outstanding commitment.

The following table details the forward foreign currency contracts for sales of US dollars outstanding as at 31 December:

US$ amount Average US$: £ exchange rate

million 2009 2008 2009 2008

Expiring within one year 176.6 140.0 1.59 1.82

Expiring within one to two years 78.8 70.2 1.57 1.53

Expiring after two years 32.0 75.7 1.68 1.59

287.4 285.9 1.59 1.68

The latest expiry date of forward foreign currency contracts for sales of US dollars is September 2014.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a weakening in sterling against the respective foreign currencies. The sensitivities below represent 

management’s assessment of the possible changes in foreign exchange rates, based on experience over the previous five years. The sensitivity 

analysis of the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the reporting date has been determined based on the assumption that the change is 

effective throughout the financial year. The analysis assumes that all other variables, including interest rates, remain constant and includes the effects 

of derivative financial instruments. A positive number indicates an increase in profit after taxation and equity.

2009 2008

£m Sensitivity Profit/(loss) Equity Sensitivity Profit/(loss) Equity

US dollars 20% (29.9) (29.9) 18% 28.9 28.9

Euros 14% (9.2) (9.2) 13% 2.4 2.4

Australian dollars 19% (0.1) (0.1) 15% – –

The exposure to movements in exchange rates arises due to outstanding non-functional currency financial instruments, receivables and payables at 

the year end, including borrowings.

In order to provide comparable information, sensitivity has also been assessed based on a 10% weakening in sterling against the respective foreign 

currency, as follows: 

2009 2008

£m Sensitivity Profit/(loss) Equity Sensitivity Profit/(loss) Equity

US dollars 10% (13.2) (13.2) 10% 16.3 16.3

Euros 10% (6.3) (6.3) 10% 2.1 2.1

Australian dollars 10% – – 10% – –

Interest rate risk           
The Group has various long and short term borrowings, principally in US dollars and Australian dollars at both fixed and floating rates of interest.  

The Group continually monitors its exposure to movements in interest rates in order to bring greater stability and certainty with respect to borrowing 

costs. Group policy is to assess borrowings with regard to fixed or variable rates of interest depending on prevailing market conditions and to use 

interest rate swaps to manage the interest rate risk. 

The Group has fixed rate borrowings under senior notes as described in note 24.
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All floating rate borrowings have regular repricing dates. Interest rate swaps which mitigate the exposure arising on floating rate debt are all 

designated as cash flow hedges and are as follows: 

Period of swap contract

Currency value
2009

£m
2008

£mHedged item Fixed rate from to

US dollar bank loans 4.48% January 2006 June 2010 US$260.0m 161.0 180.8

3.49% March 2008 March 2013 US$139.0m 86.1 96.7

3.49% March 2008 – * US$139.0m – 96.7

3.61% August 2008 August 2013 US$211.0m 130.7 146.8

3.61% August 2008 – * US$211.0m – 146.8

Australian dollar bank loans 6.30% May 2006 January 2020 AUS$90.9m 50.6 48.1

6.40% January 2007 January 2020 AUS$17.8m 9.9 7.2

*  During the year, US$350.0m of fixed rate senior notes were issued with maturities between 2014 and 2019. These were hedged as a highly probable forecast transaction using forward starting floating to fixed interest 

rate swaps (notional value of US$350.0m). As the debt issued was at a fixed rate, the interest rate swaps which had been designated as cash flow hedges were terminated, and the related hedge reserve is being 

amortised over the life of the original forecast issuance. In 2009, £2.6m has been reclassified from the hedge reserve and reflected in other finance expense (notes 3 and 30). 

Surplus funds are placed on short term fixed rate deposits and as such are subject to interest rate exposure.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a change of 1.0% in interest rates throughout the year, with all other variables, including foreign 

currency exchange rates, held constant. A positive number indicates an increase in profit after taxation and equity where interest rates rise. A fall in 

interest rates would have the equal but opposite effect on the basis that all other variables remain constant. 

2009 2008

£m Profit/(loss) Equity Profit/(loss) Equity

Sterling 1.4 – 1.4 –

US dollars 0.3 12.1 0.1 28.0

Euros 0.1 – 0.1 –

Australian dollars 0.3 2.6 0.2 6.6

Liquidity risk
The Group has a positive cash flow from operating activities and where practicable the funds generated by operating companies are managed  

on a regional basis. For short term working capital purposes in the UK, most operating companies utilise local bank facilities within an overall Group 

arrangement. In the US a central treasury function is maintained which all US subsidiaries use. These practices allow a balance to be maintained 

between continuity of funding, security and flexibility.

As regards liquidity, the Group’s policy throughout the year has been to maintain a mix of short, medium and long-term borrowings with their lenders. 

Short term flexibility is achieved by overdraft facilities and the use of the Group’s revolving credit facility which expires in July 2012. The table below 

summarises the remaining contractual maturity for the Group’s financial liabilities. The amounts shown are the contractual undiscounted cash flows 

which include interest, analysed by contractual maturity.

2009 2008

£m Within one year 1-5 years Over 5 years Within one year 1-5 years Over 5 years

Non-derivative financial 
liabilities:

Trade and other payables 218.5 16.1 2.8 218.8 28.4 –

Borrowings 402.9 212.2 164.2 823.9 128.3 0.5

Contingent consideration 4.1 – – 21.8 10.8 –

Derivative contracts:

Gross cash outflows (56.1) (133.0) – (349.9) (211.3) (18.7)

Gross cash inflows 43.3 110.7 0.3 300.9 157.1 13.8
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In addition, and to provide flexibility in the management of the Group’s liquidity, it is the Group’s policy to maintain undrawn committed borrowing 

facilities in various currencies. The following facilities, which are at floating rates, were available at 31 December:

£m 2009 2008

Expiring within one year 48.4 42.6

Expiring between one and five years 65.4 –

113.8 42.6

Further financing has also been agreed since the year end as detailed in note 36.

Credit risk
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The Group’s principal financial assets are bank balances, cash and trade and other receivables.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with satisfactory credit ratings 

assigned by international credit rating agencies. The Group further limits risk in this area by setting a maximum level for deposits or overdrafts with 

any one counterparty. These facilities are reviewed every six months or more often if there is an indication that the credit rating of any of the banks 

falls below a Moody’s Aa3 rating. 

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited due to the Group’s customer base being large and unrelated. Customers  

are typically large global companies or government agencies with long-term trading relationships. The Group also has in place procedures that require 

appropriate credit checks on potential customers before sales are made. Existing customer accounts are also monitored on an ongoing basis and 

appropriate action is taken where necessary to minimise any credit risk. The Directors therefore believe there is no further credit risk provision 

required in excess of normal provision for impaired receivables. 

Group management monitor the ageing of receivables which are more than one month overdue and debtor days on a regular basis. At  

31 December 2009, 6.2% (2008: 7.6%) of gross trade receivables were overdue by one month or more. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at 31 December 2009 is the fair value of each class of receivable as disclosed in note 19. Letters of credit are  

the only collateral held as security against trade receivables. These are obtained in a limited number of cases in accordance with good business 

practice and secure less than £1.0m of receivables.  

The Group has pledged assets only in respect of finance leases and bank accounts as disclosed in notes 15 and 20. No assets have been pledged  

in respect of any of the Group’s primary borrowing facilities or other financial liabilities. 

In the UK and the US, the Group has master netting arrangements in respect of bank balances. In the normal course of business these bank accounts 

are settled on a net basis within each currency and as such are presented net in the financial statements. In the event of an automatic enforcement 

event the bank balances are automatically set off against each other to achieve a net position. 

Capital risk management
Group policy is to maintain a strong capital base, defined as total shareholders’ equity, excluding minority interests, totalling £948.0m at  

31 December 2009 (2008: £848.2m), so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. 

Within this overall policy, the Group seeks to maintain an optimum capital structure by a mixture of debt and retained earnings. Funding needs are 

reviewed periodically and also each time a significant acquisition is made. A number of factors are considered which include the net debt/EBITDA 

ratio, future funding needs (usually potential acquisitions), proposed dividend levels and Group banking arrangements. This policy has been  

reviewed by the Board on a regular basis during the year and, given the current economic climate, continues to be considered appropriate. 

During the year and subsequent to the year end, additional funding has been secured through private placements. Such agreements are one of the 

Group’s primary sources of funding and typically the Group borrows US dollars to fund acquisitions in the US. As noted above, the Group maintains  

a mixture of fixed and floating interest rate arrangements and, within the overall net debt, will hold deposits in sterling and borrowings in overseas 

currencies such as US dollars, euros and Australian dollars funding overseas operations.
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29. Share capital 
Authorised

£m 2009 2008

1,479,200,000 (2008: 1,479,200,000) Ordinary Shares of par value 2.5p 37.0 37.0

20,000 6% second cumulative Preference Shares of £1 – –

Ordinary Shares – issued and fully paid

Number of shares £m

At 1 January 2008 1,135,355,340 28.4

Exercise of share options 4,687,312 0.1

At 1 January 2009 1,140,042,652 28.5
Exercise of share options 6,291,505 0.1

At 31 December 2009 1,146,334,157 28.6

The Company has one class of Ordinary Shares which carry no right to fixed income, representing 99.9% of the total issued share capital. On a show  

of hands every member holding Ordinary Shares who is present in person or by a duly authorised representative has one vote and on a poll every 

member who is present in person or by proxy has one vote for every £1 in nominal value of the shares of which the member is the holder.

19,700 6% second cumulative Preference Shares have been issued, representing 0.1% of total issued share capital. These are non-redeemable and  

are classified as borrowings with a value of £19,700.

The shareholders of the 6% second cumulative Preference Shares are entitled to receive a fixed cumulative preference dividend at the rate of 6%  

per annum in priority to the payment of dividends on the Ordinary Shares. In addition, on a return of assets on the liquidation or otherwise of the 

Company, the assets available for distribution are to be applied first in repaying to the holders of the 6% second cumulative Preference Shares the 

amounts paid up on their shares. On a show of hands, every member holding 6% second cumulative Preference Shares who is present in person  

has one vote and on a poll, every member has one vote for every £1 in nominal amount of the shares of which the member is the holder. 

30. Other reserves

£m Note Translation reserve Hedging reserve
Share options 

reserve
Total 

 other reserves

At 1 January 2008 1.4 – 17.9 19.3

Currency differences on translation of foreign operations 51.8 – – 51.8

Movements on cash flow hedges 26 (11.0) (43.4) – (54.4)

Reclassification to income statement 26 – 1.3 – 1.3

Credit to reserve for the year for share-based payments 11 – – 6.1 6.1

Transfer to retained earnings – – (1.4) (1.4)

Tax effects of movements in reserves 2.9 12.0 (0.4) 14.5

At 1 January 2009 45.1 (30.1) 22.2 37.2
Currency differences on translation of foreign operations (3.8) – – (3.8)
Movements on cash flow hedges 26 3.2 5.2 – 8.4
Reclassification to income statement – 16.5 – 16.5
Movements in hedged foreign exchange contracts 26 – (0.3) – (0.3)
Credit to reserve for the year for share-based payments 11 – – 5.8 5.8
Release of share options reserve on vesting of LTIPs – – (1.9) (1.9)
Transfer to retained earnings – – (2.9) (2.9)
Tax effects of movements in reserves (0.9) (6.0) 1.7 (5.2)

At 31 December 2009 43.6 (14.7) 24.9 53.8

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising on the results and financial position of subsidiaries whose functional 

currencies differ from the Group’s reporting currency, together with the foreign exchange movement on cash flow hedges as shown in note 26. 

The hedging reserve reflects movements in fair values on cash flow hedging derivatives and hedged foreign exchange contracts as detailed in notes 

26 and 28.
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The share options reserve includes the cost of share options as assessed under IFRS 2 together with deferred tax provided under IAS 12 relating to 

share-based payments, where the calculated future tax benefit is in excess of the amount charged to date under IFRS 2. Where share options which 

gave rise to charges under IFRS 2 have been exercised, the appropriate proportion of the share options reserve is transferred to retained earnings. 

31. Acquisitions          
The acquisition of the entire share capital of Argotek, Inc was completed on 21 May 2009 for total consideration of US$36.25m, including deferred 

consideration of US$10.0m. Argotek provides high-end information assurance services and is reported within the Cobham Defence Systems Division, 

doing business as Cobham Analytic Solutions, Chantilly.  

On 31 December 2009, the acquisition of the trade and assets known as Safelife Systems was completed for cash consideration of US$0.6m. Safelife 

Systems is based in Knoxville, Tennessee and provides a satellite self-test detection service. This service is complementary to the ACR product line 

and will form part of the Cobham Life Support Strategic Business Unit. Assets acquired include tangible and intangible assets and the expenses 

relating to the acquisition were US$49,000. 

Components of the cost of these acquisitions are as follows: 

£m Total

Cash 16.8

Deferred consideration 6.4

Directly attributable acquisition costs (including direct legal costs) 0.2

23.4

The net cash flows resulting from acquisitions, including acquisitions completed in prior years, are as follows:      

Cash consideration paid including expenses of acquisition 16.8

Consideration and expenses of acquisitions completed in prior periods 2.1

18.9

For Argotek, Inc, the profit after tax since the date of acquisition is £1.2m, this includes the impacts of amortisation of intangible assets and internal 

finance costs which are included within the results of the acquired business for management purposes. 

If the acquisitions had taken effect on 1 January 2009, it is estimated that Group total revenues would have been £1,884.9m and profit after tax 

£186.9m. This information is not necessarily indicative of the results had the operations been acquired at the start of the period, nor of future results 

of the combined operations.

A summary of the book and fair values of the net assets acquired on the acquisitions of Argotek and Safelife Systems are as follows: 

£m
Book value  

prior to acquisition Fair value

Non-current assets 0.1 13.3

Current assets 0.9 0.9

Current liabilities (1.3) (1.3)

Net assets/(liabilities) acquired (0.3) 12.9

Goodwill 10.5

Total consideration 23.4

All intangible assets were recognised at their respective fair values. The residual excess of the total cost over the fair value of the net assets acquired  

is recognised as goodwill in the financial statements. Goodwill represents the premium paid in anticipation of future economic benefits from assets 

that are not capable of being separately identified and separately recognised.

Adjustments from book value to fair value include adjustments arising from the recognition of intangible assets under IFRS 3, Business Combinations. 

No provision was required for deferred tax due to the availability of tax elections.

In the Group consolidated financial statements for the year to 31 December 2008, the fair values of assets and liabilities acquired for M/A-COM were 

marked as provisional. In light of subsequent information reflecting conditions as at the date of acquisition, property, plant and equipment has 
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decreased by £1.2m, assets held for resale have decreased by £3.1m and other current liabilities have been increased by £0.2m, resulting in a total 

decrease in the fair value of net assets acquired of £4.5m. Goodwill has therefore been adjusted accordingly. A further £0.6m adjustment to goodwill 

was also made in respect of the acquisition of MMI Research Limited. 

32. Disposals and discontinued operations

£m 2009 2008

Profit on disposal – 2.9

      

No businesses were sold or classified as discontinued during the current or prior year and there were no trading profits arising from discontinued 

operations during 2009 or 2008. 

During the year to 31 December 2008, a profit on disposal of £2.9m arose relating to the disposal of the Fluid and Air group which was sold in 2005. 

No tax liability arises in respect of this profit and, consistent with the treatment previously adopted, this profit has been treated as the result of 

discontinued operations.

Basic and diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations for 2008 were 0.26p per share, based on the profit for the year from discontinued 

operations of £2.9m and the share data in note 6 for both basic and diluted earnings per share. 

At 31 December 2008, the Group’s investment in M/A-COM Technology Solutions Inc (MTS) was classified as held for sale. The divestment of this 

business was completed on 31 March 2009 for debt-free cash-free consideration comprising US$30.0m in cash, US$30.0m in senior loan notes 

secured on the MTS assets and US$30.0m dependent on future revenues in the period 2010 to 2012. There was no profit or loss arising on this 

disposal. The loan notes are included within receivables as described in note 19. 

33. Operating lease arrangements
At the balance sheet date the Group had outstanding commitments for minimum lease payments due under non-cancellable operating leases  

as follows: 

£m 2009 2008

Within one year 29.5 31.5

Between one and five years 86.2 85.5

After five years 105.8 118.6

221.5 235.6

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office and operational properties, and operational aircraft used  

in its service businesses. 

34. Contingent liabilities and commitments
As at 31 December 2009, the parent company and the Group had contingent liabilities in respect of bank and contractual performance guarantees 

and other matters arising in the ordinary course of business entered into, for, or on behalf of, certain Group undertakings. Where it is expected that  

a material liability will arise in respect of these matters, appropriate provision is made within the Group consolidated financial statements or within 

those of the relevant subsidiary.

As the conditions of the above guarantees are currently being met, no obligating event is foreseeable and therefore no contingent liability provision 

has been made at the year end. 

Cobham plc has also committed, in connection with the Future Strategic Tanker Aircraft project, to invest £6.0m in the equity share capital of three 

companies and to provide additional funding of £18.1m in the form of redeemable loan notes by March 2013 at the latest. In addition, a number of 

performance guarantees and letters of credit have been provided to secure the funding of this project. £3.0m (2008: £6.0m) has been provided in 

connection with these guarantees as at 31 December 2009 which is included in other provisions (note 22).

The Company and various of its subsidiaries are, from time to time, parties to numerous legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary 

course of business.  Even though one claim is larger than is typical, management do not anticipate that the outcome of these proceedings, actions 

and claims, either individually or in aggregate, will have a material adverse effect upon the Group’s financial position.
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At 31 December 2009, the Group had commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment of £8.6m (2008: £10.9m) which includes 

commitments relating to the Australian Sentinel contract and the redevelopment of Cobham Mission Equipment’s Wimborne site. 

35. Related party transactions
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on consolidation and  

are not disclosed in this note. Details of transactions between the Group and other related parties are disclosed below.

£m 2009 2008

Trading transactions and balances with joint ventures
Transactions between group entities and joint ventures during the year:

Sales of goods 0.3 0.7

Purchases of goods 0.1 0.2

Dividends received (5.2) (8.9)

At the year end balances with joint ventures were as follows:

Amounts owed by related parties to group entities – 0.1

Trading transactions and balances with businesses held for sale
Transactions between group entities and businesses held for sale as at 31 December 2008  
and disposed of during 2009:

Purchases of goods 0.2 0.6

At the year end balances with businesses held for sale were as follows:

Amounts owed by related parties to group entities – 5.4

Amounts owed to related parties by group entities – (9.9)

Sales of goods to related parties were made at the Group’s usual list prices for sales to non-related parties. Goods are bought on the basis of the price 

lists in force with non-related parties. 

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in cash. No guarantees have been given to or received from related parties. No expense 

has been recognised in the period for bad or doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties.

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

£m 2009 2008

Remuneration 8.0 7.2

Post-employment benefits 0.7 0.6

Share-based payments 3.8 2.9

12.5 10.7

The remuneration of Directors and key executives is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to the performance of individuals 

and market trends.

The Directors of Cobham plc had no material transactions with the Company during the year, other than as a result of service agreements. Details  

of Directors’ remuneration are disclosed in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 42 to 49. 

36. Events after the balance sheet date
Since the year end, the Company has issued US$105.0m floating rate senior notes, expiring in 2018, under a US private placement. Also, a US$50.0m 

bank facility has been cancelled by the Company. 
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37. Subsidiaries
All subsidiary undertakings except those businesses acquired for sale have been included in the consolidation. The undertakings held at  

31 December 2009 which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for the year or the net assets of the Group, grouped  

by Division and Strategic Business Unit were:

Name of undertaking Place of incorporation (or registration) and operation

Cobham Avionics and Surveillance
Cobham Avionics
Artex Aircraft Supplies, Inc US

Chelton Avionics, Inc US

Northern Airborne Technology Limited Canada

S-TEC Corporation US

Cobham France
Air Précision SAS France

Chelton Antennas SA France

Chelton Telecom & Microwave SAS France

Credowan Limited England

Hyper-Technologies SAS France

Label SAS France

NEC Aero SAS France

TEAM SA France

Cobham SATCOM
Comant Industries, Inc US

Omnipless Manufacturing (Proprietary) Limited* South Africa

Patriot Antenna Systems, Inc US

Sea Tel, Inc US

TracStar Systems, Inc US

Cobham Surveillance
Cobham Tracking and Locating Limited Canada

domo Limited England

DTC Communications, Inc US

Global Microwave Systems, Inc US

Micromill Electronics Limited England

MMI Research Limited England

Spectronic Denmark A/S Denmark

Cobham Technical Services
ERA Technology Limited England

Cobham Defence Systems
Cobham Analytic Solutions
Argotek, Inc US

SPARTA, Inc US

Cobham Antenna Systems
Chelton, Inc US

Chelton Limited England

Cobham Advanced Composites Limited England

Continental Microwave & Tool Co, Inc US

European Antennas Limited England

Kevlin Corporation US

Mastsystem International Oy Finland

Sivers Lab AB Sweden
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Name of undertaking Place of incorporation (or registration) and operation

Cobham Defence Communications
Cobham Defence Communications Limited England

Cobham MAL Limited England

Cobham Sensor Systems
Atlantic Microwave Corporation US

Cobham Defense Electronic Systems – M/A-COM, Inc US

Nurad Technologies, Inc US

REMEC Defense & Space, Inc US

Sensor & Antenna Systems, Lansdale, Inc US

Cobham Mission Systems
Cobham Life Support
ACR Electronics Europe GmbH Austria

ACR Electronics, Inc US

Carleton Life Support Systems, Inc US

Carleton Technologies, Inc US

Conax Florida Corporation US

Cobham Mission Equipment
Flight Refuelling Limited* England

Sargent Fletcher, Inc US

Cobham Aviation Services
Cobham Aviation Services UK
AFI Flight Inspection GmbH Germany

Cobham Flight Inspection Limited England

FR Aviation Group Limited* England

FR Aviation Limited England

FR Aviation Services Limited England

Cobham Aviation Services Australia
National Air Support Pty Limited Australia

National Jet Systems Pty Limited Australia

Surveillance Australia Pty Limited Australia

Group companies
Cobham Holdings, Inc US

Lockman Investments Limited* England

Lockman Electronic Holdings Limited* England

All subsidiaries are 100% owned with the exception of Northern Airborne Technology Limited (99.9% owned) and TEAM SA (98.7% owned).   

In the case of the companies marked*, issued shares are held by, or by a nominee for, Cobham plc. Otherwise shares are held by, or by a nominee for, 

a subsidiary of Cobham plc. 
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Group financial record      

£m 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Revenue 970.3 1,012.1 1,061.1 1,466.5 1,880.4

Underlying profit before taxation 167.0 182.9 206.5 243.8 295.3

Profit on continuing operations before taxation 126.0 185.2 173.5 120.7 244.9
Tax on continuing operations (35.3) (50.7) (47.3) (28.1) (59.0)

Profit on continuing operations after taxation 90.7 134.5 126.2 92.6 185.9
Profit after taxation from discontinued operations 7.4 13.8 5.8 2.9 –

Profit after taxation for the year 98.1 148.3 132.0 95.5 185.9

Net assets employed
Intangible assets 528.1 482.6 476.1 1,211.8 1,063.0
Property, plant and equipment (including investment properties) 206.8 194.0 211.0 304.1 329.5
Investments 14.7 15.7 18.8 16.9 17.4
Other non-current assets 19.8 24.7 26.0 31.9 69.0
Current assets 649.4 717.3 858.9 994.9 963.2

1,418.8 1,434.3 1,590.8 2,559.6 2,442.1
Current liabilities (559.6) (498.7) (560.7) (1,342.7) (903.7)
Long-term liabilities (191.1) (191.0) (188.8) (316.9) (474.9)

Net assets excluding pension liabilities 668.1 744.6 841.3 900.0 1,063.5
Pension liabilities (81.0) (29.6) (37.2) (51.2) (115.2)

Net assets including pension liabilities 587.1 715.0 804.1 848.8 948.3

Financed by
Ordinary share capital 28.1 28.3 28.4 28.5 28.6
Reserves 557.5 686.6 775.3 819.7 919.4

Shareholders’ funds 585.6 714.9 803.7 848.2 948.0
Minority interest 1.5 0.1 0.4 0.6 0.3

Net assets 587.1 715.0 804.1 848.8 948.3

Net (debt)/cash (168.3) 0.9 77.9 (641.3) (412.6)

pence

Dividend paid per Ordinary Share 3.19 3.51 3.86 4.63 5.09
Earnings per Ordinary Share – underlying 10.58 11.66 13.09 15.42 18.80
Earnings per Ordinary Share – basic (continuing) 8.05 11.90 11.10 8.13 16.26
Earnings per Ordinary Share – diluted (continuing) 8.01 11.79 11.04 8.08 16.17
Net assets per Ordinary Share 52.4 63.2 70.8 74.5 82.7

£m

Market capitalisation 1,900 2,191 2,373 2,343 2,883
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where  

the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

•  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent 

company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 

from branches not visited by us; or 

•  the parent company financial statements and the part of the 

Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement 

with the accounting records and returns; or 

•  certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are  

not made; or 

•  we have not received all the information and explanations we require 

for our audit. 

Other matter 
We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of 

Cobham plc for the year ended 31 December 2009. 

Stuart Watson (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

Southampton, 3 March 2010

Notes:

(a)  The maintenance and integrity of the Cobham plc website is the responsibility of the Directors; the 

work carried out by the Auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the 

Auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements 

since they were initially presented on the website.

(b)  Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements 

may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Independent auditors’ report  
to the members of Cobham plc

We have audited the parent company financial statements of Cobham 

plc for the year ended 31 December 2009 which comprise the balance 

sheet, the reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds, the 

related notes and the accounting policies. The financial reporting 

framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 

and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally 

Accepted Accounting Practice).

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors 
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement  

set out on page 50, the Directors are responsible for the preparation  

of the parent company financial statements and for being satisfied that 

they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit the parent 

company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 

International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 

require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical 

Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for 

the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 

16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, 

in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other 

purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into 

whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior 

consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures 

in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance  

that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, 

whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: 

whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the parent company’s 

circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately 

disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made 

by the Directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion the parent company financial statements: 

•  give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at  

31 December 2009;

•  have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom 

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and 

•  have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 

Companies Act 2006. 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies  
Act 2006 
In our opinion: 

•  the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has 

been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 

and 

•  the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year  

for which the parent company financial statements are prepared is 

consistent with the parent company financial statements. 
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Intangible assets
Intangible assets, comprising software, are stated at cost less 

accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. They are amortised 

on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives which range  

from three to five years.

 

Tangible fixed assets
Plant and machinery fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis 

to their estimated residual values over their estimated useful lives which 

range from three to six years. 

Investments in group and other undertakings
Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost less any 

provision for impairment in value and include the fair value at the date of 

grant of share options awarded to employees of subsidiary undertakings, 

net of amounts recovered as management charges.

Other investments are stated at cost less any provision for impairment  

in value.

Operating leases
Operating lease payments for assets leased from third parties are 

charged to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over  

the term of the lease.

Provisions
A provision is recognised when the Company has a present legal or 

constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that 

settlement will be required of an amount that can be reliably estimated.

Share capital
Ordinary share capital is classified as equity. Financial liabilities and equity 

instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual 

agreements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that 

evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Company after 

deducting all of its liabilities.

Preference share capital is classified as a liability if it is redeemable on  

a specific date or at the option of the preference shareholders or if 

dividend payments are not discretionary. Dividends on preference share 

capital classified as liabilities are recognised in the profit and loss account 

as interest expense. 

 

Foreign currencies
The functional currency of the Company is sterling. Transactions in 

currencies other than the local currency are translated at the exchange 

rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities 

denoted in non-functional currencies are retranslated at the exchange 

rate ruling at the balance sheet date.

 

All exchange differences arising are taken to the profit and loss account. 

In order to manage the Group’s exposure to certain foreign exchange 

risks, the Company enters into forward contracts and options which are 

accounted for as derivative financial instruments. 

Accounting convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 

convention, as modified by the revaluation of certain tangible fixed assets 

and derivative contracts which are held at fair value, in accordance with 

the Companies Act 2006 and applicable accounting standards (UK GAAP). 

The principal accounting policies, which have been consistently applied, 

are as set out below.

FRS 8 (revised) has been adopted in these accounts for the first time  

and has resulted in additional disclosure of transactions with subsidiaries 

which are not wholly owned.

Dividends 
Dividends payable are recognised as a liability in the period in which  

they are fully authorised. Dividend income is recognised when the 

shareholder’s right to receive payment has been established.

Pensions
The Company operates and contributes to a multi-employer defined 

benefit pension scheme. Contributions and pension costs are 

apportioned across the scheme as a whole and assessed in accordance 

with the advice of qualified actuaries. The scheme is closed to new 

members and has a high proportion of deferred and pensioner members 

from businesses that no longer participate in the scheme. The Company 

is therefore not able to identify its share of underlying assets and 

liabilities of the scheme on a reasonable and consistent basis and in 

accordance with the multi-employer exemption contained in FRS 17, 

Retirement Benefits, the scheme has been accounted for as if it was  

a defined contribution scheme. The charge to the profit and loss  

account therefore reflects payments for the year. 

Contributions to defined contribution schemes are charged to the profit 

and loss account in the period the contributions are payable. 

The Company also makes contributions for certain employees to 

individual personal pension and stakeholder schemes. Contributions are 

charged to the profit and loss account in the year to which they relate.

Deferred taxation
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that  

have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date, where 

transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in  

the future or a right to pay less tax in the future have occurred at the 

balance sheet date.

A net deferred tax asset is recognised as recoverable when, on the basis 

of all available evidence, it can be regarded as more likely than not that 

there will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of 

underlying timing differences can be deducted.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in  

the periods in which the timing differences are expected to reverse, 

based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax has not been discounted.

Parent company accounting policies
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Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative 

contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair 

value. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on 

whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, 

the nature of the item being hedged.

The Company’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of 

changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The 

Company uses foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate 

swap contracts to reduce these exposures. The Company does not  

use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

The Company documents at the inception of an interest rate swap 

transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged 

items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy for 

undertaking various hedge transactions. The Company also documents 

its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of 

whether the derivatives used in hedging transactions are highly effective 

in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

Hedge accounting is not used to account for foreign exchange 

derivatives entered into to mitigate foreign exchange impacts of trading 

in non-local currencies and movements in fair values are shown 

separately in the profit and loss account as part of operating profit. 

Foreign exchange derivatives entered into to mitigate foreign exchange 

impacts arising on the acquisition of fixed assets are accounted for  

as cash flow hedges.

Fair value hedges
Changes in fair values of derivatives that are designated and qualify as 

fair value hedges are recorded in the profit and loss account, together 

with any changes in the fair values of the hedged asset or liability that 

are attributable to the hedged risk. The gains or losses relating to interest 

rate swaps hedging fixed rate borrowings are recognised in finance 

income and expense in the profit and loss account. 

Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of changes in fair values of derivatives that are 

designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in equity.  

The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised 

immediately in the profit and loss account. Amounts accumulated in 

equity are recycled to the profit and loss account in the periods when 

the hedged item affects profit or loss.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no 

longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or 

loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised 

when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the profit and 

loss account. If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur,  

the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity is immediately 

transferred to the profit and loss account for the period.

Other financial instruments
Amounts receivable from and owed to subsidiaries are recognised at 

their nominal value, receivables are reduced by appropriate allowances 

for estimated irrecoverable amounts. 

Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds 

received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges are accounted for  

on an accruals basis in the profit and loss account using the effective 

interest rate method and are added to the carrying amount of the 

instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which 

they arise.

 

Share-based payments
For grants made to employees of Cobham plc under the Company’s 

share-based payment schemes, amounts which reflect the fair value of 

options awarded as at the time of grant are charged to the profit and 

loss account over the vesting period. The fair value of options awarded 

to employees of subsidiary undertakings, net of amounts recovered  

as management charges, is recognised as a capital contribution and 

recorded in investments.

The costs of awards made to employees of Cobham plc under cash 

settled share-based payment schemes are measured initially at the grant 

date and expensed over the vesting period. The liability is re-measured  

at each balance sheet date up to and including the settlement date with 

changes in fair value recognised through the profit and loss account.

The valuation of the options utilises a methodology based on the 

Black-Scholes model, modified where required to allow for the impact  

of market related performance criteria and taking into account all 

non-vesting conditions.

Parent company accounting policies continued
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£m Note 2009 2008

Fixed assets
Investments in group undertakings 4 780.5 773.6

Intangible assets 5 0.4 0.5

Tangible assets 6 0.4 0.3

Financial assets: Derivative financial instruments 12 2.3 0.7

783.6 775.1

Current assets
Financial assets: Derivative financial instruments 12 7.2 1.0

Debtors 7 1,066.0 1,254.7

Cash at bank and in hand 322.8 295.5

1,396.0 1,551.2

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 8 (824.2) (1,231.2)

Net current assets 571.8 320.0

Total assets less current liabilities 1,355.4 1,095.1

Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year 9 (805.2) (596.9)

Provisions for liabilities and charges 10 (10.4) (12.7)

Net assets 539.8 485.5

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 13 28.7 28.5

Share premium account 14 112.5 103.9

Special reserve 14 43.6 43.6

Other reserves 14 3.2 (13.1)

Profit and loss account 14 351.8 322.6

Equity shareholders’ funds 539.8 485.5

Approved by a duly appointed and authorised committee of the Board on 3 March 2010 and signed on its behalf by:

AJ Stevens
WG Tucker
Directors 

Registered Number in England: 30470

Parent company balance sheet (under UK GAAP)
As at 31 December 2009
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£m Note 2009 2008

Profit for the financial year 85.2 71.0

Dividends 1 (58.2) (52.7)

Retained profit for the financial year 27.0 18.3

Issue of shares 13 0.2 0.1

Premium on issue of shares 14 8.6 5.1

Treasury shares 14 (0.7) (1.1)

Movements in hedging reserve 14 15.3 (30.6)

Credit in respect of share-based payments 14 3.9 6.1

Net addition to/(deduction from) shareholders’ funds 54.3 (2.1)

Shareholders’ funds at 1 January 485.5 487.6

Shareholders’ funds at 31 December 539.8 485.5

Profit for the financial year    
In accordance with the concession granted under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the profit and loss account of Cobham plc has not been 

separately presented in these financial statements.

Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds
For the year ended 31 December 2009
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1. Dividends
The following dividends on Ordinary Shares were authorised and paid during the year:

£m 2009 2008

Final dividend of 3.61p per share for 2008 (2007: 3.28p)  41.3  37.3 

Interim dividend of 1.48p per share for 2009 (2008: 1.345p)  16.9 15.4

58.2 52.7

In addition to the above, the Directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2009 of 3.97 pence per share 

which will absorb an estimated £45.5m of shareholders’ funds. This dividend is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting and 

has not been included as a liability in these financial statements. If authorised, it will be paid on 5 July 2010 to shareholders who are on the register  

of members as at 28 May 2010. The total dividend in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2009 will therefore be 5.45 pence per share 

(2008: 4.955 pence). The total amount paid in respect of 2009 will be £62.4m (2008: £56.7m).

2. Directors’ emoluments and pension costs
Disclosures in respect of Directors’ emoluments can be found in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 42 to 49 of the Group financial 

statements.

Defined benefit pension schemes
The Company operates and participates in the Cobham Pension Plan (CPP) and the Cobham Executive Pension Plan (CEPP). The pension schemes  

are of the defined benefit type and assets are held in separate trustee administered funds. The funds are valued every three years by a professionally 

qualified independent actuary, the rates of contribution payable being determined by the actuary. The latest effective dates of the actuarial 

assessment of the CPP and CEPP were 1 April 2009 and 1 April 2007 respectively. The assessments were updated to 31 December 2009 at which date 

the total net liabilities of the schemes were assessed to be £71.3m. The Directors of the companies involved in the Group schemes will continue to 

monitor the pension deficits and take advice from independent actuaries as appropriate. 

The schemes have been accounted for as if they were defined contribution schemes and the charge to the profit and loss account therefore reflects 

payments for the year.

Contributions to the Group schemes for 2009 amounted to £0.4m (2008: £0.3m) of normal funding and a special contribution of £5.5m (2008: £6.3m). 

No contributions were outstanding at the end of 2009 or 2008.

Defined contribution pension schemes
The Company also operates and participates in the Cobham plc Money Purchase Pension arrangements. The assets of the schemes are held 

separately from those of the Company in independently administered funds. The pension costs charged represents contributions payable by the 

Company to the funds and amounted to £0.5m (2008: £0.6m). No contributions were outstanding at the end of 2009 or 2008. 

3. Share-based payments
Equity settled share-based payment schemes
Employees of Cobham plc participate in the following incentive schemes which are operated by the Group for certain senior executives:

• The Cobham Performance Share Plan (PSP); 

• The Cobham Executive Share Option Scheme (ESOS); and

• The Cobham Bonus Co-investment Plan (BCP).

A number of awards were made under the Cobham Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) in 2006 and the final award under this scheme has vested  

during 2009. 

Employees also participate in the Cobham Savings Related Share Option Scheme (ShareSave) operated by the Group which is open to all employees 

of participating subsidiaries. 

The Company recognised total expenses of £4.0m (2008: £2.8m) related to equity settled share-based payment transactions during the year 

(including national insurance). As shown in note 4, investments in Group undertakings have been increased to reflect the value of options granted  

to employees of the Company’s subsidiaries. 

Notes to the parent company financial statements
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Notes to the parent company financial statements continued

Further details of these schemes can be found in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 43 and 44 and in the Group financial statements on 

pages 73 to 78.

Details of the awards held by the Company’s employees are as follows:

Number of share options LTIP PSP BCP ESOS ShareSave

At 1 January 2008 1,764,187 872,033 – 4,959,475 294,956 

Awards granted – 1,115,527 415,764 1,466,958 55,185 

Awards forfeited (61,886) (21,907) – (56,687) (15,975)

Exercised – – – (661,250) (36,200)

Expired (1,012,630) – – – – 

Employees transferred from other Group companies 134,552 79,335 – 492,280 – 

At 1 January 2009 824,223 2,044,988 415,764 6,200,776 297,966 
Awards granted – 1,784,388 373,706 2,058,505 84,057 
Awards forfeited – – – – (5,419)
Exercised (762,411) – – (427,321) (61,327)
Expired – – – (35,175) (4,504)
Employees transferred to other Group companies (61,812) (153,309) – (500,818) – 

At 31 December 2009 – 3,676,067 789,470 7,295,967 310,773 

Exercisable at 31 December 2009 – – – 2,553,862 8,400 
Exercisable at 31 December 2008 – – – 1,946,975 6,748 

The weighted average remaining contractual life in years of awards is as follows:

Outstanding at 31 December 2009 – 1.57 1.47 7.41 2.29
Outstanding at 31 December 2008 0.31 1.85 2.23 7.62 2.27

The number of BCP awards shown in the table above reflects matching shares granted against the net bonus invested. The rules of the scheme allow 

for a matched award based on the gross amount of the bonus, dependent upon satisfaction of the performance conditions. The exact amount of 

the entitlement will be ascertained upon vesting of the awards. 

Under the ESOS and ShareSave schemes, exercises were made at various times throughout the year. The average share price in that period was 

£2.002 (2008: £1.987).

All awards under the PSP, BCP and LTIP schemes have a nil exercise price. The weighted average exercise prices of awards under the ESOS and 

ShareSave schemes are as follows:

£ ESOS ShareSave

At 1 January 2008 1.663 1.292 

Awards granted 2.015 1.730 

Awards forfeited 1.616 1.237 

Exercised 1.317 0.924 

Employees transferred from other Group companies 1.559 – 

At 1 January 2009 1.786 1.420 
Awards granted 1.851 1.690 
Awards forfeited – 1.650 
Exercised 1.511 1.074 
Expired 2.045 1.489 
Employees transferred to other Group companies 1.858 – 

At 31 December 2009 1.815 1.405 

Exercisable as at 31 December 2009 1.560 1.264 
Exercisable as at 31 December 2008 1.370 1.418
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The range of exercise prices for ESOS and ShareSave awards are as follows:

£ ESOS ShareSave

Outstanding at 31 December 2009

Lowest exercise price 1.346 0.840
Highest exercise price 2.045 1.730

Outstanding at 31 December 2008

Lowest exercise price 1.346 0.840

Highest exercise price 2.045 1.730

The fair values of awards granted during the year, together with effective dates of grant (commencement date for ShareSave awards), were  

as follows:

£ PSP BCP ESOS ShareSave

Effective date of grant 11 March 29 May 11 March 1 February

Fair value at date of grant 1.434 1.780 0.405 0.352

Effective date of grant 7 July 11 August 9 July – 

Fair value at date of grant (average for ESOS) 1.341 1.911 0.333 – 

Effective date of grant 17 August – 17 August – 

Fair value at date of grant 1.590 – 0.461 – 

Details, including methods and assumptions used in the calculation of fair values, of the awards granted during the current and comparative year  

are as shown in note 11 to the Group financial statements. 

Cash settled share-based payment schemes
One employee of the Company participated in the Group’s share appreciation rights (SAR) plan in 2006. At 31 December 2008, 16,867 SARs were 

outstanding and, during 2009 these SARs lapsed. No expense has been recorded during 2009 for these rights (2008: less than £500) and there is  

no remaining liability on the Company’s balance sheet (2008: £6,000).

Further details including methods and assumptions used in the calculation of fair value of the SARs can be found in note 11 to the Group  

financial statements.

4. Investments in Group and other undertakings

£m Shares Options Total

At 1 January 2009 760.8 12.8 773.6
Additions in the year 3.9 – 3.9
Options granted to employees of subsidiary undertakings – 3.0 3.0

At 31 December 2009 764.7 15.8 780.5

During 2008, the Company subscribed for minority shareholdings in three companies in connection with the Future Strategic Tanker Aircraft project. 

The total amount invested to date is £44,000 and this is held as a trade investment. The Company has committed to making further investments as 

detailed in note 15.

A list of significant subsidiaries is provided in note 37 to the Group financial statements. The market capitalisation of the Group as a whole is given  

in the Group financial record on page 105.
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Notes to the parent company financial statements continued

5. Intangible assets

£m Software

Cost 

At 1 January and 31 December 2009 0.7

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2009 0.2
Charge for the year 0.1

At 31 December 2009 0.3

Net book amount

At 31 December 2009 0.4
At 31 December 2008 0.5

6. Tangible fixed assets

£m Plant and machinery

Cost 
At 1 January 2009 0.7
Additions 0.2

At 31 December 2009 0.9

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2009 0.4
Charge for the year 0.1

At 31 December 2009 0.5

Net book amount

At 31 December 2009 0.4
At 31 December 2008 0.3

7. Debtors

£m Note 2009 2008

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 1,047.2 1,237.2

Prepayments and accrued income 3.1 1.5

Deferred tax 11 15.7 16.0

1,066.0 1,254.7

Interest is charged on amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings at rates varying between 6% and 9%. These amounts are unsecured and are 

repayable on demand. 



Cobham plc   |   Annual Report and Accounts 2009

|  G
ro

up fin
an

cial statem
en

ts 

115

8. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

£m Note 2009 2008

Bank overdrafts 255.1 249.0

Bank loans repayable on demand 393.0 772.5

Senior notes – 38.7

Total borrowings 648.1 1,060.2

Trade creditors 1.6 3.7

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 104.8 109.8

Derivative financial instruments 12 10.4 44.5

Payroll and other taxes, including social security 2.1 0.7

Corporation tax payable 34.0 1.5

Accruals and deferred income 23.2 10.8

824.2 1,231.2

Details of the Company’s principal borrowing facilities are disclosed in note 24 to the Group financial statements. 

Senior notes comprise the following: 

Issue date
Principal

US$ (million) Coupon Maturity date

October 2002 170.0 5.58% October 2012

March 2009 85.0 6.04% March 2014

March 2009 90.0 6.61% March 2016

March 2009 175.0 7.01% March 2019

None of the various loan and note subscription agreements contain any provisions for charges over the Company’s assets, but do include both 

financial and non-financial covenants. The terms of the financial covenants are based on adjusted IFRS results. There have been no breaches of  

the terms of agreements or defaults during the current or comparative periods.

All bank overdrafts are repayable on demand.

Interest is payable on amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings at rates varying between 5% and 8%. These amounts are unsecured and are 

repayable on demand.

9. Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

£m Note 2009 2008

Bank loans 46.4 –

Senior notes 325.1 122.9

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 407.0 407.0

Derivative financial instruments 12 26.7 67.0

805.2 596.9

Senior notes mature as shown in note 8 and the amounts falling due after more than one year are repayable as follows:

£m 2009 2008

Between two and five years 161.0 122.9

After five years 164.1 –

325.1 122.9
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Notes to the parent company financial statements continued

10. Provisions for liabilities and charges

£m
Deferred tax 

liabilities (Note 11) Other provisions Total

At 1 January 2009 0.1 12.6 12.7
Charge/(credit) to profit and loss account 0.7 (3.0) (2.3)

At 31 December 2009 0.8 9.6 10.4

Other provisions relate to warranties given on the disposal of the Fluid and Air group in 2005 and the Future Strategic Tanker Aircraft project 

discussed in note 15. All amounts have been determined based on the Directors’ current estimates of likely outcomes and are expected to unwind 

over a period of more than one year.

11. Deferred tax

£m Note 2009 2008

Deferred tax assets 7 15.7 16.0

Deferred tax liabilities 10 (0.8) (0.1)

14.9 15.9

The net deferred tax asset can be analysed as follows: 

£m 2009 2008

Derivative financial instruments 10.6 12.3

Share-based payments 5.1 3.7

Accelerated capital allowances – (0.1)

Other timing differences (0.8) –

14.9 15.9

Movements in the net deferred tax asset are as follows:

£m Total

At 1 January 2009 15.9
Charge to reserves 0.8
Credit to profit and loss account (1.8)

At 31 December 2009 14.9

The deferred tax asset is considered recoverable on the basis that sufficient taxable profits will be available in the foreseeable future.

12. Derivative financial instruments

£m Cash flow hedge
Foreign exchange 

derivatives Total

Derivative financial instruments – fixed assets – 0.7 0.7

Derivative financial instruments – current assets – 1.0 1.0

Derivative financial instruments – due within one year (14.0) (30.5) (44.5)

Derivative financial instruments – due after more than one year (39.2) (27.8) (67.0)

Fair value at 31 December 2008 (53.2) (56.6) (109.8)

Derivative financial instruments – fixed assets – 2.3 2.3
Derivative financial instruments – current assets – 7.2 7.2
Derivative financial instruments – due within one year (6.7) (3.7) (10.4)
Derivative financial instruments – due after more than one year (10.6) (16.1) (26.7)

Fair value at 31 December 2009 (17.3) (10.3) (27.6)
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13. Share capital

£m 2009 2008

Authorised
Equity:

1,479,200,000 (2008: 1,479,200,000) Ordinary Shares of par value 2.5p 37.0 37.0

Non equity:

20,000 (2008: 20,000) 6% second cumulative Preference Shares of £1 – –

Allotted, issued and fully paid
Equity:

1,146,334,157 (2008: 1,140,042,652) 2.5p Ordinary Shares 28.7 28.5

Non equity:

19,700 (2008: 19,700) 6% second cumulative Preference Shares of £1 – –

The Company has one class of Ordinary Shares which carry no right to fixed income, representing 99.9% of the total issued share capital. On a show  

of hands every member holding Ordinary Shares who is present in person or by a duly authorised representative has one vote and on a poll every 

member who is present in person or by proxy has one vote for every £1 in nominal value of the shares of which the member is the holder.

The number of Ordinary Shares issued during the year in connection with share schemes were as follows:

2009 2008

ESOS 3,378,552 2,577,560

ShareSave 1,863,669 2,109,752

LTIP 1,049,284 –

Total number of shares issued 6,291,505 4,687,312

£m

Nominal value of Ordinary Shares issued 0.2 0.1

Total cash consideration received net of costs 6.8 5.2

19,700 issued 6% second cumulative Preference Shares represent 0.1% of total issued share capital. These are non-redeemable and are classified as 

borrowings with a value of £19,700.

The shareholders of the 6% second cumulative Preference Shares are entitled to receive a fixed cumulative preference dividend at the rate of 6%  

per annum in priority to the payment of dividends on the Ordinary Shares. In addition, on a return of assets on the liquidation or otherwise of the 

Company, the assets available for distribution are to be applied first in repaying to the holders of the 6% second cumulative Preference Shares the 

amounts paid up on their shares. On a show of hands, every member holding 6% second cumulative Preference Shares who is present in person  

has one vote and on a poll, every member has one vote for every £1 in nominal amount of the shares of which the member is the holder. 
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14. Reserves

Other reserves

£m
Share premium 

account Special reserve
Hedging  
reserve

Share option  
reserve

Profit and loss 
account

At 1 January 2009 103.9 43.6 (30.3) 17.2 322.6
Profit for the financial year – – – – 85.2
Dividends – – – – (58.2)
Purchase of treasury shares – – – – (0.7)
Premium on issue of shares 6.7 – – – –
Movement in fair value of hedge accounted derivatives – – 4.8 – –
Reclassification of fair values to profit and loss account – – 13.9 – –
Reclassification to profit and loss account – – 2.6 – –
Tax effect of reclassification of fair values – – (6.0) – –
Credit to reserves for the year for share-based payments – – – 5.8 –
Transfer of realised share option reserve 1.9 – – (4.8) 2.9

At 31 December 2009 112.5 43.6 (15.0) 18.2 351.8

The impact of foreign exchange to the profit for the financial year is a £0.5m gain (2008: £0.5m gain).

Reserves are wholly attributable to equity interests.

373,706 2.5p Ordinary Shares were purchased during the year in connection with the Cobham Bonus Co-investment Plan and are held in treasury. 

Distributable reserves have been reduced by £0.7m, being the consideration paid for these shares. 

The special reserve was created in 1996, with the sanction of the High Court, against which goodwill arising on subsequent acquisitions may be charged.

The share option reserve relates to provisions made in accordance with FRS 20 for shares allocated to the Company’s employees under the Group’s 

share option schemes. Where share options which gave rise to charges under FRS 20 have been exercised, the appropriate proportion of the share 

option reserve is transferred to the profit and loss account in reserves. 

15. Contingent liabilities and commitments
The Company has contingent liabilities in respect of bank and contractual performance guarantees and other matters arising in the ordinary course 

of business entered into, for, or on behalf of, certain Group undertakings.

As the conditions of the above guarantees are currently being met, no obligating event is foreseeable and therefore no contingent liability provision 

has been made at the year end. 

In 2008, Cobham plc committed, in connection with the Future Strategic Tanker Aircraft project, to invest £6.0m in the equity share capital of three 

companies and to provide additional funding of £18.1m in the form of redeemable loan notes by March 2013 at the latest. In addition, a number of 

performance guarantees and letters of credit have been provided to secure the funding of this project. As at 31 December 2009, £3.0m (2008: £6.0m) 

was provided in connection with these guarantees.

The Company had no capital commitments at 31 December 2009 (2008: £nil).

16. Related party transactions
The Directors of Cobham plc had no material transactions with the Company during the year, other than as a result of service agreements as 

disclosed in note 35 to the Group financial statements. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are disclosed in the remuneration report. 

Exemption has been taken under FRS 8 (revised) from disclosing related party transactions with wholly owned group companies. The only 

transactions with non-wholly owned subsidiaries relate to the receipt of management charges totalling £0.3m (2008: £0.3m). No amounts were 

outstanding at the current or prior year end. 

17. Events after the balance sheet date
Since the year end, US$105.0m of floating rate senior notes have been issued by the Company under a US private placement. These expire in 2018 

and interest is payable at LIBOR plus margin. Also, a US$50.0m borrowing facility has been cancelled by the Company. 

Notes to the parent company financial statements continued
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Shareholder information

Analysis of shareholders
(a) At 31 December 2009, 6,556 ordinary shareholders were on the register compared with 6,516 at 31 December 2008.

(b) Analysis of ordinary shareholders on the register at 31 December 2009:

Number of
registered

holders

Percentage
registered 

holders
%

Number of
Ordinary

Shares
held

Percentage
of Ordinary

Shares
%

Size of holding
Up to 1,000 1,732 26.42 882,745 0.08

1,001 – 10,000 3,434 52.38 12,671,173 1.11

10,001 – 50,000 787 12.00 16,464,094 1.44

50,001 – 250,000 277 4.22 33,055,478 2.87

250,001 – 1,000,000 163 2.49 89,391,353 7.80

1,000,001 and above 163 2.49 993,869,314 86.70

6,556 100.00 1,146,334,157 100.00

Source: Equiniti Limited

Registrars 
Enquiries concerning shareholdings or dividends should, in the first instance, be addressed to the Company’s registrars, Equiniti Limited, Aspect 

House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6DA (telephone: 0871 384 2163). Shareholders should promptly notify the registrars of any change 

of address or other particulars. 

The registrars provide a range of shareholders’ services online. The portfolio service provides access to information on investments including 

balance movements, indicative share prices and information on recent dividends and also enables address and mandate details to be amended 

online. For further information and practical help on transferring shares or updating your details, please visit www.shareview.co.uk. The share 

dealing service enables shares to be sold by UK shareholders by telephone, post or over the internet. For telephone sales please call 08456 037037 

between 8.30 a.m. and 4.30 p.m. For postal sales please send your completed documentation to the address above. For internet sales please visit 

www.shareview.co.uk/dealing.

Individual Savings Accounts (ISAs)
The Company has introduced corporate sponsored ISAs through The Share Centre Limited, an independent stockbroker. Further information may be 

obtained from The Share Centre Limited on +44 (0)1296 414141 or by writing to The Share Centre Limited, PO Box 2000, Aylesbury, Bucks HP21 8ZB. 

Alternatively, details can be requested via email: info@share.co.uk.

Capital gains tax
For the information of shareholders who held Cobham plc Ordinary Shares on 31 March 1982, the market value, adjusted for capitalisation and rights 

issues, of the Company’s Ordinary Shares on that date for capital gains tax purposes, unadjusted for the share sub-division of July 2005, was 86.02p.

Financial calendar
AGM  6 May 2010

Final dividend  5 July 2010

Interim results 5 August 2010

Interim dividend 10 December 2010

Registered Office
Brook Road, Wimborne, Dorset, England BH21 2BJ

Tel: +44 (0)1202 882020

Fax: +44 (0)1202 840523

Internet: www.cobham.com
Registered Number in England: 30470
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MRTT Multi Role Tanker Transport

MTS  M/A-COM Technology Solutions

OBIGGS  On Board Inert Gas Generating System

PLB Personal Locator Beacon

PSI  Price Sensitive Information

PSP  Performance Share Plan

PV  Private Venture (Company funded research 

 & development)

QDR Quadrennial Defense Review

R&D  Research and Development

RF  Radio Frequency

RNAS Royal Naval Air Station

RoW  Rest of World

SATCOM  Satellite Communication

SBU  Strategic Business Unit

SHE  Safety, Health and Environment

STOVL  Short Takeoff and Vertical Landing

TEAM  Tactical Elevated Antenna Mast 

TSR  Total Shareholder Return

UAS  Unmanned Aircraft System 

UAV  Unmanned Aerial Vehicle 

UGV  Unmanned Ground Vehicle

VIS-X  Vehicle Intercommunication System – Expanded

A&D  Aerospace & Defence

AaE Australian air Express 

AAGRM Advanced Anti-Radiation Guided Missile

AGM  Annual General Meeting

AIA  Aerospace Industry Association of America

AMRAAM  Advanced Medium-Range Air-to-Air Missile

ASD  Aerospace and Defence Industries 

 Association of Europe

BCP  Bonus Co-investment Plan

BE&CC Business Ethics and Compliance Committee

BECO Business Ethics Compliance Officer

BGAN  Broadband Global Area Network

C4ISR  Command, Control, Communications, Computers,  

 Intelligence, Surveillance And Reconnaissance

CAGR Compound Annual Growth Rate

CR&S  Corporate Responsibility and Sustainability

DoD  Department of Defense

EBITDA  Earnings Before Interest Tax Depreciation 

 and Amortisation

EPS  Earnings Per Share

ESOS  Executive Share Option Scheme

FAA  Federal Aviation Authority

FSTA  Future Strategic Tanker Aircraft

FTSE  Financial Times Stock Exchange

GAAP  Generally Accepted Accounting Practice

GPS Global Positioning System

HAL  Hindustan Aeronautics Limited

HMMWV High Mobility Multi Wheeled Vehicle

IDIQ Indefinite Delivery Indefinite Quantity

IFRIC International Financial Reporting 

 Interpretations Committee

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

JLTV Joint Light Tactical Vehicle

LAVC2 Light Armoured Vehicle Command and Control

LCM  Life Cycle Management

LTIP  Long-Term Incentive Plan

MCU Microclimate Cooling Unit

MFTS Military Flying Training Services

Glossary
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Andy Stevens 
Chief Executive Officer

www.cobham.com

Cobham’s products and services have been at the heart of sophisticated military  
and civil systems for 75 years, keeping people safe, improving communications, and 
enhancing the capability of land, marine, air and space platforms. The Group has four 
divisions employing some 12,000 people on five continents, with customers and 
partners in more than 100 countries. 

1.   Organic revenue growth is defined as revenue growth stated  

at constant translation exchange, excluding the incremental  

effect of acquisitions and disposals.

2.  Cobham’s Technology Divisions comprise Cobham Avionics  

and Surveillance, Cobham Defence Systems and Cobham  

Mission Systems.

3.   To assist with the understanding of earnings trends, the Group  

has included within its published statements trading profit and 

underlying earnings results. Trading profit and underlying earnings 

have been defined to exclude the impacts of certain acquisition 

related charges, portfolio restructuring impacts, the mark-to-market 

of currency instruments not realised in the period and impairments 

of goodwill. Acquisition related charges excluded from trading 

profit and underlying earnings include the amortisation of 

intangible assets recognised on acquisition, such as customer 

relationships, technology, software and the like, the writing off  

of the pre-acquisition profit element of inventory written up  

on acquisition and costs charged post acquisition, related to 

acquired share options. Portfolio restructuring impacts comprise 

exceptional profits arising on business divestments completed  

in prior years which have funded exceptional costs associated  

with the Group’s site integrations. Both the divestments and  

A recorded webcast of the results presentation, including slides,  

is available on www.cobhaminvestors.com 

the integration activity originate from the Group’s strategy 

announcement in September 2005. The 2005 portfolio 

restructuring is now substantially complete and restructuring  

costs arising after 2009 are to be reported as part of the underlying 

result. All underlying measures include the revenue and operational 

results of both continuing and discontinued businesses up to the 

point of sale of the operation. From 2010 transaction costs and 

changes to the initial estimate of contingent payments related to 

future acquisitions will also be excluded from trading profit and 

underlying earnings.

4.   Operating cash flow is defined as cash generated from operations 

per the consolidated cash flow statement, adjusted for cash flows 

from the purchase or disposal of fixed assets. Operating cash 

conversion is defined as operating cash flow as a percentage  

of trading profit, excluding profit from joint ventures.

5.   Throughout this document, PV (Private Venture or company 

funded Research and Development expenditure) for 2008 and the 

PV medium term target have been restated on a proforma basis  

for the impact of Cobham Analytic Solutions, formerly SPARTA and 

Argotek, where the vast majority of Research and Development is 

funded by customers. These numbers are stated on the same basis 

as the 2009 results.

Front cover image 
Deployed to Iraq as a US military reserve helicopter pilot, 
Cobham employee Larry Kamps was protected from heat 
stress by wearing one of 15,000 military issue Micro Cooling 
Unit (MCU) systems supplied by Cobham Life Support, the 
Cobham business unit in which he is employed in civilian 
life. The MCU circulates cooling liquid through a vest worn 
under the uniform and has been shown to triple the 
effective endurance of helicopter pilots on operations.

Designed and produced by Addison www.addison.co.uk
Printed by Park Communications.

The paper used in this report is produced from 50% recovered waste  
and 50% virgin fibre. The pulp is bleached using an Elemental Chlorine  
Free (ECF) process. The Forest Stewardship Council has given this paper  
its Mixed Sources accreditation, acknowledging it has been produced  
from recycled fibre, well managed forests and other controlled sources.  
The paper mill and printer are certified to the ISO14001 environmental 
management standard.

When you have finished with this report, please pass it on to other  
interested parties or remove the cover and dispose of it in your recycled  
paper waste.
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